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PROFILE OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Mr. Mohomed Bashir

Chairman

Mr. Mohomed Bashir joined the Board of Gul Ahmed
Textile Mills Limited in 1982. He is a fellow member of
Chartered Institute of Management Accountants
(CIMA), United Kingdom.

In recognition of his services he has been awarded
Sitara‐e‐Imtiaz by the President of Pakistan in 2006 and
was also conferred with Justice of Peace. On April 7,
2017 he was awarded with the Grade d’ Officier in the
National Order of Merit by the President of the French
Republic. On 19 February 2020, Mr. Bashir was
awarded the Knight of King, Northern Star Order, first
class by the King of Sweden, Mr. Carl Gustaf.

Mr. Mohomed Bashir has a very rich and extensive
experience in commerce and industry. He is currently
the Chairman of the Board of Directors of Gul Ahmed
Textile Mills Limited. He is also serving on the Boards of
the following organizations:

 Gul Ahmed Holdings (Private) Limited
 Ideas (Private) Limited.
 Habib Metropolitan Bank Limited
 GTM (Europe) Limited – UK
 Gul Ahmed International Limited (FZC) – UAE
 Habib University Foundation
 Gul Ahmed Energy Limited
 Education Fund for Sindh
 International Cotton Association Limited (ICA)
 International Textile Manufacturers Federation (ITMF)

Presently his honorary Government, Trade & Industry
and Consular positions include:
 President – International Cotton Association (ICA)

(2024-2025)
 Chairperson – Apparel, Made-Ups and Technical

Textile Council, Ministry of Commerce.
 Member – Sindh Doing Business Reform Council
 Member – National Export Development Board

(NEDB)
 Member – Pakistan China Business and Investment

Forum
 Member – Prime Minister’s Council of Business

Leaders, Government of Pakistan, Ministry of
Commerce and Textile.

 Member – Task Force on Textile Policy, Government of
Pakistan, Ministry of Commerce and Textile.

 Member – Pakistan France Business Council
 Member – Pakistan German Business Council
 Member – Pakistan Swedish Business Council

Previously, he also held the following honorary
Government and Trade & Industry positions;
 Vice President – International Cotton Association 

(ICA) (2023 – 2024)
 Honorary Consul General of Sweden – Sindh /

Baluchistan (2015 to 2023)
 Chairman – Pakistan Business Council (2014 to 2015)
 Founder/Director – Pakistan Business Council (2005

to 2022)
 President – International Textile Manufacturers

Federation (ITMF) (2010 to 2012)
 Member – Tax Reform Commission, Ministry of

Finance (2014 to 2016)
 Member – Tax Advisory Council, FBR (2014 to 2016)
 Founder/Trustee – Fellowship Fund For Pakistan

(2003 to 2013)
 Member – Advisory Committee, Federal Tax

Ombudsman, Government of Pakistan (2011 to 2014)
 Member – Economic Advisory Council, Government

of Pakistan (2001 to 2003 and 2008 to 2013)
 Member – Export Promotion Board, Government of

Pakistan (1995 to1997 and 2002 to 2007)
 Member – National Strategy on Textiles (2006 to 2007)
 Chairman – Pakistan Britain Advisory Council (2002

to 2005)
 Chairman – All Pakistan Textile, Mills Association

(1989 to 1990)
 Vice Chairman – All Pakistan Textile Mills Association

(1982 to 1985)
 Chairman – Pakistan Swiss Trade and Industry

Committee (1981 to 2000)
 Member of Governing Board – Pakistan Design

Institute (1981 to 2000)
 Member – Advisory Board of CPLC, Government of

Sindh (2010)
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PROFILE OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Mr. Zain Bashir

Vice Chairman / Executive Director

Mr. Zain Bashir has been a member of the Board since
May 1997 and currently serves as the Vice Chairman of
the Company. He is a certified director from the
Pakistan Institute of Corporate Governance (PICG). In
addition to his role in the Company, he serves on the
Board of Landhi Infrastructure Development and
Management Company, which oversees the
enhancement of infrastructure in the Landhi Industrial
Area.

He has also held several key leadership roles in
industry associations, serving as the Chairman and
President of the Landhi Association of Trade and
Industry during the periods 2009–2010, 2015–2016,
and 2018–2019. In 2012–2013, he acted as Chairman
of the Pakistan Bedwear Exporters Association.
Additionally, he has been an Executive Committee
Member of the Landhi Association of Trade and
Industry.

With extensive experience in the textile sector, he has
gained profound insights into the industry's operations
and challenges.

Mr. Mohammed Zaki Bashir

Chief Executive Officer/Executive Director

Mohammed Zaki Bashir joined Gul Ahmed Textile Mills
Limited in 2005 and became a member of the Board in
2008. He currently serves as the Chief Executive
Officer of the Company. He holds a graduate degree in
International Business from Regents Business School,
UK, and is a certified director from the Pakistan
Institute of Corporate Governance (PICG).

In addition to his academic qualifications, he plays an
active role in several industry organizations. He is a
member of the Executive Committee of the All Pakistan
Textile Mills Association (APTMA) and has been a
member of the Entrepreneurs Organization (EO) since
2014. EO is a global, peer-to-peer network of over
12,000 influential business owners, with 173 chapters
in 54 countries. He is also a member of the Pakistan
Textile Council, where he serves on the board of
directors, as well as a member of the Young Presidents
Organization (YPO) Pakistan.

He has also been appointed to the Heimtextil Advisory
Board, becoming the first Pakistani industry leader to
join the prestigious global panel.

Through his in-depth understanding of the Company
and the industry, he has significantly contributed to its
overall growth and success. In addition to his role at
Gul Ahmed, he serves on the boards of the following
companies:

• Arwen Tech International Limited (FZC) – UAE
• Gul Ahmed Power Company (Private) Limited
• Gul Ahmed International Limited (FZC) – UAE
• GTM (Europe) Limited – UK
• GTM USA Corp. – USA
• Ideas (Private) Limited
• Gul Ahmed Holdings (Private) Limited
• Sky Home USA Corp. – USA
• Pakistan Textile Council
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PROFILE OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Mr. Ziad Bashir

Non-Executive Director

Mr. Ziad Bashir has been a member of the Board since
February 1999. He holds a bachelor’s degree in
Entrepreneurial Studies from Babson College, USA,
and brings extensive experience in the textile sector.
He is also a certified director from the Pakistan
Institute of Corporate Governance (PICG).

Throughout his career, he has held several prominent
positions in industry and trade organizations. He has
served as Chairman of the Landhi Association of Trade
and Industry and is currently on the Board of Landhi
Infrastructure Development and Management
Company. Additionally, he has been the President of
the Young Presidents Organization (YPO) Pakistan and
has served on the Executive Committee of the Pakistan
Board of Investment. He is also a member of the
Central Managing Committee of the All Pakistan Textile
Mills Association (APTMA), as well as a Director on the
Board of the Pakistan Business Council. He currently
chairs the Pakistan Retail Business Council and serves
as the Honorary Consulate General of Denmark in
Pakistan. He has been acknowledged by H.E. King of
Denmark, Frederik André Henrik Christian, with the
Knight’s Cross of the Order of Dannenberg.

In addition to his industry roles, he has been actively
involved in advising on national economic policies
having served on various Prime Minister’s Economic
Advisory Committees, focusing on key areas such as
domestic commerce and information technology. With
a longstanding commitment to promoting provincial
trade and investment, he has been associated with the
Punjab Board of Investment and Trade for nearly a
decade. Furthermore, he is a member of several
Federal Board of Revenue committees, working to
enhance the efficiency of the tax system and
contribute to the overall economic development of the
country.

Furthermore, he is leading an initiative in the food &
beverage sector, introducing Ideas Café, which started
in Karachi and aims to expand to 10 more locations
nationwide over the next 2 years.

Mr. Ehsan A. Malik

Non-Executive Director

Mr. Ehsan A. Malik joined the Board of Directors of the
Company in June 2016 and serves as a member of its
Audit Committee. He is a fellow of the Institute of
Chartered Accountants of England and Wales, the
Institute of Chartered Accountants of Pakistan, and an
alumnus of both the Wharton and Harvard Business
Schools. He is also a certified director from the
Pakistan Institute of Corporate Governance (PICG) and
currently serves as the Chief Executive Officer of the
Pakistan Business Council.

From September 2006 to October 2014, he was the
Chief Executive Officer of Unilever Pakistan Limited
and a Director of Unilever Pakistan Foods Limited. Prior
to this, he was Chairman and CEO of Unilever Sri Lanka
Limited. His international appointments include
Unilever’s regional businesses across Egypt, Lebanon,
Jordan, Syria, and Sudan, as well as at Unilever’s Head
Office in the UK. Before these international
assignments, he held senior commercial and financial
positions at Unilever Pakistan.
He also serves on the boards of Abbott Laboratories
Pakistan Limited, National Foods Limited,
FrieslandCampina Engro Pakistan Limited, and
Standard Chartered Bank Pakistan Limited.
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PROFILE OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Ms. Zeeba Ansar

Independent Non-Executive Director

Ms. Zeeba Ansar joined the Board as an
independent non-executive director in April 2020.
She is also the Chairperson of the Human Resource
& Remuneration Committee of the Company.

She has over 28 years of private and corporate
banking experience. She did her Bachelors in
Economics and Statistics from the University of
Punjab and then completed her MBA in Marketing
and Finance from the Institute of Business
Administration. She is a certified director from
Pakistan Institute of Corporate Governance.

In her career as a banker she has worked with
Deutsche Bank AG as Manager Corporate Banking
Department and Faysal Bank as Senior Vice
President and Corporate Head-South. She then
joined UBL as Executive Vice President and
Regional Corporate Head-South and retained the
position for 10 years. Her most recent professional
engagement was with NIB Bank as Group Head-
Corporate and Investment Banking where she
worked till 2017.

She is serving as an independent director on the
Board of Directors of Cherat Cement Company
Limited, SAMBA Bank Limited and Lucky
Investments Limited. In addition to her directorship,
she is a Chairperson of Audit Committee and
member of Board Risk Committee of the Lucky
Investments Limited.

Mr. Kamran Y. Mirza

Independent Non-Executive Director

Mr. Kamran Y. Mirza is a Chartered Accountant, qualifying
in November 1968 from the United Kingdom. He began his
career in Pakistan as an auditor with A.F. Ferguson & Co.
before transitioning in December 1970 to Abbott
Laboratories (Pakistan) Limited, a leading multinational
pharmaceutical and healthcare company. Initially joining
as Chief Financial Officer, he became one of the youngest
Managing Directors of Abbott Pakistan in 1977, a position
he held for 29 years.
He served as Chairman of the Export Processing Zones
Authority from February 2007 to March 2009 and then
proceeded to take on the role of Chief Executive Officer of
the Pakistan Business Council (PBC), where he served
until December 2015. During his tenure he represented
PBC on the Board of Investments (“BOI”) and other
Government Bodies and Institutions.
Currently, he serves on the boards of Colgate Palmolive
(Pakistan) Limited, Askari Bank Limited, Rafhan Maize
Products Company Limited, and the Education Fund for
Sindh (EFS), where he previously held the position of
Chairman from December 2012 to October 2016.
Throughout his distinguished career, Kamran Mirza has
held several notable leadership positions. He served as
Director on the Boards of State Bank of Pakistan (SBP),
Chairman of the Pakistan Mercantile Exchange (PMEX)
and the Karachi Stock Exchange (KSE), as well as
President of the Overseas Chamber of Commerce &
Industry (OICCI) and the American Business Council
(ABC). He also chaired the Pharma Bureau, an association
of multinational pharmaceutical companies. His past
board memberships include prominent organizations
such as the Pakistan State Oil (PSO), International Steels
Limited, National Bank of Pakistan (NBP), Sarmaya-e-
Pakistan Limited, Bank Alfalah Limited, Abbott
Laboratories (Pakistan) Limited, Pakistan Textile City
Limited, Competitiveness Support Fund, Genco Holding
Company, NAVTEC and Safari Club of Pakistan Limited.
He also served as chairman of Unilever Pakistan Foods
Limited, Phillip Morris (Pakistan) Limited and Karwan-e-
Hayat.
Mr. Mirza has been actively involved in various government
and advisory roles. He chaired a task force on the
pharmaceutical industry for the Planning Commission,
served on the Federal Government's Economic Advisory
Board, and was a member of the Sindh Wildlife Board.
Additionally, he contributed to the Quality Control Board
of the Institute of Chartered Accountants of Pakistan
(ICAP) and has also lectured at the Pakistan Institute of
Corporate Governance (PICG).
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BOARD COMMITTEES

Board Audit Committee

1. Composition

• Mr. Kamran Y. Mirza Chairman and Member
• Mr. Mohomed Bashir Member
• Mr. Ehsan A. Malik Member
• Mr. Salim Ghaffar Secretary

2. Terms of Reference

The committee shall be responsible for:
• Reviewing the system of internal controls, risk

management and the audit process besides
assisting the Board in reviewing financial
statements.

• Recommending to the Board of Directors the
appointment of external auditors, determining
audit fees and settling other related matters.

• Determination of appropriate measures to
safeguard the Company’s assets.

• Review of quarterly, half-yearly and annual
financial statements of the Company, prior to
their approval by the Board of Directors.

Major judgmental areas:

• Significant adjustments resulting from the
audit;

• The going concern assumption;
• Any changes in accounting policies and

practices;
• Compliance with applicable accounting

standards;
• Compliance with listing regulations and other

statutory and regulatory requirements;
• Review of preliminary announcements of

results prior to publication;
• Facilitating the external audit and discussion

with external auditors of major observations
arising from interim and final audits and any
matter that the auditors may wish to highlight
(in the absence of management, where
necessary);

• Review of the management letter issued by
external auditors and management’s response
thereto;

• Ensuring coordination between the internal
and external auditors of the Company;

• Review of the scope and extent of internal audit
and ensuring that the internal audit function has
adequate resources and is appropriately placed
within the Company;

• Consideration of major findings of internal
investigations and management’s response
thereto;

• Ascertaining that the internal control system
including financial and operational controls,
accounting system and reporting structure are
adequate and effective;

• Review of the Company’s statements on internal
control system prior to endorsement by the Board
of Directors;

• Instituting special projects, value for money
studies or other investigations on any matter
specified by the Board of Directors, in
consultation with the Chief Executive and
considering remittance of any matter to the
external auditors or to any other external body;

• Determination of compliance with relevant
statutory requirements;

• Monitoring compliance with the best practices of
corporate governance and identification of
significant violations thereof; and

• Consideration of any other issue of matter as may
be assigned by the Board of Directors.
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BOARD COMMITTEES

Board Human Resource and Remuneration 
Committee

1. Composition

• Ms. Zeeba Ansar Chairman and Member 
• Mr. Mohomed Bashir Member 
• Mr. Zain Bashir Member 
• Mr. Salim Ghaffar Secretary

2. Terms of Reference

The committee shall be responsible for:

• Recommend to the Board for consideration and
approval a policy framework for determining
remuneration of directors (both executive and
non-executive directors and members of senior
management). The senior management shall
include the first layer of management below the
chief executive officer level;

• Undertaking annually a formal process of
evaluation of performance of the Board as a
whole and its committees either directly or by
engaging external independent consultant and if
so appointed, a statement to that effect shall be
made in the directors’ report disclosing name,
qualifications and major terms of appointment;

• Recommending human resource management
policies to the Board;

• Recommending to the Board the selection,
evaluation, development, compensation
(including retirement benefits) of Chief
Operating Officer, Chief Financial Officer,
Company Secretary and Head of Internal Audit;

• Consideration and approval on
recommendations of Chief Executive Officer on
such matters for key management positions
who report directly to Chief Executive Officer or
Chief Operating Officer; and

• Where human resource and remuneration
consultants are appointed, their credentials
shall be known by the Committee and a
statement shall be made by them as to whether
they have any other connection with the
Company.

• Ensuring that appropriate procedures exist to
assess the remuneration levels of the

• Chairman, Chief Executive Officer (CEO), Non-
Executive Directors, Executive Directors, Board
Committees and the Board of Directors as a
whole.

• Ensuring that the Company adopts, monitors
and applies appropriate remuneration policies
and procedures.

• Ensuring that reporting disclosures related to
remuneration meet the Board’s disclosures
objectives and all relevant legal requirements.

• Making recommendations to the Board on
appropriate remuneration, in relation to both
the amount and its compositions, for the
Chairman, CEO, Non-Executive Directors,
Executive Directors and Senior Executives.

• Developing and recommending to the Board
performance-based remuneration incentive
programs such as bonus schemes, long-term
incentive plans.

• Developing, maintaining and monitoring
appropriate Human Resource Policies and
Procedures.

• Developing, maintaining and monitoring
appropriate talent management programs
including succession planning, recruitment,
development, retention and termination
policies and procedures for senior
management.

• Developing remuneration related disclosure
objectives for the Company and ensuring that
publicly disclosed information meets those
objectives, all legal requirements, and is
accurate; and

• Developing and monitoring Workplace Health
and Safety metrics and initiatives to ensure a
safe working environment
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ATTENDANCE AT BOARD MEETINGS

For the Year Ended June 30, 2025

In line with the requirements of applicable laws and corporate governance practices, the following table sets
out the attendance of the Company’s Directors at meetings of the Board and its Committees during the year

Human Resource &
Remuneration Committee

Audit CommitteeBoard

AttendedRequiredAttendedRequiredAttendedRequired Name of Directors

224444Mohomed Bashir

22----44Zain Bashir  

--------44Mohammed Zaki Bashir 

--------44Ziad Bashir 

----3434Ehsan A. Malik

22----44Zeeba Ansar

----4444Kamran Y. Mirza
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CHAIRMAN’S REVIEW

It is with pride and confidence that I present the
Chairman’s Review for the year ended June 30, 2025, in
compliance with the Companies Act, 2017, and the
Listed Companies (Code of Corporate Governance)
Regulations, 2019. This review highlights our continued
commitment to transparency, governance excellence,
and delivering enduring value to our stakeholders.

This year was marked by global economic moderation,
selective demand recovery, and domestic challenges
including tight fiscal space, high debt servicing, and
persistent energy cost pressures. In this context,
Pakistan’s GDP grew by 2.68%, inflation fell to multi-
year lows, and monetary easing began in the second half
of the year—creating a cautiously optimistic outlook.

For the textile industry, currency stability and trade
facilitation improved export competitiveness, while
vertically integrated players like us maintained
operational agility and market responsiveness leading
to:

 Turnover: USD 550M+ equivalent, highest ever
despite volatile demand.

 Export Share: Strengthened position in core U.S.
and EU markets through targeted high-value
products.

 Vertical Integration Advantage: Maintained end-
to-end control from spinning to finishing, enabling
cost efficiency, quality consistency, and supply
chain resilience.

 Operational Efficiencies: Enhanced capacity
utilization and lean process initiatives offset part
of the energy cost escalation.

 Renewable Energy Investment: Commissioned
18.2 MW solar capacity to lower long-term energy
costs and reduce carbon footprint.

In the year ahead, we will focus on expanding high-value
home textiles, accelerating renewable projects to meet
over 50% of power needs by 2027 and 90% by 2030, and
investing in automation to boost efficiency and quality.
We will deepen key export relationships, target growth in
the Middle East and Asia-Pacific, and maintain strict
financial discipline to navigate currency and interest rate
volatility. In line with our strategic review, we have also
resolved to discontinue the export apparel segment to
concentrate resources on other businesses with
stronger growth potential.

The Board’s annual self-evaluation for FY2024–25
delivered satisfactory results, confirming the
effectiveness of its composition, governance, and
strategic oversight. With a balanced mix of
independent and non-executive directors, the Board
brings diverse expertise, enabling informed decision-
making and the ability to adapt to evolving market
conditions.

The review also reaffirmed the strength of our
governance framework, which upholds transparency,
ethical conduct, and adherence to best practices.
Constructive communication, collaboration, and
effective conflict resolution remain central to
fostering cohesive Board dynamics and driving the
Company’s long-term objectives.

My deepest gratitude goes to our shareholders,
employees, and partners for their consistent support
and commitment. United by our shared vision, we are
well-positioned to advance our strategy, expand our
achievements, and deliver sustainable value with
confidence and integrity.

Mohomed Bashir
Chairman
Karachi: September 29th, 2025
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ŘƍٔŅƚ͜ ŅǷہ  Űɫ͝ȶŕɧٔɥ͝ƛ͞

ء کو ختم ہونے والے مالی سال کے ليے چيئرمين کا جائزه پيش  2025جون  30يہ ميرے ليے فخر اور اعتماد کی بات ہے کہ ميں 
ء کے مطابق ہے۔  2019ريگوليشنز )کارپوريٹ گورننس کے ضابطہئ اخلاق(ء اور لِسٹڈ کمپنيز  2017کر رہا ہوں جو کمپنيز ايکٹ 

ر يہ جائزه  شفاّفيت، گورننس ميں بہترين معيار اور اپنے اسٹيک ہولڈرز کو ديرپا قدر فراہم کرنے کے ہمارے مسلسل عزم کو اجُاگ
کرتا ہے۔

يہ سال عالمی معيشت کی اعتدال پسندی، طلب ميں جزوی بحالی، اور ملکی سطح پر درپيش چيلنجز جيسے محدود مالی گنجائش، 
زياده قرضہ جاتی ادائيگياں، اور توانائی کے اخراجات کے مستقل دباؤ کے ساته نماياں رہا۔ اسِ تناظر ميں پاکستان کی جی ڈی پی 

 بڑهی، مہنگائی کئی سال کی کم ترين سطح پر آگئی، اور سال کے دوسرے نصف حصّے ميں مالياتی پاليسی ميں نرمی کا% 2.68
آغاز ہوا،جس نے ايک محتاط طور پر پرُاميد منظرنامہ پيدا کيا۔

ے ٹيکسٹائل صنعت کے ليے، کرنسی کے استحکام اور تجارتی سہولت کاری نے برآمدی مسابقت کو بہتر بنايا، جبکہ ہمارے جيس
عمودی طور پر منسلک اداروں نے عملی لچک اور مارکيٹ کی ضروريات کے مطابق ردّ عِمل برقرار رکها، جس کے نتيجے ميں 

:درج ذيل کاميابياں حاصل ہوئيں

ملين امريکی ڈالر سے زائد، جو غير مستحکم طلب کے باوجود تاريخ کا بلند ترين ہے۔ 600: ٹرن اوور .
بنيادی امريکی اور يورپی يونين کی منڈيوں ميں ہائی ويليو مصنوعات کے ذريعے مضبوط پوزيشن۔: برآمدی حصّہ .

اسپننگ سے لے کر فنشنگ تک مکمل کنٹرول برقرار رکها گيا، جس نے لاگت کی بچت، معيار ميں: عمودی انضمام کا فائده . 

تسلسل، اور سپلائی چين کی مضبوطی کو يقينی بنايا۔

صلاحيت کے زياده استعمال اورمؤثر عملی اقدامات نے توانائی کی بڑهتی لاگت کا جزوی طور پر ازالہ کيا۔: عملی مؤثريت .
ميگا واٹ سولر صلاحيت کا آغاز کيا گيا تاکہ طويل مد ّتی توانائی کے اخراجات کم 18.2: قابلِ تجديد توانائی ميں سرمايہ کاری . 

گهٹے۔) کاربن فٹ پرنٹ(ہوں اور کاربن کے اخراج کا اثر

ء تک بجلی کی  2027آئنده سال ميں، ہم اعلیٰ قدر و قيمت کے ہوم ٹيکسٹائل کی توسيع، قابلِ تجديد منصوبوں ميں تيزی لانے تاکہ
ضرورت پوری ہوسکے،اور آٹوميشن ميں سرمايہ کاری پر توجّہ مرکوز کريں گے تاکہ کارکردگی % 90ء تک  2030اور % 50

ی کے اور معيار ميں اضافہ کيا جا سکے۔ ہم کليدی برآمدی تعلقات کو مزيد گہرا کريں گے، مشرقِ وسطیٰ اور ايشيا پيسيفک ميں ترقّ 
نی مواقع حاصل کريں گے اور کرنسی و شرحِ سُود ميں اتُار چڑهاؤ کو قابو کرنے کے ليے سخت مالياتی نظم برقرار رکهيں گے۔ اپ

ن اسٹريٹجک جائزه پاليسی کے تحت، ہم نے ملبوسات کی برآمد کے شعبے کو بند کرنے کا فيصلہ بهی کيا ہے تاکہ وسائل کو ا
کاروباری عوامل پر مرکوز کيا جا سکے جن ميں زياده ترقیّ کی صلاحيت موجود ہے۔

ء کے ليے بورڈ کی سالانہ کارکردگی کے جائزے نے تسلیّ بخش نتائج پيش کيے جس سے بورڈ کی ساخت،  25-2024مالی سال  
ورڈ گورننس اور اسٹريٹجک نگرانی کی مؤثريت کی تصديق ہوئی۔ آزاد اور نان ايگزيکٹيو ڈائريکٹرز کے متوازن امتزاج کے ساته، ب

 متنوع مہارتيں فراہم کرتا ہے جو باشعور فيصلے کرنے اور بدلتے ہوئے مارکيٹ حالات سے ہم آہنگ رہنے کی صلاحيت پيدا کرتا
ہے۔

پر  اسِ جائزے نے ہمارے گورننس فريم ورک کی مضبوطی کی بهی توثيق کی، جو شفاّفيت، اخلاقی رويےّ اور بہترين طريقہئ کار
عمل پيرا ہے۔ تعميری مواصلات، تعاون، اور مؤثر تنازعہ حل کرنے کی صلاحيت بورڈ کے ہم آہنگ رجحانات کو فروغ دينے اور 

کمپنی کے طويل مد ّتی مقاصد کے حصول ميں مرکزی حيثيت رکهتے ہيں۔
ہمارے شيئر ہولڈرز، ملازمين اور پارٹنرز جن کے مسلسل تعاون اور عزم نے ہميں مضبوط بناياميرے دلی شکريے کے مستحق  

 ہيں۔ ہماری مشترکہ بصيرت کے تحت ہم اپنی حکمتِ عملی کو مزيد آگے بڑهانے، اپنی کاميابيوں کو وسعت دينے اور پائيدار قدرو
منزلت فراہم کرنے کے ليے ا عتماد اور ديانت کے ساته پوری طرح تياّر ہيں۔

محمد بشير
چيئرمين
 ء2025ستمبر  29: کراچی



Annual Report 2025 15

CEO’S MESSAGE

I am delighted to present another year of strong
performance for Gul Ahmed Textile Mills Limited,
marking a significant milestone in our journey. Despite
the challenges posed by a global slowdown, we have
once again proven our resilience and adaptability,
achieving the highest revenue in the company’s
history.

This achievement, however, came against the
backdrop of rising raw material costs, increased
energy tariffs, and adjustments to minimum wage
regulations, which have impacted our margins.
Nonetheless, our ability to navigate these headwinds
reflects the strength of our leadership, the
commitment of our team, and the strategic decisions
made in the face of adversity.

Our unwavering commitment to acting responsibly
and conscientiously has been at the heart of how we
overcame these challenges. From taking decisive
steps to safeguard the welfare of our employees to
ensuring that we continue to deliver value to our
customers and shareholders, every decision made has
been with the long-term success of the Company and
its stakeholders in mind.

Gul Ahmed continues to be a force for good in the
communities we serve. Our Corporate Social
Responsibility (CSR) efforts are focused on impactful
areas such as education, women’s empowerment,
healthcare, environmental conservation, and
community development. Our commitment to social
responsibility is further reinforced by our adherence to
the highest standards of Environmental, Social, and
Governance (ESG) practices. We firmly believe that
sustainable, long-term value can only be realized
when we remain fully aligned with these principles.

Sustainability is a cornerstone of our strategy, and we
are proud to have completed the deployment of our
18.2 MW solar power project, bringing us closer to our
goal of relying on energy needs from renewable
sources. We are also in the process of expanding our
solar capacity by an additional 10-15 MW and also in a
process to deploy up to 5 – 10 MW of wind within our
factory premises, reinforcing our commitment to a
greener, more sustainable future.

Our commitment to sustainability not only strengthens
our competitive edge in key export markets but also
ensures we uphold the highest ethical and
environmental standards. We recognize our people as
the foundation of our success and continue to foster a
culture of inclusivity, innovation, and professional
growth.

Looking ahead to FY 2026, we remain confident despite
global uncertainties, including climate change,
inflationary pressures, and geopolitical shifts. With
supportive monetary policies on the horizon, we are
ready to leverage strategic investments in capacity,
technology, and sustainability to drive long-term value.

As part of this focused strategy, we have exited the
export apparel segment to concentrate resources on
high-value home textiles, premium product lines, and
other growth opportunities. This sharper allocation of
capital and talent positions Gul Ahmed to strengthen
margins, deepen market leadership, and create
sustainable growth for all stakeholders.

Thank you for your continued trust and partnership.

Mohammed Zaki Bashir
Chief Executive Officer
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The Directors are pleased to present the financial
results of the Company for the fiscal year ended June
30, 2025.

Economic & Industrial Overview

Global Economic Landscape

At the start of FY 2025-26, the global economy is
expected to continue on a moderate growth path,
building on the gradual recovery observed over the
past two years. Global trade is projected to expand
steadily, supported by strong demand for technology,
industrial goods, and manufactured exports from
Asia, although overall growth remains below the
levels seen in the two decades prior to the pandemic.
Financial conditions are anticipated to remain broadly
stable, with easing interest rate pressures in some
advanced economies and moderate inflation
providing a supportive backdrop for investment and
trade. While supply chain disruptions have moderated
compared to previous years, continued geopolitical
tensions and sporadic logistical bottlenecks may still
create localized volatility.

Global inflation is expected to gradually ease,
averaging around 3.4–3.5% in FY 2025-26, as energy
prices stabilize and core inflationary pressures
soften. Nevertheless, risks remain from persistent
geopolitical uncertainties including ongoing conflicts
in Eastern Europe, Middle East, strained U.S. - China
relations, and protectionist trade measures which
could impact commodity prices, trade flows, and
investment patterns. Climate-related events, such as
extreme weather affecting agricultural and industrial
production, and evolving sustainability regulations in
major markets, may also affect operational and
supply chain resilience. Against this backdrop,
businesses are likely to face both challenges and
opportunities, requiring agility, robust risk
management, and strategic alignment to navigate
uncertainty while capitalizing on emerging global
trends.

Pakistan’s Economic Landscape

In FY 2025, Pakistan’s economy demonstrated clear
signs of recovery and resilience. GDP growth reached
2.68%, while inflation declined sharply from 23.4% to
4.5%, supported by a lower policy rate, exchange rate
stability, and prudent macroeconomic management.

The current account recorded its first annual surplus in
14 years and the largest in 22 years, driven by stronger
exports, robust remittances, and rising foreign
exchange reserves.

Fiscal discipline improved as the fiscal deficit was
contained at 3.7% of GDP for July–May FY 2025,
supported by substantial increases in both tax (25.9%)
and non-tax (62.7%) collections, which together drove
a 41.1% growth in net federal revenues.

During FY 2024–25, exports rose by $1.37 billion, from
$30.7 billion in the same period last year to $32.04
billion, while imports increased by $3.61 billion,
reaching $58.39 billion. Remittances from overseas
workers surged 26.6% year-on-year to $38.3 billion,
contributing to a turnaround in the current account
from a $2.07 billion deficit in FY 2024 to a $0.328 billion
surplus in FY 2025.

Industrial activity presented a mixed picture. The
cumulative Large Scale Manufacturing (LSM) output
declined by 0.74% during July–June FY 2025, following
marginal growth of 0.9% the previous year. However, 12
out of 22 sectors recorded positive growth, including
textiles, wearing apparel, coke & petroleum products,
beverages, and pharmaceuticals. The automobile
sector also exhibited strong performance during FY
2024–25, highlighting pockets of industry ial resilience
amid broader challenges.

Looking ahead, FY 2025–26 is expected to consolidate 
these gains, with moderate growth, continued easing of 
inflation, and strengthening external balances, while 
the economy navigates ongoing fiscal and global trade 
challenges.

Pakistan’s Textile Sector

In the financial year FY24-25, Pakistan’s 7.39% export
growth reflects resilience in a competitive global
environment. The shift from commodities to value-
added products aligns well with global consumption
patterns. Below is the breakup of Textile Exports
category wise:
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Change
2023-2024 

USD in 
‘000s

2024-2025 
USD in 
‘000s

Category

13.68%4,407,5735,010,467Knitwear

15.85%3,563,6474,128,556
Readymade 
garments

11.07%2,802,6703,112,848Bed wear
-3.05%1,865,9641,808,997Cotton Cloth
2.61%1,055,1091,082,611Towels

-28.76%955,510680,700Cotton Yarn

8.45%715,333775,791
Made up 
Articles

-0.23%1,290,0921,287,068Others
7.39%16,655,89817,887,038Grand Total

The sector continues to encounter significant
challenges, including volatility in raw material prices,
increasing energy costs, and intensified global
competition, which collectively exert pressure on
margins and operational efficiency. Furthermore, recent
policy changes, such as adjustments in customs duties,
transitions in the tax regime, and delays in refund
processing, may adversely affect export competitiveness
and liquidity.

Operational & Financial Performance

Despite challenges such as pricing pressures in export
markets, geopolitical instability, elevated financing costs
(which eased later in the year), and fluctuating energy
prices, the Company successfully expanded order
volumes and operated at optimal production capacity
during FY24-25. Export revenue in USD registered a
growth of 4.07%, rising from USD 368.9 million in the
SPLY to USD 383.6 million in FY25. This performance
translated into a notable increase in net sales, which
rose by 10.31% to Rs. 157.9 billion from Rs. 143.14
billion in the previous year.

However, despite this strong top-line performance,
profitability at the gross, operating, and net levels was
adversely affected by the aforementioned challenges.
The key financial metrics for the year ended June 30,
2025, are summarized below:

%20242025Description

6.45%99,403105,815Export Sales 

16.38%32,03137,279Indirect Export Sales

26.47%11,71114,811Local Sales 

10.31%143,145157,905Total Sales

10.39%17,19118,978Gross Profit

-13.42%6,5375,660Profit before tax

-14.91%4,7284,023Profit after tax

-0.75%16,43616,312EBITDA

-14.87%6.395.44Earnings per share

* All amounts are in PKR Million except for Earnings per share 
which is in Rupees per share

Sales Performance

In PKR terms, export revenue increased by 6.45%,
primarily attributable to favorable exchange rate
movements and higher export volumes in USD. Indirect
exports recorded further growth of 16.38% during FY25
as compared to the SPLY. Local sales, meanwhile,
posted a significant increase of 26.47% over the same
period. This overall growth in sales underscores the
effectiveness of the Company’s strategic initiatives,
including timely investments and an enhanced focus on
both international and domestic markets.

Costs and Financial Metrics

The company experienced a 10.3% rise in the cost of
sales, driven by multiple factors including higher raw
material prices, increased energy tariffs, and
adjustments in minimum wage regulations.

In response, the company has taken proactive steps to
manage energy costs and enhance sustainability. A 18.2
MW rooftop solar installation is already operational now.
Additionally, plans are underway to expand solar
capacity by another 10–15 MW across company-owned
sites, supported by a robust battery storage system. The
company is also exploring the deployment of Wind
Turbines within its Factory locations to diversify its
energy mix and reduce reliance on conventional gas-
based power. These strategic investments are aimed at
controlling long-term energy costs and protecting
margins amid ongoing utility price volatility.

Selling costs have risen significantly by 17.19%, primarily
driven by a 24% increase in freight expenses and a 10%
rise in salaries and wages. The prevailing geopolitical
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uncertainties have continued to disrupt global trade
flows, resulting in longer transit times, supply chain
inefficiencies, and elevated freight costs as shipping
lines are compelled to adopt alternative routes. In
contrast, administrative expenses have seen an increase
of 18% driven up by increase of 57% in travelling &
conveyance on account of increasing customer base,
91% in donations and 9% in salaries, wages and
benefits.

Despite an increase in borrowings by PKR 11.6 billion,
largely driven by higher gas prices and rising working
capital requirements due to increased sales, the
Company successfully maintained finance costs at
stable levels compared to last year as interest rates
began to normalize. Borrowings increased by 19.38%
over the SPLY, while finance costs rose by only 11.96%.
This outcome reflects the effectiveness of strategic
financial planning and optimization. A key driver of this
performance was the proactive approach in securing
EFS and FE financing at favorable rates. By leveraging
these lower-cost financing facilities and maintaining
prudent debt management, the Company was able to
mitigate the impact of higher borrowings and keep
overall finance costs relatively contained.

Segmental Review of Business Performance

The Company operates across multiple business
segments; however, only the key segments of material
significance are highlighted below:

1. Spinning

Gul Ahmed operates a state-of-the-art spinning plant,
which is central to both our revenue growth and
profitability. This segment is critical in supplying high-
quality yarn to domestic textile manufacturers while also
serving the Company’s internal production needs.
Leveraging advanced technology and a strategic
operational approach, our spinning plant enables us to
remain competitive, responsive to market demands, and
reinforces our leadership position within the textile
sector.
In FY25, the Spinning Division recorded a decline in net
sales of approximately 10.34% compared to the SPLY,
mainly due to lower intersegment sales to the Home
Textile division. At the same time, cost of sales
increased on account of higher minimum wages, power
and fuel costs, and other overheads. As a result, gross
margins contracted to 10.80% as compared to 11.67%
SPLY, reflecting the impact of cost pressures on overall
profitability. The decline in sales, coupled with rising

cost pressures, has impacted margins; however,
management remains committed to mitigating these
challenges through ongoing efficiency initiatives and
operational discipline.
These measures are particularly vital in the current
challenging business environment, as effective cost
management and operational improvements are
essential to ensuring the segment’s long-term
sustainability.
An overview of the Company’s performance across its
business segments is provided in the operating segment
results within the attached financial statements; for
more details, please refer to Note # 35.

2. Home Textile

The Home Textile segment continues to be the
cornerstone of the Company’s operations, contributing
85% of total export volume through the manufacture and
export of a wide range of value-added textile products.
During FY25, the segment recorded a notable increase in
total net sales in PKR terms, rising by approximately
11.4% compared to the SPLY. The segment delivered a
robust 12.6% increase in exports in USD terms
compared to the SPLY. This growth reflects strong
revenue generation and an expanding market footprint
despite prevailing geopolitical challenges. While the cost
of sales increased due to higher minimum wages and
rising power and fuel costs, gross profit margins
improved from 7.25% to 9.59%, underscoring the
Company’s ability to enhance profitability in a
challenging environment.
The improvement in margins is primarily attributable to
enhanced operational efficiency, strengthened process
management, and effective cost controls. Furthermore,
improved procurement policies and timely decision-
making contributed significantly to maximizing
production efficiency and achieving cost savings.
Selling and distribution expenses increased by
approximately 19.98%, largely in line with higher sales
volumes and a rise in freight costs, the latter being driven
by geopolitical uncertainties.
An overview of the Company’s performance across its
business segments is provided in the operating segment
results within the attached financial statements; for
more details, please refer to Note # 35.

Management Objectives and Strategies
Gul Ahmed continues to stand as a leading and trusted
name in Pakistan’s textile sector. Over the past year, we
have advanced our commitment to sustainability and
innovation while strengthening our technological
capabilities to stay competitive in a dynamic global
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market. Our focus on operational efficiency and product
excellence has not only helped us navigate economic
challenges but also reinforced long-term value creation
for our stakeholders. By aligning customer-centric
innovation with financial resilience, we remain
dedicated to delivering quality, trust, and sustainable
growth.

Principal Risk and Uncertainties

In today’s dynamic environment, businesses face a wide
spectrum of risks and uncertainties that, if not
effectively managed, could significantly impact
performance and long-term sustainability. The Company
has established a robust framework for identifying,
evaluating, and mitigating such risks. The principal risks
currently under focus include:

• Credit Risk – exposure to defaults on receivables,
particularly from local sales.

• Market & Input Risks – volatility in cotton and yarn
prices, imposition of customs duties on raw material
imports, rising utility tariffs, and fluctuating markup
rates that exert pressure on margins.

• Technological Risk – rapid global advancements in
textile manufacturing and automation require
continuous adaptation to maintain competitiveness.

• Regulatory & Fiscal Risk – new duties and taxes on
existing taxpayers increase cost pressures; the
transition from Final Tax Regime (FTR) to Normal Tax
Regime (NTR) reduces exporters’ competitiveness;
while the withdrawal of EFS zero-rating on local
supplies and imposition of 18% GST create liquidity
constraints through delayed refunds.

• Energy Risk – declining domestic gas reserves and
dependence on imported fuel-based thermal
generation expose operations to price volatility from
global energy markets and PKR depreciation.

• Climate & ESG Risks – rising climate variability,
including floods, droughts, and heatwaves, threatens
cotton availability and operational continuity. At the
same time, heightened global demand for
compliance with sustainability, labor, and
traceability standards requires investment and
adaptation, with potential market access risks if
standards are not met.

• Supply Chain Disruption Risk – global uncertainties,
including geopolitical tensions, shipping bottlenecks,
and currency fluctuations, may affect the timely
availability and cost of raw materials, logistics, and
export deliveries, impacting reliability of supply to
international buyers.

While risk management has always been integral to our
operations, the evolving expectations of markets,
regulators, customers, employees, and shareholders
have elevated it into a key driver of business strategy.

Policies and Procedures

The Company has established a robust framework of 
policies and procedures that underpin effective 
governance, regulatory compliance, and operational 
efficiency. These policies span all critical areas of our 
business, including financial management, risk control, 
and ethical conduct. To remain aligned with evolving 
regulations, industry standards, and global best 
practices, we review and update these policies on a 
regular basis, ensuring that our governance framework 
remains both current and resilient.

Information and Monitoring System

The Company has invested in advanced information 
systems to ensure the timely and accurate flow of 
information across all operations. These systems 
provide management with real-time insights to monitor 
performance, track variances, and maintain effective 
oversight. By embedding digital tools, automation, and 
data analytics into our processes, we are fostering a 
data-driven culture that enhances decision-making and 
strengthens organizational agility. This commitment to 
digital transformation enables us to anticipate 
challenges, seize opportunities, and respond swiftly to 
changes in the business environment.

Internal Audit

The Company has outsourced its internal audit function 
to an independent external firm, ensuring an objective 
and unbiased evaluation of our control environment. 
Reporting directly to the Audit Committee, the firm 
provides expert assessments on the effectiveness of 
internal controls and recommends improvements where 
needed. The Audit Committee regularly reviews these 
comprehensive reports, enabling timely actions that 
strengthen governance, enhance operational 
effectiveness, and reinforce stakeholder confidence.

Adequacy of Internal Financial Control

The Board of Directors has instituted a comprehensive
system of internal financial controls designed to ensure
the efficient and secure operation of the Company.
These controls cover key areas such as fraud
prevention, asset safeguarding, legal and regulatory
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compliance, accurate financial reporting, and the timely
provision of reliable information. To maintain their
effectiveness, the controls are subject to regular review
and enhancement in line with evolving laws, regulations,
and best practices. This reflects our ongoing commitment
to strong financial governance, transparency, and
accountability.

Human Resource (HR)

The Company places strong emphasis on effective human
resource management as a driver of organizational
success and sustained competitiveness. Our HR policies
are structured to attract, develop, and retain skilled
professionals while ensuring full compliance with
employment laws and regulations. Core elements of our
strategy include performance management, employee
development, and market-aligned compensation, all of
which enable us to nurture talent and strengthen
engagement.
Beyond meeting current talent needs, we are committed to
developing the next generation of professionals. As a
registered Training Organization under the ICAP CA
Trainees Program, we offer article ship opportunities to
aspiring Chartered Accountants, equipping them with the
knowledge and experience to excel in their careers. This
initiative reflects our long-term vision of building a strong
talent pipeline that will contribute to the continued
success and growth of the Company and the broader
industry.

Information Technology (IT)

The Company has implemented a comprehensive IT
management framework to ensure that its systems remain
reliable, secure, and aligned with business needs. This
framework encompasses regular upgrades and
maintenance of hardware and software, integrating the
latest technological advancements to optimize
performance and strengthen resilience. In parallel, we
invest in continuous training and development of our IT
teams, equipping them with the skills required to address
emerging challenges and support the Company’s digital
transformation journey.

IT Governance Policy

Our IT governance framework plays a vital role in
safeguarding information assets, preventing unauthorized
access, and mitigating cybersecurity risks. It also provides
a structured mechanism for the ongoing monitoring and
enhancement of security measures. The policy sets clear

guidelines for the creation, storage, use, archiving,
and disposal of information across the organization,
ensuring data integrity and compliance with best
practices.
Acknowledging the critical role of technology in driving
business success and meeting the evolving needs of
our users, we continuously review and upgrade our
management information systems. These systems are
designed to:
• Monitor and enhance organizational performance.
• Provide real-time, reliable data to support strategic

decision-making.
• Assess and demonstrate departmental

effectiveness.
• Establish robust checks and balances to safeguard

assets and ensure accountability.
Through this governance framework and our sustained
investment in technology, we are committed to
maintaining a secure, efficient, and future-ready
information environment that underpins our business
objectives and strengthens long-term resilience.

Business Continuity Plan (BCP)

The Company has established a comprehensive
Business Continuity Plan (BCP) to safeguard the
resilience and sustainability of its operations against
unexpected disruptions. The plan sets out clear
strategies for sustaining essential business functions
during adverse events such as natural disasters,
supply chain disruptions, or other emergencies. It
incorporates structured procedures for risk
assessment, crisis management, and recovery,
ensuring that critical operations can be maintained
with minimal interruption. To strengthen
preparedness, regular drills, simulations, and reviews
are conducted, allowing us to continuously test,
refine, and enhance the effectiveness of the BCP. This
proactive approach enables the Company to respond
swiftly, protect stakeholders’ interests, and ensure
long-term operational stability.

Safety of Records

To ensure the safety, integrity, and accessibility of its
records, the Company has outsourced record-keeping
to specialized third-party service providers. This
approach enables secure storage and efficient
retrieval of critical documents while ensuring
compliance with best practices. Primary data is
safeguarded through remote backup sites, ensuring
continuity and availability in the event of a disaster or
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system failure. In addition, the use of Oracle Cloud
provides advanced security protocols, scalability, and
robust protection against data loss or unauthorized
access. Through these measures, the Company upholds
the reliability of its information assets and supports
seamless, uninterrupted business operations.

Environment and Social Governance

As one of the country’s leading exporters, the Company
places the highest priority on safeguarding the health and
safety of its workforce and stakeholders. A dedicated ESG
(Environmental, Social, and Governance) compliance
team has been established to drive and oversee our
initiatives in these critical areas, reflecting management’s
strong commitment to sustainable and responsible
business practices.
Our facilities are fully aligned with environmental and
safety standards, with proactive measures in place to
eliminate the release of hazardous substances and
minimize environmental impact. This commitment not
only reinforces our responsibility toward the environment
but also demonstrates our dedication to the well-being of
the communities in which we operate. Through our
integrated ESG strategy, we remain focused on
embedding sustainability, ethics, and accountability
across all aspects of our operations.

Gender Pay Gap

Our company is committed to fostering an inclusive and
equitable workplace where every employee is valued,
respected, and empowered to succeed. As an equal
opportunity employer, we ensure that all employment
decisions including recruitment, hiring, training,
promotion, and compensation are based solely on merit
and qualifications, without discrimination on the basis of
race, color, religion, gender, age, disability, or any other
characteristic protected by law.
We believe that diversity fuels innovation and strengthens
our overall performance. Accordingly, we are dedicated to
maintaining a workplace where all employees have equal
opportunities to grow, thrive, and contribute to our shared
success.
For the reporting period, the mean pay gap shows that
male employees earn on average 0.54% more than female
employees, compared to -0.07% in 2024. In contrast, the
median pay gap indicates that female employees earn
14.33% more than their male colleagues, broadly
consistent with 14.51% in 2024. These results
demonstrate stability across reporting periods and
reaffirm the Company’s commitment to maintaining

gender equity. We remain mindful, however, that pay
equity is a continuous journey and are committed to
further strengthening our practices in this area.

Holding Company

The Company remains a subsidiary of Gul Ahmed
Holdings (Private) Limited, which holds 55.86% of its
shares.

Subsidiary Companies

The Company has both direct and indirect wholly owned
subsidiaries, as disclosed in Note 1 of the audited
financial statements.

Code of Corporate Governance (CCG)

The management of the Company is committed to
implementing good corporate governance and complying
with best practices. As required under the Code of
Corporate Governance, the Directors are pleased to state
as follows:
i. The financial statements prepared by the

management of the Company present fairly its state
of affairs, the result of its operations, cash flows, and
changes in equity.

ii. Proper books of accounts of the Company have been
maintained.

iii. Appropriate accounting policies have been
consistently applied in the preparation of financial
statements, and accounting estimates are based on
reasonable and prudent judgment.

iv. International Financial Reporting Standards, as
applicable in Pakistan, have been followed in the
preparation of financial statements.

v. The system of internal control is sound in design and
has been effectively implemented and monitored.

vi. The directors of the Board are well aware of their
duties and responsibilities as outlined by corporate
laws and listing regulations. In compliance with the
provisions of the Listing Regulations, six of our
directors have attended and completed the
Corporate Governance Leadership Skills program
under the Board Development Series of Pakistan
Institute of Corporate Governance (PICG).

vii. One director, i.e., the Chairman, with the
compulsory knowledge and experience is exempt
from the requirement of attending the directors’
training program.

viii. There are no significant doubts about the Company's
ability to continue as a going concern.
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ix. There has been no material departure from the
best practices of corporate governance, as
detailed in the listing regulations.

x. The value of investment of provident fund based
on its unaudited accounts as on June 30, 2025 is
Rs. 3.3 billion (FY2024: as per audited accounts
Rs. 2.6 billion)

xi. Statements regarding the following are annexed in
the notes to the financial statements:

• Number of Board meetings held and
attendance by directors.

• Key financial data for the last six years.
• Pattern of shareholding.

The trading and holding of Company’s shares by the
Directors & their Spouses or Executives, along with the
price, the number of shares and nature of the
transaction, were notified by the Company Secretary to
the Board, SECP & PSX, within the stipulated time. All
such holdings have been disclosed in the enclosed
Pattern of Shareholding.

Investors’ Grievance and complaints

The Company is committed to transparency and
ensures equal access to information for all
shareholders, including prospective investors.
Shareholders are encouraged to seek information
regarding the Company’s operations, their investments,
dividend entitlements, and regulatory disclosures
issued by the Company. We prioritize timely and
comprehensive responses to such requests, in full
compliance with statutory requirements.
Investor grievances are managed through a centralized
and structured mechanism designed to address
queries and concerns promptly. This approach not only
ensures effective resolution but also reinforces
shareholder confidence and strengthens transparency
in our engagement with investors.

Composition of the Board

The Board of Directors as at June 30, 2025 is as follows:
Total number of directors
• Male 06
• Female 01

The composition of the Board is as follows:

a. Independent Directors (2)
• Ms. Zeeba Ansar
• Mr. Kamran Y. Mirza

b. Executive Directors (2)
• Mr. Mohammed Zaki Bashir
• Mr. Zain Bashir

c) Non-Executive Directors (3)
• Mr. Mohomed Bashir
• Mr. Ziad Bashir
• Mr. Ehsan A. Malik

d) Female Non-Executive Directors (none)

Committees of the Board
• Audit Committee

Mr. Kamran Y. Mirza – Chairman
Mr. Mohomed Bashir - Member
Mr. Ehsan A Malik – Member

• Human Resource and Remuneration Committee
Ms. Zeeba Ansari – Chairman
Mr. Mohomed Bashir - Member
Mr. Zain Bashir – Member

Remuneration Policy of Non-Executive Directors

The Company has established a structured
remuneration policy for its Non-Executive and
Independent Directors, designed to ensure fairness,
transparency, and alignment with best governance
practices. The key principles of the policy are as
follows:
Remuneration is market-competitive and reflects the
Director’s experience, expertise, and contribution.
Independent Directors do not receive any fixed salary;
they are compensated solely through meeting fees for
attending Board and Committee meetings.
Meeting fees for all Directors are recommended by the
Human Resource and Remuneration Committee
(HR&RC) and approved by the Board. For Independent
Directors, such fees are strictly linked to their actual
attendance.
Directors are entitled to reimbursement of travel,
accommodation, and other reasonable expenses
incurred while attending Board, Committee, or General
Meetings.
In cases where Directors are required to perform
assignments beyond their statutory responsibilities,
they may be granted additional remuneration as
determined and approved by the Board.
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Director’s Training

The Directors of the Company are suitably qualified and
adequately trained to discharge their duties, with a clear
understanding of their powers and responsibilities under
the Companies Act, 2017, and the Regulations of the
Pakistan Stock Exchange Rule Book.

Boards Evaluation

In compliance with the Code of Corporate Governance,
2017, the Board has approved a structured mechanism
for evaluating its performance. This mechanism includes
a comprehensive questionnaire covering the Board’s
scope, objectives, functions, as well as the Company’s
overall performance and monitoring practices. Inputs
from each Director are incorporated into the process,
enabling the Board to evaluate its effectiveness
collectively and identify areas for continuous
improvement.

Conflict of Interests

Each Director actively exercises the right to participate in
Board proceedings, with decisions reached through
consensus. Any concerns raised by Board members on
specific agenda items are duly documented in the
meeting minutes, ensuring transparency and
accountability.
In addition, the Company has adopted a Code of Business
Ethics, which not only ensures compliance with regulatory
requirements but also requires Directors to formally
disclose any interests that could give rise to actual or
perceived conflicts of interest. This reinforces the Board’s
commitment to ethical governance and responsible
decision-making.

Review of Related Party Transactions

In line with the Companies Act, 2017, the Code of
Corporate Governance (CCG), and other applicable laws
and regulations, all related party transactions are
comprehensively reviewed and presented to the Audit
Committee on a regular basis. Based on the Committee’s
recommendations, these transactions are subsequently
considered and approved by the Board. Furthermore, any
transactions in which a majority of Directors have an
interest are presented annually to the shareholders for
approval, ensuring full transparency and strict
compliance with governance requirements.
This structured process safeguards shareholder value by
ensuring that all related party transactions are conducted
at arm’s length, on fair commercial terms, and in the best
interest of the Company and its stakeholders.

CEO’s Performance Review

Each year, the Board establishes a set of objectives and
strategies aligned with the Company’s mission. Progress
against these milestones is systematically measured to
assess performance and evaluate their contribution to
the Company’s growth. The review covers multiple
dimensions, including alignment with the mission,
achievement of short- and long-term goals,
sustainability of profitability, enhancement of
shareholder value, and adherence to sound governance
and statutory reporting practices. The Board also
provides constructive feedback to further strengthen
and support the CEO’s role in leading the organization.

This structured process reinforces accountability,
ensuring that management remains answerable to both
shareholders and stakeholders while driving sustainable
growth and long-term value creation.

Role of Chairman And CEO

The Chairman serves as the custodian of the Company
on behalf of the Board and stakeholders, leading the
Board of Directors to ensure its efficiency and
effectiveness. The Chairman is committed to fostering
the Company’s sustainable growth, protecting its
reputation and that of its subsidiaries, and maintaining a
balanced Board composition that reflects diverse
expertise in business operations, economic insight, and
strategic acumen.

The CEO, in turn, holds primary responsibility for driving
the Company toward its vision, mission, and long-term
objectives. Acting as the key link between the Board and
management, the CEO oversees day-to-day operations
while executing long-term strategies, plans, and budgets
aimed at enhancing shareholder value. In addition to
representing the Company before shareholders,
regulators, government authorities, and the public, the
CEO plays a central role in inspiring employees, leading
organizational change, and making critical decisions
that support the achievement of targeted goals.

Pattern of Shareholding

The pattern of shareholding, along with additional
information as of June 30, 2025, is disclosed in the
Annual Report of the Company. As of June 30, 2025,
associated companies and public sector entities
collectively hold 69.4%, banks, insurance companies,
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and mutual funds hold 14.7%, Directors hold 7.4%, while
individual shareholders account for 8.5% of the total
shareholding.

Auditors

The present External Auditors, M/s. Yousuf Adil & Co.,
Chartered Accountants, have completed the statutory
audit for the year ended June 30, 2025, and issued an
unqualified (clean) audit report. They will retire at the
conclusion of the forthcoming Annual General Meeting
and, being eligible, have offered themselves for
reappointment. Based on the recommendation of the
Audit Committee, the Board proposes their
reappointment as the Company’s auditors for the
financial year ending June 30, 2026.

Future Economic Outlook

Global trade is projected to remain subdued in FY 2025-
26, with the WTO expecting a 0.2% contraction in
merchandise trade volumes before a modest rebound in
2026. Heightened trade tensions, maritime disruptions,
and geopolitical uncertainties continue to weigh on the
outlook, while inflation worldwide is on a declining path,
offering some relief in input costs.
Pakistan enters FY 2025-26 with improved
macroeconomic stability achieved in the prior year, as
GDP grew by 2.7%, inflation declined to 4.6%, and the
policy rate was eased significantly, lowering financing
costs. Fiscal consolidation has also reduced the debt-to-
GDP ratio, reflecting stronger management and creating a
foundation for recovery.
Nevertheless, challenges remain for the export-oriented
textile sector, including high energy costs, volatile cotton
prices, import duties on raw materials, and delayed tax
refunds under the revised regime, all of which pressure
margins and liquidity. Climate vulnerabilities and global
trade weakness add to risks. Looking ahead, FY 2025-26 is
expected to be a year of consolidation, supported by
stable inflation, accommodative monetary policy, and
structural reforms, with progress dependent on
consistent execution to strengthen competitiveness and
resilience.

Subsequent Events

The Board of Directors of Gul Ahmed Textile Mills Limited,
in its meeting held on September 29, 2025, has resolved
to discontinue the business operations of the Company’s
Export Apparel Segment. This decision has been taken
following a comprehensive strategic review of the
segment’s performance and future outlook.

Other than the above, no material changes and
commitments affecting the financial position of the
company have occurred between the end of the
financial year and the date of this report.
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Financial Highlights

202020212022202320242025Profit & Loss

53,941 78,774 100,257 111,968 143,146 157,905 Rs. MillionSales

9,069 12,869 17,368 16,695 17,191 18,978 Rs. MillionGross profit

1,932 7,506 13,138 11,297 11,964 11,736 Rs. MillionEarnings before interest and tax

(76)5,562 10,469 5,949 6,537 5,660 Rs. Million
Profit / (loss) before final tax and 
income tax

(479)4,425 8,862 3,986 4,728 4,023 Rs. MillionProfit / (loss) after tax

891 891 428 ---Rs. MillionCash dividend

-713 -1,233 --Rs. MillionBonus share

Balance Sheet

23,936 38,351 45,842 50,122 50,024 50,895 Rs. MillionProperty, plant and equipment

90 78 52 38 45 45 Rs. MillionIntangible

2,861 3,747 3,816 3,792 3,755 3,769 Rs. Million
Long term investment, loans, 
advances and deposits

606 5,539 9,495 6,903 6,119 10,803 Rs. MillionNet current assets

27,493 47,715 59,205 60,855 59,942 65,512 Rs. MillionTotal assets employed

Represented by

4,278 5,312 6,167 7,401 7,401 7,401 Rs. MillionShare capital

9,685 21,952 29,966 32,671 37,353 41,452 Rs. MillionReserves

13,963 27,264 36,133 40,072 44,754 48,853 Rs. MillionShareholders' equity

13,446 18,571 20,551 20,117 14,592 16,142 Rs. MillionLong term loans

172 1,880 1,774 689 599 517 Rs. Million
Deferred and other long-term 
liabilities

27,581 47,715 58,458 60,878 59,945 65,512 Rs. MillionTotal capital employed

Cash Flow Statement

160 (20)(1,635)16,269 (2,449)(6,362)Rs. MillionOperating activities

(4,899)(8,806)(9,867)(7,931)(3,889)(5,416)Rs. MillionInvesting activities

875 2,298 6,837 (9,405)2,984 14,232 Rs. MillionFinancing activities

(18,470)(24,998)(28,852)(1,412)(4,766)(2,312)Rs. Million
Cash and cash equivalents at the 
end of the year*
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Financial Ratios

202020212022202320242025

Profitability ratios
16.81 16.34 17.32 14.91 12.01 12.02 PercentGross profit ratio
11.09 6.27 2.75 (1.20)0.21 (0.18)TimesOperating leverage ratio
7.21 12.28 15.73 12.75 11.48 10.32 PercentEBITDA margin to sales
(0.89)5.62 8.84 3.56 3.30 2.55 PercentNet profit to sales
(0.14)7.06 10.44 5.31 4.57 3.58 PercentProfit before tax margin
(3.27)21.46 27.96 10.46 11.15 8.60 PercentReturn on equity
7.44 19.94 24.75 18.93 19.80 18.71 PercentReturn on capital employed

Liquidity ratios
1.02 1.12 1.16 1.11 1.08 1.13 TimesCurrent ratio
0.29 0.57 0.56 0.47 0.41 0.38 TimesQuick / acid test ratio
0.01 0.01 0.03 0.01 0.00 0.00 TimesCash to current liabilities

0.00 (0.00)(0.02)0.15 (0.02)(0.04)Times
Cash flow from operations to 
sales

Capital structure ratios
2.82 1.84 1.62 1.33 1.34 1.46 TimesFinancial leverage ratio
5.04 4.34 4.92 9.56 9.58 9.26 PercentWeighted average cost of debt

73.81 64.80 61.78 57.14 57.20 59.38 Percent Debt to funding ratio
0.96 3.86 4.92 2.11 2.20 1.93 TimesInterest cover ratio

Turnover ratios
192 140 130 140 127 144 DaysInventory turnover days

1.90 2.62 2.81 2.61 2.88 2.53 TimesInventory turnover ratio
43 60 84 80 61 54 DaysDebtor turnover days

8.45 6.03 4.36 4.57 5.97 6.76 TimesDebtor turnover ratio
175 113 105 120 111 100 DaysCreditors turnover days

1.83 2.92 3.26 2.68 3.27 3.66 TimesCreditors turnover ratio
2.25 2.05 2.19 2.23 2.86 3.13 TimesFixed assets turnover ratio
0.78 0.83 0.85 0.91 1.10 1.10 TimesTotal assets turnover ratio

60 87 109 100 76 99 DaysOperating cycle

Investor information
(1.12)7.83 11.97 5.39 6.39 5.44 RupeesEarnings per share

(25.56)6.48 2.82 3.31 3.30 5.05 TimesPrice earning ratio
0.88 0.99 0.58 0.33 0.35 0.42 TimesPrice to book ratio
0.09 0.05 0.03 ---TimesDividend yield ratio
2.50 2.50 1.00 ---RupeesCash dividend per share

20.00 -20.00 20.00 --PercentBonus shares issued
0.25 (2.23)0.08 ---PercentDividend payout ratio
(0.45)3.13 11.97 ---TimesDividend cover ratio

32.64 51.33 58.59 54.15 60.47 66.01 RupeesBreak - up value per share
Market value per share

28.63 50.73 33.81 17.81 21.10 27.47 Rupeesat the end of the year
49.62 58.32 60.80 32.94 25.96 27.47 Rupeeshigh during the year
21.45 28.93 32.80 17.81 16.83 17.99 Rupeeslow during the year
3,891 9,677 15,773 14,271 16,436 16,312 Rs. MillionEBITDA
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Graphical Analysis
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Graphical Analysis
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Graphical Analysis
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Comments on Financial Analysis
Shareholder’s Equity

Shareholders’ equity increased by 9.2% during the year,
rising from Rs. 44.75 billion to Rs. 48.85 billion, supported
by a profit of Rs. 4.02 billion. This translated into an
increase in break-up value per share from Rs. 60.5 to Rs.
66, reflecting stronger reserves. However, profitability ratios
softened, with return on equity declining to 8.6% from
11.15% and EPS decreasing to Rs. 5.44 from Rs. 6.39,
mainly due to margin pressures in the textile sector.
Considering the prevailing uncertainty and the need to
maintain healthy cash flows, the Board has not
recommended any dividend, opting instead to retain
earnings to reinforce reserves and ensure long-term
financial stability.

Non-Current & Current Liabilities

During the year, the Company recorded a notable rise in
liabilities, reflecting both strategic investments and working
capital pressures. Long-term borrowings increased from
Rs. 14.6 billion to Rs. 16.1 billion, largely driven by capital
expenditure on renewable energy initiatives, particularly
solar and biomass projects. Short-term borrowings rose
sharply from Rs. 42 billion to Rs. 52 billion, mainly due to
the need to maintain higher inventory levels in response to
changes in the Export Finance Scheme (EFS), anticipated
shortages of raw materials, and significant cashflows tied
up in pending income tax refunds. Rising power costs have
further strained liquidity and contributed to the increase in
short-term borrowing requirements. As a result, non-
current liabilities grew from Rs. 15.2 billion to Rs. 16.7
billion, while current liabilities expanded from Rs. 76.5
billion to Rs. 85.6 billion, underscoring the combined
impact of long-term growth investments, energy cost
pressures, and short-term funding needs.

Non-Current & Current Assets
Non-current assets rose from Rs. 53.8 billion to Rs. 54.7
billion, mainly due to an increase in capital work-in-
progress from Rs. 607 million to Rs. 2.1 billion for ongoing
renewable projects. Stock-in-hand grew from Rs. 49 billion
to Rs. 61 billion, while government receivables increased
from Rs. 3.7 billion to Rs. 5.5 billion on account of income
tax refunds. Liquidity ratios reflected mixed trends, with the
current ratio improving from 1.08 to 1.13 but the quick ratio
declining from 0.41 to 0.38, showing higher dependence on
inventory. Operationally, inventory turnover days increased

from 127 to 144, debtor days improved from 61 to 54,
and creditor days stayed consistent, resulting in the
operating cycle extending from 76 to 99 days. The
longer cycle, coupled with rising power costs, has
directly contributed to higher short-term borrowing
needs.

Sales and Cost of Sales

Sales increased by 10% from PKR 143.1 billion to PKR
157.9 billion, with local sales rising from PKR 44.1
billion to PKR 52.5 billion, including PKR 44 billion in
indirect exports, while direct exports grew from PKR
102.3 billion to PKR 109.3 billion. Regionally, sales to
Germany increased from PKR 30.6 billion to PKR 32.2
billion and to the Netherlands from PKR 4.8 billion to
PKR 7.0 billion, while sales to the UK, USA, Italy,
France, and other European markets remained stable.
Despite higher volumes, the appreciation of the PKR
against the USD (FY 2024 average: 279.38 vs. 283.15
last year) adversely impacted export realizations.
Segmentally, spinning sales declined from PKR 58
billion to PKR 52 billion with gross margins slipping
from 12% to 11% due to elevated raw material costs,
whereas home textile sales rose from PKR 85 billion to
PKR 93 billion with margins improving from 9% to 11%.
However, higher administrative and selling expenses
and increased financing costs from excess inventory
eroded much of the profitability gains. At the
consolidated level, gross profit margin remained at
12% as cost of sales grew proportionally, with raw
material consumption and conversion costs increasing
by 11% from PKR 95.2 billion to PKR 105.7 billion,
salaries and wages up 11% from PKR 15.7 billion to
PKR 17.4 billion due to minimum wage revisions and
increments, and power and utilities expenses rising by
13% from PKR 12 billion to PKR 13.5 billion.

Operational Expenses, Other Income and Finance
Costs

Selling and distribution expenses increased by PKR
600 million, primarily due to higher freight and shipping
costs as cargo ships continue to avoid the Suez Canal
because of regional conflicts, forcing reliance on
longer and more expensive Cape of Good Hope routes,
which also extended delivery lead times.
Administrative expenses rose by PKR 633 million,
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largely driven by higher travelling and conveyance costs
along with annual salary increments. Finance costs
increased by PKR 649 million, reflecting higher charges on
short-term borrowings and greater bank fees related to
discounting of export bills. Other income declined
compared to last year, as the significant exchange gains
from currency realizations and derivative financial
instruments recorded in the prior year did not recur at the
same level.

Cashflows

Profit before tax declined from PKR 4.5 billion to PKR 4.0
billion, while working capital adjustments rose from PKR
10.6 billion to PKR 12.8 billion due to higher stock-in-trade
and reduced trade creditors, alongside a PKR 1.5 billion
increase in levies and taxes paid, resulting in net cash
outflows of PKR 6.4 billion from operating activities. Cash
used in investing activities also increased to PKR 5.4 billion
(vs. PKR 3.9 billion last year) on account of higher
acquisition and construction of property, plant, and
equipment. To offset these pressures, the Company relied
on additional financing, with long-term borrowings rising by
PKR 4.3 billion and short-term borrowings by PKR 4.4
billion, leading to positive financing cashflows of PKR 14.2
billion. Consequently, despite a net increase of PKR 2.5
billion during the year, cash and cash equivalents closed at
a negative PKR 2.3 billion, underscoring ongoing liquidity
challenges driven by rising power costs and higher
inventory holdings.
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Independent Auditor’s Review Report 

To The Members of Gul Ahmed Textile Mills Limited

Review Report on the Statement of Compliance contained in Listed Companies (Code of
Corporate Governance) Regulations, 2019

We have reviewed the enclosed Statement of Compliance with the Listed Companies (Code of Corporate
Governance) Regulations, 2019 (the Regulations) prepared by the Board of Directors of Gul Ahmed Textile Mills
Limited (the Company) for the year ended June 30, 2025 in accordance with the requirements of regulation 36 of
the Regulations.

The responsibility for compliance with the Regulations is that of the Board of Directors of the Company. Our
responsibility is to review whether the Statement of Compliance reflects the status of the Company’s
compliance with the provisions of the Regulations and report if it does not and to highlight any non-compliance
with the requirements of the Regulations. A review is limited primarily to inquiries of the Company’s personnel
and review of various documents prepared by the Company to comply with the Regulations.

As a part of our audit of the financial statements we are required to obtain an understanding of the accounting
and internal control systems sufficient to plan the audit and develop an effective audit approach. We are not
required to consider whether the Board of Directors’ statement on internal control covers all risks and controls
or to form an opinion on the effectiveness of such internal controls, the Company’s corporate governance
procedures and risks.

The Regulations require the Company to place before the Audit Committee, and upon recommendation of the
Audit Committee, place before the Board of Directors for their review and approval of its related party
transactions. We are only required and have ensured compliance of this requirement to the extent of the
approval of the related party transactions by the Board of Directors upon recommendation of the Audit
Committee.

Following instances of non-compliances with the requirements of the Regulations were observed which are not
stated in the Statement of Compliance:

Section 32.7 of the regulation states that “It is mandatory that every company requires the external auditors to
furnish a management letter to its Board within 45 days of the date of audit report”

However, the management letter was issued by the external auditors beyond the prescribed timeframe,
resulting in non-compliance with the stated requirement.

Based on our review, except for the above instances of non-compliance, nothing has come to our attention
which causes us to believe that then Statement of Compliance does not appropriately reflect the Company's
compliance, in all material respects, with the requirements contained in the Regulations as applicable to the
Company for the year ended June 30, 2025.

Further, we highlight below instance of non-compliance with the requirements of the Regulations as reflected in
the note / paragraph referred below where these are stated in the Statement of Compliance:
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Description
Paragraph 
Reference

S. No.

Section 12 of the regulation states that, “A copy of the draft minutes of meeting of board
shall be furnished to every director within fourteen days of the date of meeting.”
However, during the course of our review, we have obtained the evidence of circulation of
the board meeting minutes and observed instances of non-compliance with the
prescribed timeframe, as three out of four of the minutes were not circulated to the
directors within the specified timeframe.

121

Yousuf Adil
Chartered Accountants

Place: Karachi
Date: October 3, 2025
UDIN: CR202510091yl9zLovTf
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Statement of Compliance With Listed Companies (Code of 
Corporate Governance) Regulations 2019

Gul Ahmed Textile Mills Limited
For the year ended June 30, 2025

Gul Ahmed Textile Mills Limited (hereinafter referred to
as “The Company”) has complied with the
requirements of the Listed Companies (Code of
Corporate Governance) Regulations,2019 (“the
Regulations”) in the following manner:

1. The total number of Directors are Seven (7) as
per the following:
a. Male: Six   (6)
b. Female: One (1)

2. The composition of Board is as follows:
a. Independent Directors

Ms. Zeeba Ansar
Mr. Kamran Y. Mirza

b. Non-Executive Directors
Mr. Mohomed Bashir
Mr. Ziad Bashir
Mr. Ehsan A. Malik

c. Executive Directors
Mr. Zain Bashir
Mr. Mohammed Zaki Bashir

d. Female Directors
Ms. Zeeba Ansar

* Following the election of Directors, the Board was
reconstituted on April 1, 2023 comprising 7 directors
including 2 independent directors. One third of 7 come
to 2.33 and the fraction was not rounded upward to
one to have 3 independent directors in observance of
general mathematic principle.

3. The Directors have confirmed that none of
them is serving as a Director on more than
seven (7) listed companies, including this
Company.

4. The Company has prepared a Code of Conduct
and has ensured that appropriate steps have been
taken to disseminate it throughout the Company
along with its supporting policies and procedures.

5. The Board has developed a vision/mission
statement, overall corporate strategy and
significant policies of the Company. The Board has
ensured that complete record of particulars of the
significant policies along with their date of
approval or updating is maintained by the
Company.

6. All the powers of the Board have been duly
exercised and decisions on relevant matters have
been taken by the Board/ Shareholders as
empowered by the relevant provisions of the
Companies Act,2017 (the Act) and these
Regulations.

7. The meetings of the Board were presided over by
the Chairman and, in his absence, by a director
elected by the Board for this purpose. The Board
has complied with the requirements of the Act and
the Regulations with respect to frequency,
recording and circulating minutes of meeting of
Board.

8. The Board of Directors have a formal policy and
transparent procedures for remuneration of
directors in accordance with the Act and these
Regulations.

9. All the directors, except chairman, have attended
and completed directors’ training course
conducted by Pakistan Institute of Corporate
Governance (PICG). The Chairman has the
prescribed education and experience required for
exemption under clause 19(2) of CCG Regulations
accordingly he is exempted from attending
directors’ training program pursuant to the clause
19(2) of the CCG Regulations.
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10. The Board has approved appointment of Chief
Financial Officer (CFO), Company Secretary and
Head of Internal Audit, including their remuneration
and terms and conditions of employment and
complied with relevant requirements of the
Regulations.

11. Chief Financial Officer and Chief Executive Officer
duly endorsed the financial statements before
approval of the Board.

12. The Board has formed committees comprising of
members given below:

• Audit Committee:
Mr. Kamran Y. Mirza - Chairman
Mr. Ehsan A. Malik - Member
Mr. Mohomed Bashir - Member

• HR and Remuneration Committee:
Ms. Zeeba-Ansar - Chairperson
Mr. Mohomed Bashir - Member
Mr. Zain Bashir - Member

13. The terms of reference of the aforesaid committees
have been formed, documented and advised to the
committee for compliance.

14. The frequency of meetings of the committee were as
per following:

Audit Committee Four quarterly meetings
HR and Remuneration Committee Two meetings

15. The Board has outsourced the internal audit function
to BDO Ebrahim & Co, Chartered Accountants, who
are considered suitably qualified and experienced for
the purpose and are conversant with the policies and
procedures of the Company. The Company has also
designated a full-time employee as Head of Internal
Audit.

16. The statutory auditors of the Company have
confirmed that they have been given a satisfactory
rating under the quality control review program of
Institute of Chartered Accountants of Pakistan (ICAP)
and registered with Audit Oversight Board of
Pakistan, that they and all their partners are in
compliance with International Federation of
Accountants (IFAC) guidelines on code of ethics as

adopted by the Institute of Chartered
Accountants of Pakistan and that they and the
partners of the firm involved in the audit are not
a close relative (spouse, parent, dependent and
non-dependent children) of the Chief Executive
Officer, Chief Financial Officer, Head of Internal
Audit, Company Secretary or Director of the
Company.

17. The statutory auditors or the persons
associated with them have not been appointed
to provide other services except in accordance
with the Act, these regulations or any other
regulatory requirement and the auditors have
confirmed that they have observed IFAC
guidelines in this regard.

18. We confirm that all requirements of regulations
3, 6, 7, 8, 27, 32, 33 and 36 of the Regulations
have been complied with; and

19. Explanation for non-compliance with non-
mandatory requirements i.e. other than
regulations 3, 6, 7, 8, 27, 32, 33 and 36 are
below:

a. The requirement of Nomination
Committee is optional in regulation
no.29.The Board takes care of the
responsibilities prescribed for
nomination committee so a separate
nomination committee is not
considered necessary.

b. The requirement of Risk Management
Committee is optional in regulation no.
30. The Risk management carried out
at the overall Company’s level by the
executive management of the
Company headed by the CEO. The
Company’s management monitors
potential risks and risk management
procedures are carried out to identify,
assess and mitigate any identified or
potential risks. Therefore, it is not
considered necessary to have a
separate committee in this respect.

c. Since the requirement with respect to
disclosure of significant policies on the
website is optional in regulation no.
35(1), the Company has uploaded only
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limited information in this respect on the
Company’s website. However, significant
related information related to policies, like
risk management etc. is disclosed in the
annual reports of the Company which are
duly uploaded on the website and are
available for everyone accessing the
website. The Company will however,
review and place key elements of other
policies if considered necessary.

Mohomed Bashir  Mohammed Zaki Bashir
Chairman                                       Chief Executive Officer

Karachi
September 29, 2025
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
TO THE MEMBERS OF GUL AHMED TEXTILE MILLS LIMITED

Report on the Audit of the Unconsolidated Financial Statements

Opinion

We have audited the annexed unconsolidated financial statements of Gul Ahmed Textile Mills Limited (the
Company), which comprise the unconsolidated statement of financial position as at June 30, 2025, and the
unconsolidated statement of profit or loss, the unconsolidated statement of comprehensive income, the
unconsolidated statement of changes in equity, the unconsolidated statement of cash flows for the year then
ended, and notes to the unconsolidated financial statements, including material accounting policy information
and other explanatory information, and we state that we have obtained all the information and explanations
which, to the best of our knowledge and belief, were necessary for the purposes of the audit.

In our opinion and to the best of our information and according to the explanations given to us, the
unconsolidated statement of financial position, the unconsolidated statement of profit or loss, the
unconsolidated statement of comprehensive income, the unconsolidated statement of changes in equity and
the unconsolidated statement of cash flows together with the notes forming part thereof conform with the
accounting and reporting standards as applicable in Pakistan and give the information required by the
Companies Act, 2017 (XIX of 2017), in the manner so required and respectively give a true and fair view of the
state of the Company's affairs as at June 30, 2025 and of the profit and comprehensive income, the changes in
equity and its cash flows for the year then ended.

Basis for Opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (ISAs) as applicable in Pakistan.
Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of
the Financial Statements section of our report. We are independent of the Company in accordance with the
International Ethics Standards Board for Accountants’ Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants as adopted
by the Institute of Chartered Accountants of Pakistan (the Code) and we have fulfilled our other ethical
responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient
and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Key Audit Matters

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment, were of most significance in our audit of
the unconsolidated financial statements of the current period. These matters were addressed in the context of
our audit of the unconsolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do
not provide a separate opinion on these matters.

Following are the key audit matters:

How the matter was addressed in our audit Key audit matters
1. Revenue recognition

Our audit procedures in this area, amongst others, 
included the following:

• Obtained an understanding of the accounting policy 
and Company’s accounting process for revenue 
recognition and tested the design and 
implementation of relevant controls;

Refer notes 3.18 and 25 to the unconsolidated
financial statements.
The Company’s net revenue for the year ended June
30, 2025 was Rs. 157,904 million. The Company’s
revenue is principally generated from the sale of
textile goods and related processing services and
consists of local and export sales.
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How the matter was addressed in our audit Key audit matters
• Performed verification of sample of revenue

transactions recorded during the year with underlying
documentation including sales invoices and other
dispatch documents;

• Performed cut-off procedures on sample basis on
revenue transactions recorded just before and after
the year end with the underlying goods delivery notes,
bill of lading, invoices and other relevant documents
to assess whether the revenue has been recognised in
the appropriate accounting period; and

• Evaluated the appropriateness of disclosures in the
unconsolidated financial statements in accordance
with the requirements of the accounting and reporting
standards applicable in Pakistan.

We identified revenue as key audit matter because;

• revenue is one of the key performance indicators
of the Company;

• there are large number of revenue transactions;
and

• There is inherent risk that revenue could be
recorded in an incorrect accounting period in
order to achieve the financial targets and
expectations.

2. Valuation of stock-in-trade
Our audit procedures in this area, amongst others,
included the following:

• Obtained an understanding of the Company’s policies
and procedures with respect to valuation of stock-in-
trade;

• Assessed appropriateness of the Company’s
accounting policies for valuation of stock-in-trade and
compliance of those policies with accounting and
reporting standards applicable in Pakistan;

• Assessed the adequacy of the allowance for
obsolescence, by taking into consideration the status
of ageing conditions of the stock-in-trade and
historical usage pattern;

• Compared the net realizable value, on a sample basis,
to the carrying value of stock-in-trade to assess
whether any adjustments are required to value of
stock-in-trade in accordance with the applicable
accounting framework; and

• Assessed the adequacy of the related disclosures in
the notes to the unconsolidated financial statements,
in accordance with the requirements of the
accounting and reporting standards as applicable in
Pakistan.

Refer notes 3.7 and 9 to the unconsolidated financial
statements.

As at June 30, 2025, the Company held stock-in-trade
of Rs. 60,911 million. Several estimates and
judgments are involved in the valuation of stock-in-
trade, in determining the net realizable values, and in
assessing the appropriate level of provisioning
required for the stock-in-trade. This includes the
assessment of available facts and circumstances,
the physical condition of the stock-in-trade,
utilization, market selling prices, and the estimated
selling cost of the stock-in-trade.

We have considered this matter as key audit matter
because of the significance of the balance and due to
the estimates and judgments involved in the
valuation.

Information Other than the Unconsolidated and Consolidated Financial Statements and Auditor’s Report
Thereon

Management is responsible for the other information. The other information comprises the information included
in annual report, but does not include the unconsolidated financial statements and our auditor’s reports
thereon.
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Our opinion on the unconsolidated financial statements does not cover the other information and we do not
express any form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the unconsolidated financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other
information and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the
unconsolidated financial statements, or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be
materially misstated. If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material
misstatement of this other information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this
regard.

Responsibilities of Management and Board of Directors for the Unconsolidated Financial Statements 

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the unconsolidated financial statements
in accordance with the accounting and reporting standards as applicable in Pakistan and the requirements of
the Companies Act, 2017 (XIX of 2017) and for such internal control as management determines is necessary to
enable the preparation of unconsolidated financial statements that are free from material misstatement,
whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the unconsolidated financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the Company’s
ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the
going concern basis of accounting unless management either intends to liquidate the Company or to cease
operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so.

Board of Directors are responsible for overseeing the Company’s financial reporting process. 

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the audit of the Unconsolidated Financial Statements 

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the unconsolidated financial statements as a
whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that
includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit
conducted in accordance with ISAs as applicable in Pakistan will always detect a material misstatement when it
exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the
aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis
of these unconsolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with ISAs as applicable in Pakistan, we exercise professional judgment and
maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit. We also:

• Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the unconsolidated financial statements, whether
due to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit
evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a
material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve
collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

• Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that are
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of
the Company’s internal control.

• Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates
and related disclosures made by management.

• Conclude on the appropriateness of management’s use of the going concern basis of accounting and, based
on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that
may cast significant doubt on the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a
material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related
disclosures in the unconsolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our
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opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report.
However, future events or conditions may cause the Company to cease to continue as a going concern.

• Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the unconsolidated financial statements,
including the disclosures, and whether the unconsolidated financial statements represent the underlying
transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

We communicate with the Board of Directors regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing of
the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify
during our audit.

We also provide the Board of Directors with a statement that we have complied with relevant ethical
requirements regarding independence, and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that
may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable, related safeguards.

From the matters communicated with the Board of Directors, we determine those matters that were of most
significance in the audit of the unconsolidated financial statements of the current period and are therefore the
key audit matters. We describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes public
disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be
communicated in our report because the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to
outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication.

Report on Other Legal and Regulatory Requirements

Based on our audit, we further report that in our opinion:

a. proper books of account have been kept by the Company as required by the Companies Act, 2017 (XIX of
2017);

b. the statement of unconsolidated financial position, the unconsolidated statement of profit or loss, the
unconsolidated statement of comprehensive income, the unconsolidated statement of changes in equity
and the unconsolidated statement of cash flow together with the notes thereon have been drawn up in
conformity with the Companies Act, 2017 (XIX of 2017) and are in agreement with the books of account and
returns;

c. investments made, expenditure incurred and guarantees extended during the year were for the purpose of
the Company’s business; and

d. no zakat was deductible at source under the Zakat and Ushr Ordinance, 1980 (XVIII of 1980).

Other Matter

The unconsolidated financial statements of the Company for the year ended June 30, 2024 were audited by
another firm of Chartered Accountants who had expressed an unmodified opinion thereon vide their report dated
October 4, 2024.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent auditor’s report is Nadeem Yousuf Adil.

Yousuf Adil
Chartered Accountants

PLACE: Karachi
DATE: October 3, 2025
UDIN: AR202510091oKb1QC5VU
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UNCONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
AS AT JUNE 30, 2025

2025 2024
ASSETS Note

NON-CURRENT ASSETS

Property, plant and equipment 4 50,894,607     50,023,808     
Intangible assets 5 45,221           45,484           
Long term investments 6 3,601,461       3,591,206       
Long term loans 7 21,487           17,939           
Long term deposits 146,240         145,595         

Total non-current assets 54,709,016     53,824,032     

CURRENT ASSETS

Store, spares and loose tools 8 2,725,457       2,298,322       
Stock-in-trade 9 60,911,875     49,014,078     
Trade debts 10 22,155,562     24,567,107     
Loans, advances and other receivables 11 4,810,814       2,638,317       
Short term prepayments 73,298           63,612           
Receivables from government 12 5,542,398       3,705,858       
Short term investments -                1,243             
Cash and bank balances 13 166,429         375,876         

Total current assets 96,385,833     82,664,413     

Total assets 151,094,849   136,488,445   

EQUITY AND LIABILITIES

SHARE CAPITAL AND RESERVES

Share capital 14 7,400,594       7,400,594       
Reserves 15 41,452,343     37,352,629     

Total share capital and reserves 48,852,937     44,753,223     

NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES

Long term financing 16 16,142,475     14,591,587     
Deferred income - government grant 17 50,620           74,655           
Defined benefit plan - staff gratuity 18 466,178         523,996         

Total non-current liabilities 16,659,273     15,190,238

CURRENT LIABILITIES 

Trade and other payables 19 27,690,959     28,775,841     
Accrued mark-up / profit 20 788,421         1,391,643       
Short term borrowings 21 52,157,704     42,005,502     
Current portion of non-current liabilities 22 3,152,215       3,262,187       
Unclaimed dividend 9,365             9,840             
Unpaid dividend 23 23,505           23,505           
Taxation-net 1,760,470       1,076,466       

Total current liabilities 85,582,639     76,544,984

Total equity and liabilities 151,094,849   136,488,445   

CONTINGENCIES AND COMMITMENTS 24

The annexed notes from 1 to 47 form an integral part of these unconsolidated financial statements.

____________________________
MUHAMMAD KASHIF RIAZ

Chief Financial Officer

-------------------------- (Rupees in '000) --------------------------

____________________

MOHOMED BASHIR
Chairman

____________________________

MOHAMMED ZAKI BASHIR
Chief Executive Officer
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____________________ ____________________________
MOHOMED BASHIR MUHAMMAD KASHIF RIAZ

Chairman Chief Financial Officer

____________________________
MOHAMMED ZAKI BASHIR

Chief Executive Officer

UNCONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2025

2025 2024
Note

Revenue from contracts with customers 25 157,904,719   143,145,844   

Cost of sales 26 (138,926,298)  (125,954,822)  

Gross profit 18,978,421     17,191,022     

Selling and distribution cost 27 (3,805,716)     (3,247,465)     

Administrative cost 28 (4,105,109)     (3,471,467)     

Other expense 29 (452,266)        (491,140)        

(8,363,091)     (7,210,072)     

Operating profit 10,615,330     9,980,950       

Other income 30 1,120,463       1,982,933       

Finance costs 31 (6,075,629)     (5,426,456)     

Profit before levies and taxation 5,660,164       6,537,427       

Levies 32 (1,688,647)     (2,043,969)     

Profit before taxation 3,971,517       4,493,458       

Taxation 33 51,257           234,344         

Profit for the year 4,022,774       4,727,802       

 

Earnings per share - basic and diluted 34 5.44               6.39               

The annexed notes from 1 to 47 form an integral part of these unconsolidated financial statements.

-------------------------- (Rupees) --------------------------

-------------------------- (Rupees in '000) --------------------------



Annual Report 2025 58

UNCONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

____________________ ____________________________
MOHOMED BASHIR MUHAMMAD KASHIF RIAZ

Chairman Chief Financial Officer

____________________________
MOHAMMED ZAKI BASHIR

Chief Executive Officer

UNCONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2025

2025 2024

Note

Profit for the year 4,022,774       4,727,802       

Other comprehensive income / (loss)

Items that will not be reclassified to unconsolidated

statement of profit or loss subsequently

Remeasurement gain / (loss) on defined benefit plan 18.3 76,940           (41,421)          

Reversal of deferred tax -                (4,535)            

76,940           (45,956)          

Items that may be reclassified to unconsolidated 
statement of profit or loss subsequently -                -                

76,940           (45,956)          

Total comprehensive income for the year 4,099,714       4,681,846       

The annexed notes from 1 to 47 form an integral part of these unconsolidated financial statements.

-------------------------- (Rupees in '000) --------------------------
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____________________ ____________________________
MOHOMED BASHIR MUHAMMAD KASHIF RIAZ

Chairman Chief Financial Officer

____________________________
MOHAMMED ZAKI BASHIR

Chief Executive Officer

UNCONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2025

Balance as at July 01, 2023 7,400,594  -                    8,252,059      24,418,724      32,670,783   40,071,377   

Reclassification of reserves - (note 15.2) -            23,000,000        -               (23,000,000)     -              -              

Profit for the year -            -                    -               4,727,802        4,727,802     4,727,802     

Other comprehensive loss -            -                    -               (45,956)            (45,956)        (45,956)        

Total comprehensive income for the year -            -                    -               4,681,846        4,681,846     4,681,846     

Balance as at June 30, 2024 7,400,594  23,000,000        8,252,059      6,100,570        37,352,629   44,753,223   

Profit for the year -            -                    -               4,022,774        4,022,774     4,022,774     

Other comprehensive income -            -                    -               76,940             76,940         76,940         

Total comprehensive income for the year -            -                    -               4,099,714        4,099,714     4,099,714     

Balance as at June 30, 2025 7,400,594  23,000,000        8,252,059      10,200,284      41,452,343   48,852,937   

The annexed notes from 1 to 47 form an integral part of these unconsolidated financial statements.

 --------------------------------------------------------------------- (Rupees in '000) ---------------------------------------------------------------------

Share 
Capital

Reserves

Total

Capital Reserve - 
Against Long term 

Investments, 
Capacity 

Expansion and 
BMR

Capital 
Reserve - 

Amalgamation 
Reserve

Revenue 
Reserve - 

Unappropriated 
Profit

Total 
Reserves
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UNCONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2025

2025 2024
Note

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES

Profit before taxation 3,971,517       4,493,458       

Adjustments for non-cash items:
Depreciation of operating fixed assets 4.1.1 4,558,811       4,450,617       
Amortisation of intangible assets 5.1 17,197           21,302           
Expense recognised for defined benefit plan 18 264,743         238,199         
Finance costs 31 6,075,629       5,426,456       
Reversal of provision for slow moving - stores and spares 8.1 (60,103)          (151,739)        
Levies 32 1,688,647       2,043,969       
Provision for slow moving stock-in-trade 9.1 (112,009)        (78,792)          
Dividend income 30 -                (1,462)            
Government grant recognised in income 30 (28,251)          (32,088)          
Loss on disposal of operating fixed assets 29 35,609           28,533           
Expected credit loss on trade debts 10.4 (33,058)          (229,760)        

12,407,215     11,715,235     
Changes in working capital:

Store, spares and loose tools (367,032)        (383,725)        
Stock-in-trade (11,785,788)    (10,484,855)    
Trade debts 2,444,603       (915,464)        
Loans, advances and other receivables (2,129,287)     (570,332)        
Receivables from government 152,518         (404,820)        
Short term prepayments (9,686)            108,893         
Trade and other payables (1,084,882)     2,023,519       

Net decrease in working capital (12,779,554)    (10,626,784)    

Cash generated from operating activities 3,599,178       5,581,909       

Payment made to defined benefit plan 18.1 (245,621)        (81,236)          
Finance costs paid (6,773,467)     (6,524,443)     
Levies and taxes paid (2,942,444)     (1,425,436)     

(9,961,532)     (8,031,115)     

Net cash used in operating activities (6,362,354)     (2,449,206)     

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES  

Payments for acquisition of property, plant and equipment (5,371,400)     (3,929,694)     
Payments for acquisition of intangible assets (16,934)          (28,535)          
Proceeds from disposal of operating fixed assets 29,048           28,758           
Long term investment made (10,255)          -                
Short term investment made -                (601,243)        
Short term investments redeemed 1,243             600,000         
Dividend income received -                1,462             
Long term loans, net (46,758)          52,587           
Long term deposits (645)               (12,648)          
Net cash used in investing activities (5,415,701)     (3,889,313)     

-------------------------- (Rupees in '000) --------------------------



Annual Report 2025 61

UNCONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2025 2024
Note-------------------------- (Rupees in '000) --------------------------

____________________ ____________________________
MOHOMED BASHIR MUHAMMAD KASHIF RIAZ

Chairman Chief Financial Officer

____________________________
MOHAMMED ZAKI BASHIR

Chief Executive Officer

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES
                      Proceeds from long term financing 37.1 4,700,000       358,000         
Repayment of long term financing 37.1 (3,283,119)     (5,777,758)     
Increase in short term borrowings, net 37.1 12,815,653     8,403,987       
Dividend paid (475)               (91)                
Net cash generated from financing activities 14,232,059     2,984,138       

Net increase / (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents 2,454,004       (3,354,381)     

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the year (4,766,370)     (1,411,989)     

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year 37 (2,312,366)     (4,766,370)     

The annexed notes from 1 to 47 form an integral part of these unconsolidated financial statements.
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NOTES TO THE UNCONSOLIDATED FINANCIALS STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2025

LEGAL STATUS AND ITS OPERATIONS1

Gul Ahmed Textile Mills Limited (the Company) was incorporated in Pakistan on April 01, 1953 as a private limited
company and subsequently converted into a public limited company on January 07, 1955. The Company is a subsidiary of
Gul Ahmed Holdings (Private) Limited (the Parent Company) and is listed on Pakistan Stock Exchange Limited. The
Company is principally engaged in the manufacturing and sale of textile products. The registered office is situated at Plot
No. H-7, Landhi Industrial Area, Karachi.

1.1

The Company has following wholly owned subsidiaries which are engaged in distribution / trading of textile related
products while Ideas (Private) Limited also carries out production of finished goods.

Principal place of businessCountry of 
Incorporation

Date of 
Incorporation

Details of subsidiaries

Direct subsidiaries
Sharjah Airport International Free Zone, 
Government of Sharjah, United Arab 
Emirates.

United Arab 
Emirates

December 11, 
2002

Gul Ahmed International 
Limited FZC - UAE

Plot No. 65/I, Sector-30, Korangi 
Industrial Area, Karachi, Pakistan.

PakistanDecember 27, 
2004 (Subsidiary 
since January 01, 
2021)

Ideas (Private) Limited

Plot No. H-7, Landhi Industrial Area, 
Landhi, Karachi, Pakistan

PakistanMarch 26, 2025Gul Ahmed Ecotex 
(Private) Limited

Plot No. H-7, Landhi Industrial Area, 
Landhi, Karachi, Pakistan

PakistanMarch 26, 2025Gul Ahmed Ecofab 
(Private) Limited

Plot No. H-7, Landhi Industrial Area, 
Landhi, Karachi, Pakistan

PakistanMarch 26, 2025Gul Ahmed Circular 
Fabrics (Private) Limited

Indirect subsidiaries
106 Lang Tree Village Dr, Suite 301 
Mooresville, NC 28117, United States of 
America.

United States of 
America

March 19, 2012GTM USA Corporation

106 Lang Tree Village Dr, Suite 301 
Mooresville, NC 28117, United States of 
America.

United States of 
America

February 28, 2017Sky Home Corporation -
USA

Grane Road Mill, Grane Road Haslingden, 
Rossendale Lancashire BB4 5ET, United 
Kingdom.

United KingdomApril 22, 2013Vantona Home Limited 

Grane Road Mill, Grane Road Haslingden, 
Rossendale Lancashire BB4 5ET, United 
Kingdom.

United KingdomSeptember 29, 
2017

JCCO 406 Limited

Grane Road Mill, Grane Road Haslingden, 
Rossendale Lancashire BB4 5ET, United 
Kingdom.

United KingdomApril 17, 2003GTM (Europe) Limited

Plot No. 65/1, Korangi Industrial Area, 
Karachi, Pakistan

PakistanMarch 12, 2025Omnify (Private) Limited

Plot No. 65/1, Korangi Industrial Area, 
Karachi, Pakistan

PakistanMarch 19, 2025Elegant Fashion (Private) 
Limited

Plot No. 65/1, Korangi Industrial Area, 
Karachi, Pakistan

PakistanMarch 12, 2025Fragrance Fusion 
(Private) Limited
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Geographical locations and addresses of all premises obtained on rental basis are as follows:1.2

Address
Plot ST-17/1 and ST-17/3, Federal 'B' Area, Azizabad, Karachi;
Plot No. H-17 / A, Landhi Industrial area, Karachi;
Plot # HT/2 Landhi Industrial Area, Karachi;
Plot # HT/8, KDA Scheme 3, Landhi Industrial area, Karachi;
Plot W2/1-14, Western industrial zone, Port Qasim, Karachi;
Plot # H19/2-B Bin Qasim, Landhi Industrial area Karachi;
Survey # 613, Deh Jorejee, Bin Qasim town, Karachi;
Survey # 614, Deh Jorejee, Bin Qasim town, Karachi;
Survey # 615, Deh Jorejee, Bin Qasim town, Karachi; and
22nd Floor, Ocean Mall, Khayaban-e-Iqbal, Block-9, Clifton, Karachi.

The above rental premises are used to carry out warehousing and administrative tasks.

BASIS OF PREPARATION2

Basis of measurement2.1
These unconsolidated financial statements have been prepared under the historical cost convention except as
otherwise stated in respective policy notes.

These unconsolidated financial statements are separate financial statements of the Company in which investments in
subsidiaries is measured at cost less accumulated impairment losses, if any. Consolidated financial statements of the
Company are prepared and presented separately.

Statement of compliance2.2
These unconsolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the accounting and reporting
standards as applicable in Pakistan. Accounting and reporting standards applicable in Pakistan comprise of:

International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS Accounting Standards) issued by the International Accounting
Standards Board (IASB) as notified under the Companies Act, 2017 (the Act); and

-

Provisions of and directives issued under the Act.-

Where provisions of and directives issued under the Act differ from the IFRS Accounting Standards, the provisions of and
directives issued under the Act have been followed.

Functional and presentation currency2.3
Items included in the unconsolidated financial statements are measured using the currency of the primary economic
environment in which the Company operates. These unconsolidated financial statements are presented in Pakistani
Rupees, which is the functional and presentation currency of the Company. The amounts have been rounded off to the
nearest thousand rupees unless stated otherwise.

Critical accounting estimates and judgments2.4
The preparation of these unconsolidated financial statements in conformity with the accounting and reporting
standards, as applicable in Pakistan, requires management to make judgments, estimates and assumptions that affects
the application of the Company's accounting policies and reported amounts of assets, liabilities, income and expenses.
The estimates and associated assumptions are based on historical experience and other factors that are believed to be
reasonable under the circumstances, the results of which form the basis of making judgment about carrying amounts of
assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources. Actual results may differ from these estimates.

Estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revision to accounting estimates are
recognised in the period in which estimates are revised if the revision affects only that period, or in the period of revision
and future periods if the revision affects both current and future periods.

Information about estimates and judgements made in applying accounting policies that have the most significant
effects on the amounts recognised in the unconsolidated financial statements are as follows:
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Operating fixed assets and Intangible assets (notes 3.2, 3.3, 3.8, 4 and 5)a)
The Company reviews appropriateness of the method of depreciation / amortisation and useful lives used in the
calculation of depreciation / amortisation of operating fixed assets and intangible assets respectively on an
annual basis. Further, where applicable, an estimate of recoverable amount of assets is made for possible
impairment at each reporting date.

Provision for obsolescence and slow moving stores and spares (notes 3.6 and 8)b)
Provision for obsolescence and slow moving stores and spares is based on parameters set out by the
management of the Company, which includes ageing, expected use and realisable values.

Stock-in-trade (notes 3.7 and 9)c)
The Company reviews the net realisable value of stock-in-trade to assess any diminution in the respective
carrying values at each reporting date. Net realisable value is determined with reference to estimated selling
price less estimated expenditure to make the sales.

Impairment of financial assets (notes 3.9.4, 10 and 44.2)d)
The Company uses a provision matrix to calculate expected credit loss (ECL) for trade debts. The provision
matrix is initially based on the Company’s historically observed rates. The Company calibrates the matrix to
adjust the historical credit loss experience with forward-looking information. At every quarter, the historically
observed default rates are updated, and changes in the forward-looking estimates are analysed.

The amount of ECLs is sensitive to changes in circumstances and of forecast economic conditions. The
Company's historical credit loss experience and forecast of economic conditions may also not be
representative of customers’ actual default in the future.

Defined benefit plan (notes 3.14.2 and 18)e)
The present value of defined benefit plan depends upon number of factors and is being calculated on actuarial
basis using a number of assumptions. Any changes in these assumptions will impact the carrying amount of
defined benefit plan.

Taxation (notes 3.20, 24 and 33)f)
The Company takes into account the current income tax law and decisions taken by the taxation authorities.
Instances where the Company's views differ from the views taken by the income tax department at the
assessment stage and where the Company considers that its view on items of material nature is in accordance
with law, the amounts are shown as contingencies.

Levies (notes 3.21 and 32)g)
The Company takes into account the current income tax law, legislations and decisions taken by the taxation
authorities for determination of levies. These include determining the specific obligating event that triggers levy
recognition based on the relevant legislation, estimating the amount payable by considering applicable rates,
and deciding the appropriate timing for recognising the levy liability. These estimates and judgements are
periodically reviewed and updated as necessary.

Contingencies (notes 3.17 and 24)h)
The assessment of the contingencies and provision inherently involves the exercise of significant judgment as
the outcome of the future events cannot be predicted with certainty. The Company, based on the availability of
the latest information, estimates the value of contingent liabilities which may differ on the occurrence / non-
occurrence of the uncertain future event(s).

Change in accounting standards, interpretations and amendments to published approved accounting and
reporting standards

2.5

New standards, amendments and interpretations that are effective for the year ended June 30, 2025 are as
follows:

(a)

The following amendments are effective for the year ended June 30, 2025. These amendments are either not
relevant to the Company's operations or are not expected to have significant impact on the Company's financial
statements other than certain additional disclosures.
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The following amendments are effective for the year ended June 30, 2025. These amendments are either not
relevant to the Company's operations or are not expected to have significant impact on the Company's financial
statements other than certain additional disclosures.

Effective date 
(annual periods beginning on 

or after)
January 01, 2024Amendments to IFRS 16 ' Leases' - Clarification on how seller-lessee

subsequently measures sale and leaseback transactions
-

January 01, 2024Amendments to IAS 1 'Presentation of Financial Statements' - Classification of
liabilities as current or non-current along with Non-current liabilities with
Covenants

-

January 01, 2024Amendments to IAS 7 'Statement of Cash Flows' and 'IFRS 7 'Financial
instruments disclosures' - Supplier Finance Arrangements

-

Standards, Interpretations and Amendments to published approved accounting standards not yet effective(b)
The following standards and amendments are effective for accounting periods, beginning on or after the date
mentioned against each of them. These amendments are either not relevant to the Company's operations or are
not expected to have significant impact on the Company's financial statements other than certain additional
disclosures.

Effective date 
(annual periods beginning on 

or after)

January 01, 2025Amendments to IAS 21 'The Effects of Changes in Foreign Exchange Rates' -
Clarification on how entity accounts when there is long term lack of
Exchangeability

-

January 01, 2026IFRS 17 - Insurance Contracts (including the June 2020 and December 2021
Amendments to IFRS 17)

-

July 01, 2025IFRS 7 - Financial Instruments: Disclosures-

January 01, 2026Amendments IFRS 9 'Financial Instruments' and IFRS 7 'Financial instruments
disclosures' - Classification and measurement of financial instruments

-

January 01, 2026Annual Improvements to IFRS Accounting Standards (related to IFRS 1, IFRS 7,
IFRS 9, IFRS 10 and IAS 7)

-

January 01, 2026Amendments IFRS 9 'Financial Instruments' and IFRS 7 'Financial instruments
disclosures' - Contracts Referencing Nature-dependent Electricity

-

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION3
The material accounting policies set out below have been consistently applied to all periods presented in these
unconsolidated financial statements.

Foreign currency transactions and translation3.1
Transactions in foreign currencies are translated into the respective functional currency of the Company at the
exchange rates at the dates of transactions.
Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are translated into functional currency at the
exchange rate at the reporting date. Non-monetary assets and liabilities that are measured at fair value in a foreign
currency are translated into functional currency at the exchange rate when the fair value was determined. Non-
monetary items that are measured based on historical cost in a foreign currency are translated at the exchange rate at
the date of transaction. Foreign currency differences are recognised in the unconsolidated statement of profit or loss.



Annual Report 2025 66

UNCONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Property, plant and equipment3.2

Operating fixed assets3.2.1

Initial recognition
The cost of an item is recognised as an asset if and only if the future economic benefits associated with the item will
flow to the Company and the cost of the item can be measured reliably.

Measurement
Operating fixed assets are stated at cost less any accumulated depreciation and any accumulated impairment losses
except leasehold land which is stated at cost.

When parts of an item of operating fixed assets have different useful lives, they are accounted for as separate items
(major components) of operating fixed assets.

Subsequent cost
Expenditure incurred to replace a significant component of an item of operating fixed assets is capitalised and the
asset so replaced is retired. Other subsequent expenditure is capitalised only when it is probable that future economic
benefits associated with the item will flow to the Company and the cost of the items can be measured reliably. All
other expenditure (including normal repairs and maintenance) are recognised in the unconsolidated statement of
profit or loss as an expense when these are incurred.

Depreciation
Depreciation is charged using:

Reducing Balance Method on Plant & Machinery, Office Equipment (other than IT Equipment), Building on
Leasehold Land, Vehicles and Furniture & Fixtures; and

-

Straight Line Method on IT equipment, structure on leasehold land and major Component of Plant and Machinery
identifiable as a separate asset due to different useful life from the Plant and Machinery.

-

Rates of depreciation on above are specified in the note 4 of the unconsolidated financial statements.

Depreciation on additions to operating fixed assets is charged from the day the asset is available for use and no
depreciation is charged on the day of disposal.

Depreciation methods, useful lives and residual values of each part of property, plant and equipment that is significant
in relation to the total cost of the asset are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at each reporting date.

Gains and losses on disposal
The gain or loss on disposal of an item of operating fixed assets is determined by comparing the proceeds from
disposal with the carrying amount of the operating fixed assets, and is recognised in the unconsolidated statement of
profit or loss.

Capital work-in-progress3.2.2
Capital work in progress (CWIP) is stated at cost less impairment loss, if any, and consists of expenditure incurred
(including any borrowing cost, if applicable) and advances made in the course of their construction and installation.
Transfers are made to relevant asset category as and when assets are available for intended use.

Intangible assets3.3
These are stated at cost less accumulated amortisation and any provision for impairment loss. Amortisation of
intangible assets are charged to unconsolidated statement of profit or loss by applying the straight line method at the
rates specified in note 5 of these unconsolidated financial statements after taking into account residual value, if any.
Amortisation on additions to intangibles is charged from the day the asset is available for use and no amortisation is
charged on the day of disposal.

The carrying values of intangible assets are reviewed for impairment when events or changes in circumstances
indicate that the carrying value may not be recoverable, if any such indication exists and where the carrying values
exceed the estimated recoverable amounts, the assets are written down to their recoverable amount.
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Borrowing cost3.4
Borrowing cost is recognised as an expense in the unconsolidated statement of profit or loss in the period in which
these are incurred except where such cost is directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or production of a
qualifying asset in which case such cost is capitalised as part of the cost of that asset.

Investments in subsidiaries3.5
Subsidiary is an entity over which the Company has control. Investment in subsidiaries is carried at cost less
accumulated impairment losses, if any. The carrying amount of investments in subsidiaries is reviewed at each
reporting date to determine whether there is any indication of impairment. If any such indication exists the
investment’s recoverable amount is estimated at higher of its value in use and its fair value less cost to sell. An
impairment loss is recognised if the carrying amount exceeds its recoverable amount. Impairment losses are
recognised in unconsolidated statement of profit or loss.

Store, spares and loose tools3.6
Stores, spares and loose tools are stated at lower of moving average cost and net realisable value, less provision for
impairment, if any. Stores-in-transit is stated at cost comprising invoice value plus other incremental charges incurred
thereon.

Provision is made for obsolete and slow moving stores, spares and loose tools based on management's best estimate
regarding their future usability and is recognised in the unconsolidated statement of profit or loss.

Stock-in-trade3.7
Stock of raw materials and finished goods are valued at lower of moving average cost and net realisable value. Cost of
raw materials and trading stock comprises of the invoice value plus other charges incurred thereon. Work-in-process
is measured at weighted average cost. Cost of work-in-process and finished goods includes cost of direct materials,
labour and appropriate portion of manufacturing overheads. Waste products are valued at net realisable value. Stock-
in-transit is stated at cost comprising invoice value and other incidental charges paid thereon up to reporting date.

Net realisable value signifies the estimated selling prices in the ordinary course of business less costs necessarily to
be incurred in order to make the sale.

Impairment of non-financial assets3.8
The carrying amounts of non-financial assets are assessed at each reporting date to ascertain whether there is any
indication of impairment. If such an indication exists, the asset’s recoverable amount is estimated to determine the
extent of impairment loss, if any. An impairment loss is recognised as an expense in the unconsolidated statement of
profit or loss.

The recoverable amount is the higher of an asset’s fair value less cost of disposal and value-in-use. Value-in-use is
ascertained through discounting of the estimated future cash flows using a discount rate that reflects current market
assessments of the time value of money and the risk specific to the assets. For the purpose of assessing impairment,
assets are grouped at the lowest levels for which there are separately identifiable cash flows (cash generating units).

An impairment loss is reversed if there is a change in the estimates used to determine the recoverable amount. An
impairment loss is reversed only to the extent that the asset’s carrying amount does not exceed the carrying amount
that would have been determined, net of depreciation or amortisation, if no impairment loss had been recognised.

Financial instruments3.9

A financial instrument is any contract that gives rise to a financial asset of one entity and a financial liability or equity
instrument of another entity. Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised in the Company’s unconsolidated
statement of financial position when the Company becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the instrument.
Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially measured at fair value. Transaction costs that are directly
attributable to the acquisition or issue of financial assets and financial liabilities (other than financial assets and
financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss) are added to or deducted from the fair value of the financial
assets or financial liabilities, as appropriate, on initial recognition. Transaction costs directly attributable to the
acquisition of financial assets or financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss are recognised immediately in
the unconsolidated statement of profit or loss.
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Financial assets3.9.1
All regular way purchases or sales of financial assets are recognised and derecognised on a trade date basis. Regular
way purchases or sales are purchases or sales of financial assets that require delivery of assets within the time frame
established by regulation or convention in the marketplace.

All recognised financial assets are measured subsequently in their entirety at either amortised cost or fair value,
depending on the classification of the financial assets.

Classification and measurement of financial assets
Debt instruments that meet the following conditions are measured subsequently at amortised cost:

the financial asset is held within a business model whose objective is to hold financial assets in order to collect
contractual cash flows; and

-

the contractual terms of the financial asset give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are solely payments
of principal and interest on the principal amount outstanding.

-

Financial assets ‘at amortised cost’ are carried at amortised cost using the effective interest method if the time value
of money is significant. Gains and losses are recognised in the unconsolidated statement of profit or loss when the
assets are derecognised or impaired and when interest is recognised using the effective interest method.

Debt instruments that meet the following conditions are measured subsequently at fair value through other
comprehensive income (FVTOCI):

the financial asset is held within a business model whose objective is achieved by both collecting contractual
cash flows and selling the financial assets; and

-

the contractual terms of the financial asset give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are solely payments
of principal and interest on the principal amount outstanding.

-

Financial assets at FVTOCI are carried on the unconsolidated statement of financial position at fair value with gains
or losses recognised in the unconsolidated statement of other comprehensive income.

By default, all other financial assets are measured subsequently at fair value through profit or loss (FVTPL). Financial 
assets at FVTPL are carried on the unconsolidated statement of financial position at fair value with gains or losses 
recognised in the unconsolidated statement of profit or loss.

Derecognition of financial assets
The Company derecognises a financial asset only when the contractual rights to the cash flows from the asset expire,
or when it transfers the financial asset and substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of the asset to
another entity. If the Company neither transfers nor retains substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership and
continues to control the transferred asset, the Company recognises its retained interest in the asset and an
associated liability for amounts it may have to pay. If the Company retains substantially all the risks and rewards of
ownership of a transferred financial asset, the Company continues to recognise the financial asset and also
recognises a collateralised borrowing for the proceeds received.

On derecognition of a financial asset measured at amortised cost, the difference between the asset’s carrying
amount and the sum of the consideration received and receivable is recognised in the unconsolidated statement of
profit or loss.

Financial liabilities3.9.2
All financial liabilities are measured subsequently at amortised cost using the effective interest method or at FVTPL.
The effective interest method is a method of calculating the amortised cost of a financial liability and of allocating
interest expense over the relevant period. The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated
future cash payments (including all fees and points paid or received that form an integral part of the effective interest
rate, transaction costs and other premiums or discounts) through the expected life of the financial liability, or (where
appropriate) a shorter period, to the amortised cost of a financial liability.
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Derecognition of financial liabilities
A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation under the liability is discharged, cancelled or expired. When an
existing financial liability is replaced by another from the same lender on substantially different terms, or the terms of
an existing liability are substantially modified, such an exchange or modification is treated as the derecognition of the
original liability and the recognition of a new liability. The difference in the respective carrying amounts is recognised in
the unconsolidated statement of profit or loss.

Offsetting of financial assets and liabilities3.9.3
Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the net amount is reported in the unconsolidated statement of
financial position if there is a currently enforceable legal right to set-off the recognised amounts and there is an
intention to settle on a net basis or to realise the assets and settle the liabilities simultaneously.

Impairment of financial assets 3.9.4
The Company assesses on a forward looking basis the expected credit losses (ECL) associated with its debt
instruments carried at amortised cost. The impairment methodology applied depends on whether there has been a
significant increase in credit risk. For trade and other receivables, the Company applies the simplified approach
permitted by IFRS 9, which requires expected lifetime losses to be recognised from initial recognition of the
receivables.
The Company measures ECL of a financial instrument in a way that reflects (a) an unbiased and probability-weighted
amount that is determined by evaluating a range of possible outcomes; (b) the time value of money; and (c) reasonable
and supportable information that is available without undue cost or effort at the reporting date about past events,
current conditions and forecasts of future economic conditions.

The measurement of expected credit losses is a function of the probability of default, loss given default (i.e. the
magnitude of the loss if there is a default) and the exposure at default. The assessment of the probability of default and
loss given default is based on historical data adjusted by forward-looking information as described above. As for the
exposure at default for financial assets, this is represented by the assets’ gross carrying amount at the reporting date.

A default on a financial asset is considered when the counterparty fails to make contractual payments within 90 days
of when they fall due.

Financial assets are written off when there are no reasonable expectation of recovery. Where loans or receivables have
been written off, the Company continues to engage in enforcement activity to attempt to recover the balance due.
Where recoveries are made, these are recognised in the unconsolidated statement of profit or loss.

Derivative3.10
Derivative instruments are initially recognised at fair value and subsequent to initial measurement, each derivative
instrument is remeasured to its fair value and the resultant gain or loss is recognised in the unconsolidated statement
of profit or loss. Derivatives with positive fair values (unrealised gains) are included in other assets and derivatives with
negative fair values (unrealised losses) are included in trade and other payables in unconsolidated statement of
financial position.

Cash and cash equivalents3.11
Cash and cash equivalents include cash in hand, with banks in current and deposit accounts, cheques in hand,
demand draft and running finance under mark-up arrangements. Running finances under mark-up arrangements are
shown within short term borrowings under current liabilities in the unconsolidated statement of financial position.
These are measured at amortised cost.

Share capital3.12
Ordinary shares are classified as share capital. Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of new shares are
shown in equity as a deduction, net of tax.

Government grant3.13
Government grants are transfers of resources to the Company by a government entity in return for compliance with
certain past or future conditions related to the Company’s operating activities - e.g. a government subsidy. The
definition of “government” refers to governments, government agencies and similar bodies, whether local, national or
international.
The Company recognises government grants when there is reasonable assurance that grants will be received and the
Company will be able to comply with the conditions associated with grants. Government grants are recognised at fair
value, as deferred income, when there is reasonable assurance that the grants will be received and the Company will
be able to comply with the conditions associated with the grants.
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Grants that compensate the Company for expenses incurred, are recognised on a systematic basis in the income for
the year in which the related expenses are recognised. Grants that compensate for the cost of an asset are
recognised in income on a systematic basis over the expected useful life of the related asset.

Loan is initially recognised at its fair value in accordance with IFRS 9. The fair value of the loan would be the present
value of loan proceeds received, discounted using prevailing market rate of mark-up for a similar instrument. The
benefit of below-market mark-up (i.e. differential between the loan proceeds and fair value of the loan) is accounted
for as deferred grant in accordance with IAS 20. In subsequent periods, the loan amount would be accreted using the
effective interest rate method. The accretion would increase the carrying value of the loan with a corresponding
effect on the interest expense for the year in the unconsolidated statement of profit or loss. As per IFRS 9, the loan
liability and related mark-up shall be derecognised when it is extinguished i.e., these amounts are paid-off. While,
the grant is recognised in unconsolidated statement of profit or loss, in line with the recognition of interest expense
that the grant is compensating, in accordance with IAS 20.

Staff retirement benefits3.14

Defined contribution plan3.14.1
The Company operates a recognised provident fund scheme for its eligible employees to which equal monthly
contribution is made by the Company and the employees at the rate of 8.33% of the basic salary. The Company's
contribution is charged to unconsolidated statement of profit or loss.

Defined benefit plan3.14.2
The Company operates unfunded gratuity schemes for all its eligible employees. Benefits under the scheme are
vested to employees on completion of the prescribed qualifying period of service under the scheme. The calculation
of defined benefit obligations is performed annually by a qualified actuary using the projected unit credit method.

Remeasurement of the net defined benefit liability, which comprises of actuarial gains and losses are recognised
immediately in unconsolidated statement of other comprehensive income. The Company determines the net
interest expense on the net defined liability for the period by applying the discount rate used to measure the defined
benefit obligation at the beginning of the annual period to the then-net defined liability, taking into account any
changes in the net defined benefit liability during the year as a result of benefit payments. Net interest expense and
other expenses related to defined benefit plans are recognised in the unconsolidated statement of profit or loss.

When the benefits of a plan are changed or when a plan is curtailed, the resulting change in benefit that relates to
past service or the gain or loss on curtailment is recognised immediately in the unconsolidated statement of profit or
loss. The Company recognises gains or losses on the settlement of a defined benefit plan when the settlement
occurs.

Accumulated employee compensated absences3.15
The Company provides for compensated absences for all eligible employees in the period in which these are earned.
Provisions are made annually to cover the obligation for accumulating compensated absences and are charged to
the unconsolidated statement of profit or loss.

Unclaimed dividend3.16
The Company recognises unclaimed dividend which was declared and remained unclaimed by the shareholder from
the date it was due and payable.

Provisions and contingencies3.17
Provisions are recognised when the Company has present obligation (legal or constructive) as a result of past event
and it is probable that an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits will be required to settle the obligation
and a reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation. Provisions are reviewed at each reporting date
and adjusted to reflect current best estimate.

A contingent liability is disclosed when the Company has a possible obligation as a result of past events, whose
existence will be confirmed only by the occurrence or non-occurrence, of one or more uncertain future events not
wholly within the control of the Company; or the Company has a present legal or constructive obligation that arises
from past events, but it is not probable that an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits will be required to
settle the obligation, or the amount of the obligation cannot be measured with sufficient reliability.
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Recognition of revenue from contracts with customers3.18
Revenue from contracts with customers is recognised to the extent it is probable that the economic benefits will flow
to the Company and the revenue can be measured reliably. Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration
received or receivable and is recognised on following basis:

Revenue from contracts with customers is recognised at amounts that reflect the consideration that the
Company expects to be entitled to in exchange for transferring goods or services to a customer.

-

The Company recognises revenue when performance obligation is satisfied, at a point in time, when control of
goods have been transferred to a customer either on dispatch / acceptance of goods for local sales or issuance
of the bill of lading in case of export sales. Control, depending on contractual terms, is considered to be
transferred either when the product is directly uplifted by customer from the Company premises or when it is
delivered by the Company at customer premises.

-

Revenue from contracts with customers on services is recognised at the point in time when the performance
obligation is satisfied i.e. control of the serviced goods is transferred to the customer at an amount that reflects
the consideration to which the Company expects to be entitled to in exchange for those serviced goods. These
services include sanforisation and mercerisation of fabric.

-

Export rebate (if any) on export sales is recognised on an accrual basis at the time of export sale.-

Processing charges are recorded when processed goods are delivered to customers.-

Other income3.19
Other income is recognised to the extent it is probable that economic benefit will flow to the Company and the
amount can be measured reliably. Other income is measured at fair value of the consideration received or receivable
and recognised on following basis:

Profit on deposits with banks is recognised on time proportion basis taking into account the amount outstanding
and rates applicable thereon.

-

Dividend income is recognised when the Company's right to receive the payment is established.-

Interest on loans and advances to employees is recognised on the effective interest method.-

Income from sale of scrap is recorded on delivery of scrap to the customer.-

The grant is recognised in unconsolidated statement of profit or loss, in line with the recognition of interest
expense that the grant is compensating, in accordance with IAS 20.

-

Income from liabilities written back / provision are recorded when the chances of settlement of liability /
provision is remote.

-

Markup from Term Finance Certificates is accounted for as income using the effective interest method.-

Exchange gain from currency realisation and derivative financial instruments are described in note 3.1 and 3.10
of these unconsolidated financial statements.

-

Taxation3.20

Current tax3.20.1
Current Tax comprises of expected tax payable or receivable on the taxable income or loss for the year and any
adjustment to the tax payable or receivable in respect of previous years. The amount of current tax payable or
receivable is the best estimate of the tax amount expected to be paid or received that reflects uncertainty related to
income taxes, if any. It is measured using tax rates enacted or substantively enacted at the reporting date.

The Company takes into account the current income tax law and decisions taken by the taxation authorities.
Instances where the Company’s views differ from the income tax department at the assessment stage and where the
Company considers that its view on items of material nature is in accordance with law, the amounts are shown as
contingent liabilities.

Deferred tax3.20.2
Deferred tax is recognised using the balance sheet liability method on all temporary differences arising at the
reporting date between tax bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts for financial reporting purposes.
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Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for all taxable temporary differences. Deferred tax asset is recognised for all
deductible temporary differences and carried forward unused tax losses, and tax credits, if any, to the extent that it is
probable that taxable profit will be available against which such temporary differences and tax losses can be utilised.
Deferred tax asset is reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable that the related tax benefit will be realised.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at enacted tax rate that are expected to apply to the period when the
asset is realised or the liability is settled, based on tax rates that have been enacted or substantively enacted at the
reporting date.

Levies3.21
The tax charged under ITO, which is not based on taxable income or any amount paid / payable in excess of the
calculation based on taxable income is classified as levies in the unconsolidated statement of profit or loss as these
levies fall under the scope of IFRIC 21 'Levies' or IAS 37 'Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and Contingent Assets'.

Revenue tax3.21.1
Revenue tax include levies as per IFRIC 21, minimum tax on imported goods and export sales under ITO. A levy is an
outflow of resources embodying economic benefits that is imposed by governments on entities in accordance with
legislation (i.e. laws and/or regulations), other than:

those outflows of resources that are within the scope of other standards.(a) 

fines or other penalties that are imposed for breaches of the legislation.(b) 

Final tax3.21.2
Final tax includes tax charged / withheld / paid on certain income streams under various provisions of ITO. Final tax is
charged / computed under the ITO, without reference to income chargeable to tax at the general rate of tax and final
tax computed / withheld or paid for a tax year is construed as final tax liability for the related stream of Income under
the ITO.

Earnings per share3.22
The Company presents basic and diluted earnings per share (EPS) data for its ordinary shares. Basic EPS is calculated
by dividing the profit or loss attributable to ordinary shareholders of the Company by the weighted average number of
ordinary shares outstanding during the period. Diluted EPS is determined by adjusting the profit or loss attributable to
ordinary shareholders and the weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding for the effects of all dilutive
potential ordinary shares.

Dividend and appropriation to reserves3.23
Final dividend distributions to the Company's shareholders are recognised as a liability in the unconsolidated financial
statements in the period in which the dividends are approved by the Company's shareholders at the Annual General
Meeting, while the interim dividend distributions are recognised in the period in which the dividends are declared by
the Board of Directors (the Board). Appropriations of profit are reflected in the unconsolidated statement of changes in
equity in the period in which such appropriations are approved.

Segment reporting3.24
Segment reporting is based on the operating (business) segments of the Company. An operating segment is a
component of the Company that engages in business activities from which it may earn revenues and incur expenses
including revenues and expenses that relates to transactions with any of the Company's other components. An
operating segment’s results are reviewed regularly by the Chief Operating Decision Maker(s) i.e., Chief Executive
Officer (CEO) to make decisions about resources to be allocated to the segment, assess its performance and for which
discrete financial information is available.

Segment results that are reported to the CEO include items directly attributable to a segment as well as those that can
be allocated on a reasonable basis. Unallocated items comprise mainly of finance cost, other operating cost, other
income and income tax. Segment capital expenditure is the total cost incurred during the period to acquire property,
plant and equipment and intangible assets. The detailed results of the reportable segments are disclosed in the note
35 to these unconsolidated financial statements.



Annual Report 2025 73

UNCONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

4 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
2025 2024

Note

Operating fixed assets 4.1 48,777,835      49,416,906     

Capital work in progress (CWIP) 4.2 2,116,772       606,902          

50,894,607     50,023,808     

Note
4.1 Operating fixed assets

As at July 01, 2023
Cost 7,924,915       14,409,911         43,470,287     299,996          893,079          581,458          67,579,646     

Accumulated depreciation -                 (4,265,932)          (14,665,006)    (99,975)           (313,849)         (365,041)         (19,709,803)    

Net book value as at  July 01, 2023 7,924,915       10,143,979         28,805,281     200,021          579,230          216,417          47,869,843     

Movement during year ended June 30, 2024

Transfers during the year 4.2.1 121,484          1,246,791           4,433,375       32,300            242,619          67,304            6,143,873       

Written off during the year -                 (70,070)               -                 -                 -                 -                 (70,070)           

Reclassification to CWIP -                 -                     (18,832)           -                 -                 -                 (18,832)           

Disposals during the year 4.1.2
Cost -                 -                     (144,675)         -                 -                 -                 (144,675)         

Depreciation -                 -                     87,384            -                 -                 -                 87,384            

Net book value -                 -                     (57,291)           -                 -                 -                 (57,291)           

Depreciation charge for the year 4.1.1 -                 (1,104,333)          (3,140,204)      (24,768)           (131,601)         (49,711)           (4,450,617)      

Net book value as at June 30, 2024 4.4 8,046,399       10,216,367         30,022,329     207,553          690,248          234,010          49,416,906     

As at June 30, 2024
Cost 8,046,399       15,586,632         47,740,155     332,296          1,135,698       648,762          73,489,942     

Accumulated depreciation -                 (5,370,265)          (17,717,826)    (124,743)         (445,450)         (414,752)         (24,073,036)    

8,046,399       10,216,367         30,022,329     207,553          690,248          234,010          49,416,906     

Note
As at July 01, 2024
Cost 8,046,399       15,586,632         47,740,155     332,296          1,135,698       648,762          73,489,942     
Accumulated depreciation -                 (5,370,265)          (17,717,826)    (124,743)         (445,450)         (414,752)         (24,073,036)    

Net book value as at July 01, 2024 8,046,399       10,216,367         30,022,329     207,553          690,248          234,010          49,416,906     

Movement during year ended June 30, 2025

Transfers during the year 4.2.1 479,558              3,160,737       52,877            240,953          42,152            3,976,277       

Adjustments during the year
Cost -                 3,956                  97,640            (154)               (71,154)           (30,178)           110                
Depreciation -                 (1,964)                (15,901)           -                 25,297            578                8,010              

-                 1,992                  81,739            (154)               (45,857)           (29,600)           8,120              
Disposals during the year 4.1.2
Cost -                 -                     (335,998)         -                 -                 -                 (335,998)         
Depreciation -                 -                     271,341          -                 -                 -                 271,341          

Net book value -                 -                     (64,657)           -                 -                 -                 (64,657)           

Depreciation charge for the year 4.1.1 -                 (1,067,637)          (3,269,016)      (25,005)           (153,730)         (43,423)           (4,558,811)      

Net book value as at June 30, 2025 8,046,399       9,630,280           29,931,132     235,271          731,614          203,139          48,777,835     

As at June 30, 2025
Cost 8,046,399       16,070,146         50,662,534     385,019          1,305,497       660,736          77,130,331     

Accumulated depreciation -                 (6,439,866)          (20,731,402)    (149,748)         (573,883)         (457,597)         (28,352,496)    

Net book value as at June 30, 2025 4.4 8,046,399       9,630,280           29,931,132     235,271          731,614          203,139          48,777,835     

Depreciation per annum -                 10 to 33 10 to 33 10 to 12 10 to 33 20

 --------------------------------------------------------------------- (Rupees in '000) ---------------------------------------------------------------------

 Vehicles Total
 Leasehold 

land 

 Buildings and 
structures on 
leasehold land 

 Plant and 
machinery 

 Furniture and 
fixtures 

 Office 
equipment 

-------------------------- (Rupees in '000) --------------------------

 Leasehold 
land 

 Buildings and 
structures on 
leasehold land 

 Plant and 
machinery 

 Furniture and 
fixtures 

 Office 
equipment 

 Vehicles Total

------------------------------------------------------ ( % ) ------------------------------------------------------

 --------------------------------------------------------------------- (Rupees in '000) ---------------------------------------------------------------------
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4.1.2 Details of operating assets sold

Plant and machinery

37,809      2,454        1,139        (1,315)      Bidding

6,283        6,283        3,077        (3,206)      Bidding

2,883        1,129        1,000        (129)         Bidding

43,177      2,852        3,000        148           Bidding

191,708    49,019      14,294      (34,725)    Bidding

Items with written 
  down value below 
  Rs. 500,000

54,138      2,920        6,538        3,618        Bidding Various

As on June 30, 2025 335,998    64,657      29,048      (35,609)    

As on June 30, 2024 144,675    57,291      28,758      (28,533)    

4.1.3 Geographical locations and addresses of all immoveable properties owned by the Company are as follows;

Area Address

25.07 Acres Plot No. HT-4, Landhi Industrial Area, Landhi, Karachi

14.9 Acres Survey No. 82, Deh Landhi, Karachi

18.56 Acres Plot No. H-7, Landhi Industrial Area, Landhi, Karachi

44.04 Acres P.U. No. 48, 49, 50, & 51, Deh Khjanto Tapo Landhi, Karachi

4.17 Acres Plot No. H-19, Landhi Industrial Area, Landhi, Karachi

4,023.16 Sq. yards Plot No. H-19/1, Landhi Industrial Area, Landhi, Karachi

6.83 Acres Plot 368, 369 & 446, Deh Landhi, Karachi

12 Acres Plot - HT 3/A, Landhi, Karachi

51.1 Acres Plot No. H-5 and HT-6, Landhi Industrial Area, Karachi

Machine Paper 
Transfer Printing

Valitex (Pvt) Ltd.Air Jet Looms 
 Tsudakoma

Waukesha Gas 
  Engine 2nd Floor ,plot no-18,sector-47,korangi 

creek industrial area, Karachi

A/36-A, Mangopir Road, Site Karachi, 
Karachi West Site Town

R.A Engineering & Services Third party

Third party

Third party

Manufacturing facilities, warehouses, ancillary construction, administrative offices etc, are constructed on each of the above
mentioned land. 

Passenger Lift 

Waukesha Gas 
  Engine Plot # D-126 .Bawany Challi .Site 

Town, Karachi

11th Floor, Rimpa Plaza, M.A. Jinnah 
Road, Karachi

D-256, 273, Site, Karachi Pakistan

Awan Lift Company (Pvt) Ltd

Badar Processing Industries

Ams Enterprise

-------------- (Rupees in '000) -------------

 Particulars of 
assets 

 Cost 
 Written 

down 
value 

 Sale 
proceeds 

 Gain / 
(loss) on 
disposal 

Mode of 
disposal

Particulars of buyer
Relationship 
with buyer

Third party

Third party

4.1.1 Depreciation charge for the year has been allocated as follows:
2025 2024

Note

Cost of goods manufactured 26.1 4,338,904      4,265,756      
Selling and distribution cost 27 87                  100                
Administrative cost 28 219,820         184,761         

4,558,811      4,450,617      

-------------------------- (Rupees in '000) --------------------------
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2025 2024
4.2 Capital Work in progress (CWIP) Note

Plant and machinery 1,335,351 536,930         
Buildings and structures on leasehold land 762,391 60,261           
Others 19,030 9,711             

4.2.1 2,116,772       606,902         

4.2.1 The movement in capital work in progress is as follows:

Opening balance 606,902 2,251,995       

Capital expenditure incurred during the year

Plant and machinery 4.2.2 3,959,158 3,309,671       

Buildings and structures on leasehold land 1,181,689 696,859         

Others 345,301 473,418         

5,486,148       4,479,948       
Transfers to operating fixed assets during the year

Plant and machinery (3,160,737)     (4,433,375)     

Buildings and structures on leasehold land (479,558)        (1,246,791)     

Others (335,982)        (463,707)        

4.1 (3,976,277)     (6,143,873)     

Reclassification from operating fixed assets -                18,832           

Closing balance 2,116,772       606,902         

4.2.2

-------------------------- (Rupees in '000) --------------------------

This includes borrowing cost captalised during the construction period amounting to Rs. 123 million (June 30, 2024: Rs. 480
million). The effective rate of borrowing cost capitalised during the year was 15.98% (June 30, 2024: 18.60%) per annum.

2025 2024

4.3 The cost of fully depreciated operating fixed assets still in use:

Buildings and structures on leasehold land 114,059 114,059         

Office equipment 116,506             93,736 

Plant and machinery 506,814           506,814 

Vehicles 109                 109 

737,489         714,718         

4.4

-------------------------- (Rupees in '000) --------------------------

Plant and machinery, land and buildings are subject to first pari passu charge and a equitable mortgage amounting to Rs.
38,574 million as on June 30, 2025 (June 30, 2024: Rs. 38,574 million). These charges are against different financing
facilities obtained from various banks as disclosed in note 16 of these unconsolidated financial statements.
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2025 2024
5 INTANGIBLE ASSETS Note

- ACQUIRED

Cost 228,324 199,789         

Accumulated amortisation (182,840)        (161,538)        

Net book value as at 45,484 38,251           

Movement during the year
Additions - cost 16,934 28,535           

Amortisation charge for the year 5.1 (17,197)          (21,302)          

Net book value as at 45,221 45,484           

As at June 30
Cost 245,258 228,324

Accumulated amortisation (200,037)        (182,840)        

Net book value as at 45,221 45,484           

5.1

2025 2024
Note

Cost of goods manufactured 26.1 3,241             1,793             
Administrative cost 28 13,956 19,509           

17,197 21,302           

5.2 The cost of fully amortised intangible assets still in use

Software 169,125 101,562         

6 LONG TERM INVESTMENTS

Investment in subsidiary companies at cost
6.1 58,450 58,450           

 - Ideas (Private) Limited 6.2 3,462,756 3,462,756       
 - Gul Ahmed Ecotex (Private) Limited 6.3 2,841 -                
 - Gul Ahmed Ecofab (Private) Limited 6.3 2,841 -                
 - Gul Ahmed Circular FabrIcs (Private) Limited 6.3 4,573 -                

3,531,461 3,521,206

Investment at amortised cost
6.4 70,000 70,000           

3,601,461 3,591,206       

-------------------------- (Rupees in '000) --------------------------

-------------------------- (Rupees in '000) --------------------------

The cost is being amortised using straight line method over a period of five years and the amortisation charge has been
allocated as follows:

 - Gul Ahmed International Limited

 - Term Finance Certificate (TFC)

Gul Ahmed International Limited - FZC UAE, an unquoted company incorporated in United Arab Emirates (UAE),
is a wholly owned subsidiary (the subsidiary) of the Company. The Company has accounted for the investment in
subsidiary at cost as per IAS 27. Aggregate breakup value of the subsidiary as per its financial statements for the
year ended June 30, 2025 is Rs. 1,334 million (June 30, 2024: Rs. 1,265 million).

6.1

Ideas (Private) Limited, an unquoted company incorporated in Pakistan, is a wholly owned subsidiary of the
Company. The company has accounted for the investment in this subsidiary at cost as per IAS 27. Aggregate
breakup value of the subsidiary as per its financial statements for the year ended June 30, 2025 is Rs. 5,194
million (June 30, 2024: Rs. 5,081 million).

6.2
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These unquoted entities are wholly owned subsidiaries of the Company, incorporated in Pakistan during the year.
These entities are intended to be established under the Special Economic Zone (the Zone) and is presently in the
approval phase of the zone.

6.3

This represents Rs. 70 million (June 30, 2024: Rs. 70 million) invested in perpetual TFC issued by Habib Bank
Limited, which carries profit at the rate of 3Month KIBOR + 1.6% receivable on quarterly basis.

6.4

2025 2024
7 LONG TERM LOANS Note

Considered good
 - Due from executives 7.2 128,615 87,256           
 - Due from non-executives 9,227 3,828             

137,842 91,084           
Current portion 

 - Due from executives (108,001)        (69,871)          
 - Due from non-executives (8,354)            (3,274)            

11 (116,355)        (73,145)          
21,487 17,939           

-------------------------- (Rupees in '000) --------------------------

Loans and advances have been given for the purchase of cars and housing assistance in accordance with the
terms of employment and are repayable in monthly installments. These loans are secured to the extent of
outstanding balance of retirement benefit or guarantee by two employees. The loan tenor extends maximum upto
24 months.

7.1

Included in these are loans of Rs. 110.63 million (June 30, 2024: Rs. 48 million) to executives and Rs. 7.9 million
(June 30, 2024 : Rs. 3 million) to non-executive which carry no mark-up. The loans amounting to Rs. 17.98 million
(June 30, 2024: 39.2 million) to executives and Rs. 1.3 million to non-executives (June 30, 2024: Rs. 0.8 million)
carry mark-up at rates ranging from 12.08% to 20.14% ( 2024: 8.5% to 22.97%) per annum.

The maximum aggregate amount due from executives at the end of any month during the year was Rs. 129 million
(June 30, 2024: Rs. 87 million).

7.2

2025 2024
8 STORE, SPARES AND LOOSE TOOLS Note

Stores, spares and loose tools 2,755,637       2,380,844       

Stores-in-transit 5,535             13,296           

2,761,172 2,394,140       

Provision for slow moving / obsolete items 8.1 (35,715)          (95,818)          

2,725,457 2,298,322       

8.1 Movement in provision for slow moving / obsolete items

Opening balance 95,818 247,557         

Reversal of provision for the year - Cost of goods manufactured 26.1 (60,103)          (151,739)        

Closing balance 35,715 95,818           

-------------------------- (Rupees in '000) --------------------------
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2025 2024
9 STOCK-IN-TRADE Note

Raw material
- In hand 26.2 38,516,922     30,975,136     
- In transit 626,820         1,495,563       

Work-in-process 26.1 11,176,902     8,967,188       

Finished goods 26 10,591,231     7,688,200       

60,911,875 49,126,087     

Provision for slow moving - stock-in-trade / obsolete items 9.1 -                (112,009)        

9.2 60,911,875 49,014,078     

9.1 Movement in provision for slow moving

Opening balance 112,009         190,801         

Reversal of provision for the year 26.1 (112,009)        (78,792)          

Closing balance -                112,009         

-------------------------- (Rupees in '000) --------------------------

9.2 The stock includes inventory held with third party amounting to Rs. 5,179 million (June 30, 2024: Rs. 7,171 million).

2025 2024
10 TRADE DEBTS Note

Secured
Export debtors 4,918,658       2,999,337       

Local debtors 2,302,712       6,893,301       

10.5 7,221,370       9,892,638       

Unsecured
Export debtors 3,038,950       5,557,687       

Local debtors 12,044,543     9,299,141       

15,083,493     14,856,828     

22,304,863     24,749,466     

Expected credit loss 10.4 (149,301)        (182,359)        

10.6 22,155,562     24,567,107     

-------------------------- (Rupees in '000) --------------------------
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10.1 Details and aging analysis of the gross amounts due from related parties is as follows:

Total

Note
Export debtors

GTM USA Corporation 48,866         -              -              48,866         

GTM (Europe) Limited 2,598,530    -              -              2,598,530    

Sky Home Corporation - USA 257,439       -              -              257,439       
Vantona Home Limited 77,970         -              -              77,970         

2,982,805    -              -              2,982,805    

Local debtor
Ideas (Private) Limited 10.2 649,161       373,731       -              1,022,892    

3,631,966    373,731       -              4,005,697    

Total

Export debtors
GTM USA Corporation 78,799         10,295         -              89,094         

GTM (Europe) Limited 168,495       681             -              169,176       

Sky Home Corporation - USA 5,880          -              -              5,880          

253,174       10,976         -              264,150       

Local debtor
Ideas (Private) Limited 10.2 643,842       81,466         4,951,647    5,676,955    

897,016       92,442         4,951,647    5,941,105    

2025

------------------------------ (Rupees in '000) ------------------------------

More than 
181 days

31 to 180 
days

0 to 30 Days

More than 
181 days

31 to 180 
days

0 to 30 Days

------------------------------ (Rupees in '000) ------------------------------

2024

The amount outstanding is payable on demand and is subject to markup at the rate of KIBOR + 0.75% ( 2024:
KIBOR + 0.75%). The markup charged during the year is disclosed in note 31.2.

10.2

The maximum aggregate month end balance during the year due from related parties was Rs. 5,941 million (June
30, 2024: Rs. 9,040 million).

10.3

2025 2024
Note

10.4 Movement in expected credit loss against doubtful trade debts

Opening balance 182,359       412,119       

Reversal for the year 28 (33,058)       (229,760)      

Closing balance 149,301       182,359       

-------------------------- (Rupees in '000) --------------------------

Trade debts under irrevocable letter of credit, document acceptance, and other acceptable banking instruments
are considered secured.

10.5

This includes receivables provided to bank under bill discounting arrangement with full recourse amounting to Rs.
1,639 million (June 30, 2024: Rs. 4,598 million).

10.6
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2025 2024
Note

11 LOANS, ADVANCES AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

Loans and advances - considered good
Advances to suppliers 3,342,358 1,434,883       

Current portion of loans to employees 7 116,355         73,145           

3,458,713      1,508,028       
Other receivables

Letter of Credit and Bank Guarantee Margin 11.1 1,312,338      650,183         

Forward contracts -                332,315         

Accrued markup on Term Deposit Receipts (TDRs) 24,299           -                

Others 11.2 15,464           147,791         

1,352,101      1,130,289       

4,810,814      2,638,317       

-------------------------- (Rupees in '000) --------------------------

These include Term Deposit Receipts (TDRs) of Soneri Bank Limited amounting to Rs. 979 million. (2024: Rs. 550
million) placed against bank guarantee margin. The guarantee margin carries mark up at the rate of 10% to 11%
(2024: 14.35% to 19.75%) per annum.

11.1

This includes balance receivable from Hub Liquid Terminal (Private) Limited, a related party amounting to Rs. 9.13
million (2024: Nil)

11.2

2025 2024
Note

12 RECEIVABLES FROM GOVERNMENT

Sales tax refund 1,253,460      978,178         

Income tax refund 2,417,771      428,713         

Duty drawback and rebate 1,871,167      2,298,967       

5,542,398      3,705,858       

13 CASH AND BANK BALANCES

Cash in hand 10,879           11,387           

Balances with banks in current accounts
- Local currency 133,019         359,581         

- Foreign currency 22,531           4,908             

155,550         364,489         

13.1 & 13.2 166,429         375,876         

-------------------------- (Rupees in '000) --------------------------

This includes an amount of Rs. 17.93 million (June 30, 2024: Rs. 202.93 million) held by Shariah compliant banks.13.1

This includes balances held with related parties (associated banks due to common directorships) amounting to
Rs. 72.66 million (2024: Rs. 5.70 million).

13.2
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14 SHARE CAPITAL

2025 2024 2025 2024

14.1

5,000,000,000  5,000,000,000   50,000,000     50,000,000     

2025 2024 2025 2024

14.2

192,161,738     192,161,738     
1,921,617      1,921,617       

108,809,985     108,809,985     
1,088,100      1,088,100       

439,087,735     439,087,735     
4,390,877      4,390,877       

740,059,458     740,059,458     7,400,594      7,400,594       

Ordinary shares of Rs.10 each allotted for 
consideration paid in cash

Ordinary shares of Rs.10 each allotted as 
fully paid shares under scheme of 
arrangement for amalgamation (note 15.1)

Ordinary shares of Rs.10 each allotted as 
fully paid bonus shares

(Number of shares)

Ordinary shares of Rs.10 each

(Number of shares) -------------------------- (Rupees in '000) --------------------------

Authorised capital

Issued, subscribed and paid-up capital

-------------------------- (Rupees in '000) --------------------------

As at June 30, 2025, Gul Ahmed Holdings (Private) Limited, the parent company of Gul Ahmed Textile Mills
Limited, held 413,383,760 (June 30, 2024: 413,383,760) ordinary shares of Rs. 10 each, constituting 55.86% (June
30, 2024: 55.86%) of total paid-up capital of the Company. Number of shares held by the associated companies
and undertakings, other than holding company, aggregated to 99,476,824 (June 30, 2024: 99,476,824) ordinary
shares of Rs. 10 each.

14.2.1

As per the Honourable Sindh High Court's order, the Company held 3,471,541 (June 30, 2024: 3,471,541) out of
the total bonus shares issued for the year 2015, 2019 and 2021 to Gul Ahmed Holdings (Private) Limited, parent
company, and other parties, as these shareholders are part of the suit filed against the tax on bonus shares
imposed through Finance Act, 2014.

14.2.2

All these fully paid ordinary shares carry one vote per share and equal right to dividend.14.2.3

2025 2024
Note

15 RESERVES

Capital reserves

Amalgamation reserve 15.1 8,252,059      8,252,059       

Against long term investments, capacity expansion and BMR 15.2 23,000,000     23,000,000     

31,252,059     31,252,059     

Revenue reserve

Unappropriated profit 10,200,284     6,100,570       

41,452,343     37,352,629     

-------------------------- (Rupees in '000) --------------------------

This represents reserves created under the Scheme of Arrangement dated May 05, 2021 involving the Company,
Ideas (Private) Limited, Worldwide Developers (Private) Limited (WWDL), Grand Industries (Private) Limited and
Ghafooria Industries (Private) Limited, which was sanctioned by Honourable High Court of Sindh through order
dated October 29, 2021.

15.1
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The Board, in their meeting held on September 25, 2023, approved the creation of a reserve, for the purpose of
long term investments, Business Modernisation and capacity expansion, by transferring an amount of Rs. 23
billion from unappropriated profit to this reserve. Based on this decision, the reserves against long-term
investments, capacity expansions and BMR amounting to Rs. 23 billion have been separately disclosed as capital
reserve not available for distribution in these unconsolidated financial statements.

15.2

20242025
------ (Rupees in '000) ------Note LONG TERM FINANCING16

Secured
10,983,212 13,662,456 16.1From Banking Companies
3,562,997 2,826,322 16.2From Non-Banking Financial Institutions
3,279,314 2,781,877 16.3Financing under Temporary Economic Refinance Scheme Facility - Net of 

Government Grant
17,825,523 19,270,655 

(3,233,936)
(3,128,180)22Current portion shown under current 

liabilities
14,591,587 16,142,475 16.10
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Particulars Note
 Number of 
installments 

 Maximum Maturity 
Date 

 Aggregate
Installment

amount 

 Mark-up/profit rate 
per annum 

  
2025

 
2024

- (Rupees in '000) -

16.1 Banking Companies - Secured
Islamic

Dubai Islamic Bank May 06, 2032 173,079               Three months 4,700,000     -               
Under LTL scheme KIBOR ask rate + 0.3%

payable quarterly

Faysal Bank Limited 16.5, 16.7 & 16.9 32 quarterly November 01, 2030 28,128                 2.75% - 3.9% p.a. 485,178        645,711        
Under ILTFF scheme 
- Diminishing Musharaka

payable quarterly

Meezan Bank Limited 16.6, 16.8 & 16.9 32 quarterly September 13, 2032 91,054                 3.5% - 5.5% p.a. 2,174,863     2,529,595     
Under LTL and ILTFF scheme payable quarterly

Conventional

Askari Bank Limited 16.5, 16.8 & 16.11 August 12, 2027 25,163                 2.75% - 3.5% p.a. 453,209        553,368        
Under LTFF scheme payable quarterly

Bank Al-Habib Limited 16.7 16 half yearly October 22, 2027 13,519                 2.75% p.a. 81,109         108,147        
Under LTFF scheme payable half yearly

Bank Al-Falah Limited 16.4 & 16.8 16 half yearly December 26, 2032 58,964                 3% - 5.5% p.a. 550,482        668,409        
Under LTFF and LTL scheme payable half yearly

The Bank of Khyber 16.4 32 quarterly August 17, 2032 15,625                 5.5% - 8.5% p.a. 437,500        500,000        
Under LTL scheme payable quarterly

The Bank of Punjab 16.4 & 16.8 28 quarterly December 02, 2030 71,429                 3% p.a. 682,394        967,990        
Under LTFF scheme payable quarterly

Habib Bank Limited 16.6 & 16.7 August 09, 2032 50,655                 2.80% - 3.25% p.a. payable 966,207        1,163,250     
Under LTL and LTFF scheme half yearly and quarterly

MCB Bank Limited 16.6 & 16.8 32 quarterly February 23, 2031 9,596                  4.00% p.a. payable half yearly 201,637        240,179        
Under LTL scheme and quarterly

National Bank of Pakistan May 26, 2030 85,313                 2.75% - 2.80% p.a. 1,358,119     1,674,467     
Under LTFF scheme payable half yearly and

quarterly

Soneri Bank Limited 16.4 & 16.8 April 14, 2032 40,395                 3.50% - 5.0% p.a. 743,684        876,346        
Under LTFF scheme payable half yearly and

quarterly

United Bank Limited 16.5 & 16.8  16 half yearly March 21, 2032 64,452                 2.75% - 6.25% p.a. 754,021        912,670        
Under LTFF scheme payable half yearly and

quarterly

Samba Bank Limited 16.4, 16.8 & 16.11 10 and 16 half December 27, 2028 35,501                 3% p.a. payable 74,053         143,080        
Under LTFF scheme half yearly

13,662,456   10,983,212   

16.2 Non-Banking Financial Institutions - Secured

Pair Investment Company Limited 16.4, 16.6 &16.8 12 and 16 half October 15, 2029 65,392                 3.0%- 3.5% p.a. 311,699        419,341        
Under LTFF scheme payable half yearly

Pak Kuwait Investment Pvt.  Limited 16.4, 16.5 &16.8 32 quarterly September 25, 2032 62,189                 3.0%- 8.5% p.a. 960,562        1,211,540     
Under LTFF scheme  payable quarterly

Pak China Investment Pvt. Limited 16.4, 16.5 &16.8 32 quarterly November 22, 2031 44,763                 3.35% - 5.35% p.a. 1,079,118     1,261,065     
Under LTFF scheme  payable quarterly

Pak Brunei Investment Company Limited 16.4, 16.5 &16.8 16 half yearly July 28, 2027 36,524                  2.5% p.a 159,472        232,684        
Under LTFF scheme payable quarterly

Pak Oman Investment Company Limited 16.5 & 16.8 32 quarterly September 13, 2027 30,724                  2.75% p.a 315,471        438,367        
Under LTFF scheme payable quarterly

2,826,322     3,562,997     

16.3 Financing under Temporary Economic Refinance Scheme Facility - net of Government Grant

Habib Bank Limited 16.5 & 16.8 16 half yearly September 23, 2030 59,375                 2.25 % p.a. payable half yearly 637,854        750,163        

MCB Bank Limited 16.6 & 16.8 32 quarterly February 23, 2031 13,841                 3.00% p.a. payable quarterly 296,868        349,236        

MCB Islamic Bank Limited 16.6 & 16.8 32 quarterly January 19, 2031 9,375                  2.50% p.a. payable quarterly 201,416        236,889        
 

Bank of Punjab 32 quarterly December 02, 2030 31,250                 2.0 % p.a. payable quarterly 727,587        863,939        

Pak Kuwait Investment Pvt. Limited 32 quarterly September 25, 2032 9,464                  2.5% p.a. payable quarterly 187,579        223,491        

Pak China Investment Pvt. Limited 32 quarterly November 22, 2031 17,738                 2.50% p.a. payable quarterly 386,414        453,453        

16.4, 16.5 &16.8 32 quarterly April 27, 2031 15,357                 2.50% p.a payable quarterly 344,159        402,143        

2,781,877     3,279,314     

Saudi Pak Industrial And Agricultural 
Investment Company Limited

16.4, 16.5 &16.8

16.4, 16.5 &16.8

16.4, 16.5 &16.8

16.5, 16.8 & 16.9 24 and 36 
quarterly

20 and 32 
quarterly

20 and 32 
quarterly

--------------------- (Rupees in '000) ---------------------

32, 36 and 39 
quarterly

16.4,16.5,16.6 & 
16.8

16 half yearly and 
32 Quarterly 
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These loans are secured by first pari passu charge over present and future operating fixed assets of the Company.16.4

These loans are secured by charge over specified machinery.16.5

These loans are secured by first pari passu charge over present and future operating fixed assets of the Company
and equitable mortgage over land and building.

16.6

These loans are secured by charge over specified machinery of the Company and equitable mortgage over land
and building.

16.7

The financing availed under the facility is repayable within a maximum period of ten years including maximum
grace period of two years from the date when financing was availed.

16.8

These loans are obtained under Shariah compliant arrangements.16.9

Loans are subject to compliance of certain covenants including Debt Service Coverage ratio, Current ratio, Debt to
Equity ratio, Interest Cover, Maximum Gearing, Debt to EBITDA, Debt to Sales and are secured against the charge
over assets of the Company.

16.10

These represent financing obtained from related parties (associated banks due to common directorships) of the
Company.

16.11

2025 2024
Note

17 DEFERRED INCOME - GOVERNMENT GRANT

Opening balance 102,906           134,994         

Amortised during the year 30 (28,251)            (32,088)          

74,655             102,906         

Current portion shown under current liabilities 22 (24,035)            (28,251)          

Closing balance 50,620             74,655           

----------------- (Rupees in '000) ------------------

This represent government grant recognised on the concessionary refinance facility introduced by the State Bank
of Pakistan under a Temporary Economic Refinance Facility (TERF) for setting up of new industrial units and for
undertaking Balancing, Modernisation and Replacement and / or expansion of projects / businesses. These have
been accounted for as per the guidance issued by the Institute of Chartered Accountant of Pakistan (ICAP) in
respect of these loans.

17.1
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2025 2024
Note

18 DEFINED BENEFIT PLAN - STAFF GRATUITY

18.1

Opening balance 523,996           329,018         
Charge 18.2 264,743           238,199         
Remeasurement (gain) / loss 18.3 (76,940)            41,421           
Benefits paid (245,621)          (81,236)          
Benefits due but not paid -                  (3,406)            
Closing balance 466,178           523,996         

18.2 Charge for the year recognised in unconsolidated 
statement of profit or loss 

Current service cost 205,666           191,611         

Markup cost 59,077             46,588           
28.1 264,743           238,199         

2025 2024
18.3 Remeasurement (gain) / loss charged in unconsolidated 

statement of other comprehensive income

Actuarial (gain) / losses from changes in financial assumptions (1,683)              20,441           

Experience adjustments (75,257)            20,980           

(76,940)            41,421           

-------------------------- (Rupees in '000) --------------------------

-------------------------- (Rupees in '000) --------------------------

Reconciliation of the present value of defined benefit 
 obligation and movement in net defined benefit liability

Significant actuarial assumptions used18.4

Following significant actuarial assumptions were used for the valuation by an independent valuer that is "Nauman
Associates":

20242025

14.75%11.75%Discount rate used for year end obligation

16.25%14.75%Rate used for markup cost

20.00%10.00%Expected increase in salary

SLIC 2001-2005SLIC 2001-2005Mortality rates

Set back 1 YearSet back 1 Year

Age-BasedAge-BasedWithdrawal rates

Age 60Age 60Retirement assumption

The discount rate used in the last actuarial valuation as on June 30, 2024 was 14.75%. However, in the current
investment environment, where there is a downward trend in the interest rate structure, the discount rate has been
decreased to 11.75% per annum, in line with the specifications of the IAS-19.

Correspondingly, due to decrease in inflationary expectations, the rate of increase in eligible salary has been
decreased to 10.75% from 13.75% per annum.
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Associated risks18.5

Final salary risk (Linked to inflation risk)(a)
The risk that the final salary at the time of cessation of service is greater than what the Company assumed.
Since the benefit is calculated on the final salary (which will closely reflect inflation and other macroeconomic
factors), the benefit amount increases as salary increases.

Demographic risk(b)
Mortality risk - The risk that the actual mortality experience is different than the assumed mortality. This effect is
more pronounced in schemes where the age and service distribution is on the higher side.

Withdrawal risk - The risk of actual withdrawals experience is different from assumed withdrawal probability.
The significance of the withdrawal risk varies with the age, service and the entitled benefits of the beneficiaries.

General description18.6
The scheme provides retirement benefits to all its eligible employees of the Company who are not part of the
provident fund scheme and who have completed the minimum qualifying period of service (6 months). Actuarial
valuation of the scheme is carried out periodically and latest actuarial valuation was carried out at June 30, 2025.
The disclosure is based on information included in that actuarial report. The gratuity is measured on last drawn
salary multiplied by number of years of service.

Sensitivity analysis18.7
Reasonable possible changes at the reporting date to one of the relevant actuarial assumptions, holding other
assumptions constant (± 100 bps), would have affected the defined benefit obligation:

20242025
--------- (Rupees in '000) --------

7,098 6,502 Discount Rate + 100 bps
(7,366)(6,754)Discount Rate - 100 bps
(7,185)(6,503)Salary increase + 100 bps
7,044 6,371 Salary increase - 100 bps

Although the analysis does not takes into account of the full distribution of cash flows expected under the plan, it
does provide approximation of the sensitivity of the assumptions used.

Maturity profile18.8
Maturity profile on Defined Benefit Obligation as presented by actuary in the report;

20242025
-------- (Rupees in '000) ----------

321,496 N/A FY 2025-
258,322 278,916 FY 2026-
178,930 215,999 FY 2027-
123,968 146,144 FY 2028-

86,754 98,818 FY 2029-
61,650 67,340 FY 2030-
45,036 47,396 FY 2031-
31,222 32,144 FY 2032-
23,818 23,215 FY 2033-
17,535 16,462 FY 2034-
50,061 11,642 FY 2035-

N/A 30,986 FY 2036 onwards-

The average duration of the defined benefit obligation is 1 year.
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Estimated expenses to be charged to unconsolidated statement of profit or loss in financial year 2026:18.9

(Rupees in '000)

191,624 Current service cost
38,390 Mark up on defined benefit obligation

230,014 

20242025

--------- (Rupees in '000) --------NoteTRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES19

12,398,328 13,058,018 Creditors
6,386,921 7,237,324 Accrued expenses

3,686,367 3,686,367 19.1Gas infrastructure development cess payable
4,598,402 2,111,194 Payable to banks under bill discounting arrangement

216,692 228,104 19.2Due to related parties
345,459 295,120 19.3Workers' profit participation fund
117,148 121,537 19.4Workers' welfare fund

61,057 47,732 Payable to employees' provident fund trust
-64,902 Fair value of forward contracts

818,325 674,552 19.5Advance from customers
145,714 164,769 Taxes withheld

1,428 1,340 Others

28,775,841 27,690,959 

This represents Gas Infrastructure Development Cess (GIDC) that was levied through GIDC Act, 2015 (refer
note 24.4).

19.1

20242025
-------- (Rupees in '000) ---------Note

Due to related parties19.2
Subsidiaries

-32,346 GTM Europe, UK
16,166 38,469 GTM USA Corp.

105,369 104,203 Sky Home Corporation - USA
Associates

19,211 26,022 Win Star (Private) Limited
49,508 398 Swisstex Chemicals (Private) Limited
4,389 4,617 Grand Industries (Private) Limited
22,049 22,049 TPL Properties Limited

216,692 228,104 

Workers' profit participation fund19.3
Movement of balance during the year:

317,940 345,459 Opening balance
345,459 295,120 29Allocation

3,954 22,867 31Markup

667,353 663,446 

(321,894)(368,326)Payments 

345,459 295,120 Closing balance
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20242025

--------- (Rupees in '000) ---------Note

Workers' welfare fund19.4
Movement of balance during the year:

91,498 117,148Opening balance
117,149121,53729Allocation
208,647238,685

(91,499)(117,148)Payments

117,148121,537Closing balance

This includes advance received from Gul Ahmed International Limited (FZC), a related party, amounting to Rs. Nil
(June 30, 2024: Rs: 1.4 million).

19.5

20242025

--------- (Rupees in '000) ----------Note

ACCRUED MARK-UP / PROFIT20

192,003 192,314 Long term financing
1,199,640 596,107 Short term borrowings

1,391,643 788,421 20.1 & 20.2

This includes accrued markup of Rs. 102 million and Rs. 161 million (June 30, 2024: Rs. 81.1 million and Rs. 358.7
million) accrued in long term financing and short term borrowings respectively under Shariah Compliant
arrangements.

20.1

This includes accrued markup pertaining to related parties (associated banks due to common directorships)
amounting to Rs. 4 million and Rs. 82 million in respect of long term financing and short term borrowings respectively
(2024: Rs. 5 million and Rs. 257 million).

20.2

20242025

-------- (Rupees in '000) -----------Note

SHORT TERM BORROWINGS21

Local currency
5,142,246 2,478,795 Running finance

20,761,400 22,161,400 Export refinance scheme
3,773,206 4,204,545 Other short term finances

29,676,852 28,844,740 
Foreign currency

9,542,784 8,645,751 Export Facilitation Scheme
-783,043 Foreign Currency Import Finance

2,785,866 13,884,170 Foreign Currency Export Finance

42,005,502 52,157,704 21.1 to 21.3

This includes Istisna (Shariah Compliant) amounting to Rs. 14,844 million (June 30, 2024: Rs. 9,949 million) in
local currency.

21.1

Short term borrowings are secured by pari passu hypothecation charge over stores and spares, stock-in-trade,
trade debts and other receivables. Unavailed facility at the year end was Rs. 15,242 million (June 30, 2024: Rs.
2,874 million).

21.2
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Local currency borrowings markup ranges from 8% to 12.5% (June 30, 2024: 18% to 25%) per annum payable
quarterly, whereas, foreign currency borrowings markup range from 2.5% to 5% (June 30, 2024: 2.5% to 6%) per
annum.

21.3

These include balances pertaining to related parties (associated banks due to common directorships) amounting to 
Rs. 8,796 million (2024: Rs. 14,579 million).

21.4

20242025

------- (Rupees in '000) --------Note

CURRENT PORTION OF NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES 22

3,233,9363,128,18016Current maturity of long-term financing - secured
28,25124,03517Current maturity of deferred income - government grant

3,262,1873,152,215

23,505 23,505 23.1UNPAID DIVIDEND23

This represents amount held by the Company pertaining to the Petitioners of the suit filed in the Honourable High
Court of Sindh against the tax on bonus shares imposed through Finance Act 2014. The amount includes Rs. 18
million and Rs. 0.8 million (June 30, 2024: Rs. 18 million and Rs. 0.8 million) of parent company and an associated
company respectively.

23.1

CONTINGENCIES AND COMMITMENTS24

The Company owns and possesses a plot of land measuring 44.04 acres in Deh Khanto which is duly registered in
its name and appearing in the books at a cost of Rs. 83.86 million (June 30, 2024: Rs. 83.86 million). Ownership of
the land has been challenged in the Honourable Sindh High Court by Messrs. Karim Bux, Iqbal Rasheed and
Mansoor Munawar who claim to be the owners, as this land was previously sold to them and subsequently resold
to the Company. The legal consultant of the Company is of the view that the Company has a reasonable case and
is expecting favourable outcome, therefore, no provision has been made there against. In respect of the same land,
the Company has filed a suit in January 2021 for declaration and permanent injunction in the Honourable High
Court of Sindh, seeking the declaration that the Company is lawful owner of the said property and that the undated
notice issued by the Pakistan Railways for sealing and taking over the possession of the said property is of no legal
effect. The matter is at hearing stage and the legal consultant of the Company is of the view that the title of the
Company stands clear and there is no likelihood of unfavourable outcome.

24.1

The Company has filed a Petition in the Honourable Sindh High Court, dated 30 March 2008, against order passed
by the Board of Trustees, Employees' Old-Age Benefits Institution (EOBI) for upholding the unjustified additional
demand of payment raised by EOBI for accounting years 2000-2001 and 2001-2002 amounting to Rs. 50.83 million
(June 30, 2024: Rs. 50.83 million). This demand was raised after lapse of more than two years although the
records and books of the Company were verified by the EOBI to their entire satisfaction and finalisation of all
matters by EOBI. The Honourable Sindh High Court has restrained EOBI from taking any action or proceedings
against the Company. The legal consultant of the Company is of the view that the Company has a reasonable case
and is expecting favourable outcome therefore, no provision has been made there against.

24.2

The Federal Board of Revenue (FBR) vide SRO 491(I)/2016 dated June 30, 2016 made amendments in SRO
1125(I)/2011 dated December 31, 2011 for disallowance of input tax adjustment on packing material. The
Company has challenged the disallowance of input tax adjustments on packing material in the Sindh High Court
through suit No. 2381/2016 dated November 10, 2016 against Federation of Pakistan and others. The matter is
pending before the Honourable Court for final outcome, however provision has been made amounting to Rs.
431.88 million (June 30, 2024: Rs. 431.88 million) in these unconsolidated financial statements.

24.3
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The Company's review petition challenging the decision of High Court against the GIDC Act, 2015 had been
dismissed by the Supreme Court of Pakistan while also suspending the billing of levy from August 2020. The
court had ordered to pay the GIDC dues under the GIDC Act, 2015 with retrospective effect from December 15,
2011, in 48 monthly installments starting from August 2020. Total amount of the cess works out to Rs. 3.69 billion
on the basis that Company has both Industrial and Captive connections having different GIDC rates. However,
Oil and Gas Development Authority has ruled out that the consumers having supply of natural gas for industrial
use and having in-house electricity generation facility for self-consumption do not fall under the definition of
Captive as well as the Honourable Sindh High Court has also decided in favor of the Company on the issue of
Captive connections for self consumption. Therefore, management, based on the legal advice believes that
maximum liability of the Company in respect of GIDC will be Rs. 2.3 billion. The Company in September 2020
filed a suit in Honourable Sindh High Court challenging the chargeability of GIDC. The Honourable Sindh High
Court granted stay order and restrained Sui Southern Gas Company (SSGC) from taking any coercive action
against non-payment of installments of GIDC. However, the management on prudent basis has maintained a
liability of Rs. 3.69 billion (June 30, 2024: Rs. 3.69 billion) in these unconsolidated financial statements.

24.4

The Company has filed appeal before Commissioner Appeals Inland Revenue against the Order-In-Original vide
No. 04/176 of 2023 dated August 24, 2023 whereby demand of Rs. 30.5 million along with penalty and default
surcharge on the issue of dual adjustment of input tax claimed during the tax periods from September 2017 to
May 2022. The Company has claimed the said invoices but FBR has already deferred the input tax amount
against the said service invoices during the process of sales tax refund and the Company has not received any
input tax amount against said service invoices. Department also validates / verify the same deferred invoices with
FBR system. The matter is at hearing stage and the legal consultant of the Company is of the view that the title of
the Company stands clear and there is no likelihood of unfavourable outcome.

24.5

For the tax year 2016, FBR issued income tax amended order under section 122(1) of the Income Tax
Ordinance, 2001 on August 21, 2019, wherein certain provisions and expenses aggregating to Rs. 338.2 million
(having tax impact of Rs. 108.2 million) were added back to the income and super tax of Rs. 42.8 million was
also levied. The Company contested the matter in appeal and Commissioner Income Tax (Appeal) passed an
order in favor of the Company allowing the expenses aggregating to Rs. 290 million. However, Department had
filed an appeal in Appellate Tribunal on September 17, 2019 against the order which is still pending. The legal
consultant believes that the aforementioned matter will be ultimately decided in favor of the Company.
Accordingly, no provision is required to be made in the provision for taxation, in excess of the adjustment of Rs. 8
million recorded, in these unconsolidated financial statements.

24.6

The Federal Government, through the Finance Act, 2019, amended Section 65B of the Income Tax Ordinance, 
2001, reducing the rate of tax credit from 10% to 5% on investments made in the extension, expansion,
balancing, modernization, and replacement (BMR) of plant and machinery for Tax Year 2019. Further, the
availability of such tax credit was curtailed to June 30, 2019, whereas under the un-amended law, it was 
available up to June 30, 2021.

The Company, along with other petitioners, challenged the aforesaid amendment before the Honourable Sindh 
High Court through constitutional petitions filed for Tax Years 2019, 2020, and 2021. The Honourable Court 
granted interim relief, allowing the petitioners to file their income tax returns in accordance with the un-amended 
provisions of Section 65B. Consequently, the Company claimed tax credit at the rate of 10% in its income tax 
returns for the above-mentioned tax years.

24.7

On February 07, 2023, the Honourable Sindh High Court decided the matter, holding that tax credit under
Section 65B at the rate of 10% was allowable, subject to the condition that the letter of credit for import of plant
and machinery was established on or before June 30, 2019 and the installation was completed on or before June
30, 2021.

The Federal Board of Revenue (FBR) preferred an appeal before the Honourable Supreme Court, contending
that the applicable rate of tax credit should be restricted to 5% instead of 10%. Vide judgment dated 18
September 2024, the Honourable Supreme Court upheld the allowance of 10% tax credit only in respect of plant
and machinery imported and installed up to 30 June 2019, while disallowing the tax credit for Tax Year 2020.
Since the Company had derecognised the investment tax credit in previous years, now as a result of the
aforementioned judgement of the Supreme Court, the Company has recorded adjustment of Rs. 470.177 million,
for the said judgement in these unconsolidated financial statements (refer note 33).
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The Company, along with other petitioners, has challenged the retrospective increase of the rates of super tax for
tax year 2023 in the Honourable Islamabad High Court through Constitutional Petition. The Honourable High Court
has passed an interim order dated October 03, 2023 allowing the petitioners not to pay Super Tax in excess of the
rate prescribed in the ammendment under challenge and has restrained tax authorities, from taking any coercive
action against the Company. On March 15, 2024, the Honourable Islamabad High Court decided the case in
favour of the Company. The Federal Board of Revenue has filed an appeal before Divisional Bench of Islamabad
High Court against the above judgment which is pending for hearing. The amount of super tax involved is Rs. 946
million (June 30, 2024: Rs. 421 million).

24.8

The Supreme court, vide Order dated March 23, 2025 directed that all the petitioners and appeal pending at
different High court of the Country regarding Super Tax should be transferred to the Supreme Court of Pakistan.
Accordingly, the above mentioned case has also been, transferred to the Supreme Court of Pakistan.

The Company along with several other petitioners had filed a Constitution Petition on January 16, 2020 against
Karachi Water & Sewerage Board (KWSB) and others in the Honourable Sindh High Court against notification
dated October 30, 2019 issued by the KWSB whereby water charges were increased from Rs. 242 to Rs. 313 per
1000 gallons. Subsequently, the Company along with other petioners filed petition against KWSB notifications for
the years 2021 to 2024 of water rate enhancement. The Honourable Sindh High Court has restrained KWSB from
taking any coercive action against the Company and allowed the Company to pay the bills as per old rates. As
required under the Order, the Company provided banker's verified Cheques each month aggregating to Rs.
337.89 million (June 30, 2024: Rs. 211.72 million) for the rate difference. After detailed hearing now the judgment
has been reserved. The company, however has maintained full provision in these unconsolidated financial
statements, on prudence basis.

24.9

The Company, along with other petitioners, has challenged the imposition of Infrastructure Cess by the relevant
Excise and Taxation Officer, Karachi through petition dated May 28, 2011. Furthermore, the Company has also
filed petition against Sindh Infrastructure Cess levied through the Sindh Finance Act, 1994. During the year end
June 30, 2018 the Sindh Development and Maintenance of Infrastructure Cess Act, 2017 (the Act) was also
enacted by the Province of Sindh against which the Company also had filed constitutional petition dated October
14, 2017 and Honourable High Court of Sindh had allowed interim relief to the Company till final judgment has
been allowed in other similar petitions. However, based on the advice of legal consultant, full amount has been
provided in these unconsolidated financial statements. During the year, no progress was made in court
proceedings. The Bank Guarantee of Rs. 2,107 million as a security was given (June 30, 2024: Rs. 1,477 million).

24.10

The Company along with several other companies filed a suit in the Honourable Sindh High Court challenging the
notification via SRO No. (I) / 2015 dated August 31, 2015 regarding increase in the gas tariff, on November 16,
2015, which was decided by the Honourable Sindh High Court in favor of the Company and thereafter, the
Government filed an appeal in the Divisional Bench of the Honourable Sindh High Court against the decision,
which has also been decided in favor of the Company. As a matter of prudence, the Company has maintained a
full provision of the said notification amounting to Rs. 159.9 million (June 30, 2024: Rs. 159.9 million) in the
unconsolidated financial statements.

24.11

OGRA issued further notifications on December 30, 2016, September 17, 2018, October 23, 2020 enhancing the
rates. The Company, along with others, has filed petition in the Honourable Sindh High Court against the said
notifications.
For notification dated December 30, 2016, Honourable Sindh High Court granted interim relief and instructed
SSGC to revise the bills at previous rate and instructed the Company to deposit the differential amount cheques
with Nazir Sindh High Court as security. During the year, the Divisional Bench of Honorable Sindh High Court has
decided the case in favour of the Company vide judgment dated February 3, 2025. Simultaneously, the Divisional
Bench of Sindh High Court vide Judgment dated March 10, 2025, ordered that the Nazir of Sindh High Court
returns the cheques of Rs. 250.67 million which was deposited with Nazir, which have been received back by the
Company. SSGC has filed the appeal in Supreme Court against the judgment.

For notification dated October 23, 2020, on February 18, 2024, the Honourable Sindh High Court decided the case
against the Company. The Company filed an appeal in the Divisional Bench of the Honourable Sindh High Court
against the decision, which has also been decided against the Company dated March 28 2024. Now, the
Company has filed appeal in the Supreme Court against the judgment passed by the Divisional Bench of
Honourable Sindh High Court and the case is currently pending for hearing.
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On February 15, 2023, OGRA issued another notification revising the gas tariff with retrospective effect from
January 01, 2023. The Company, along with several other companies, has filed a suit in the Honourable Sindh
High Court challenging the increase in the gas tariff with retrospective effect. The Honourable Sindh High Court
has restrained SSGC from taking any coercive action against the Company. As a matter of prudence, the
Company has maintained a full provision of the said notification amounting to Rs. 174.4 million (June 30, 2024:
Rs. 174.4 million) in the unconsolidated financial statements.

On November 8, 2023, OGRA issued notification and increased the gas rate retrospectively from November 1,
2023. The Company along with others filed petition in the Honourable Sindh High Court against the notification
challenging the increase of gas tariff and its retrospective application from November 1, 2023. While the case is
currently pending for hearing before the Honourable Sindh High Court, however, the Company has paid increased
amount to SSGC with the understanding that incase the decision comes in favour of the Company, the SSGC will
either refund the excess amount or it will adjust in future bills post favourable decision.

While awaiting the decision for above case, on February 15, 2024, SSGC issued another notification to further
increase the gas tariff with retrospective application from February 1, 2024, where the Company again challenged
its retrospective charge from February 1, 2024. Subsequently, the Honourable Sindh High Court decided the case
of retrospective application under above notification in favour of the Company, which has been challenged by
SSGC in the Supreme Court of Pakistan and is currently, pending for hearing.

The Company along with several other companies filed a suit in the Honourable Sindh High Court challenging the
notification via SRO No. (I) / 2015 dated August 31, 2015 for charging of captive power tariff instead of Industry
tariff rate to the Company, as the Company is producing electricity entirely for its own consumption, on November
16, 2015, which was decided by the Honourable Sindh High Court in favor of the Company and thereafter, the
Government filed an appeal in the Divisional Bench of the Honourable Sindh High Court against the decision,
which has also been decided in favor of the Company. SSGC has filed the appeal in Supreme Court against the
judgement. As a matter of prudence, the Company has maintained a full provision of the said notification
amounting to Rs. 237.6 million (June 30, 2024: Rs. 237.6 million) in the unconsolidated financial statements.

24.12

The Company along with several other companies has filed a suit in the Honourable Sindh High Court challenging
the notifications dated December 30, 2016, September 17, 2018 and October 23, 2020 for charging of captive
power tariff instead of Industry tariff rate to the Company, as the Company is producing electricity entirely for its
own consumption. The Honourable Sindh High Court has passed the interim orders for not charging the Captive
power tariff rates and consequently restrained SSGC from taking any coercive action against the Company.

During the year, for OGRA Notification dated on December 30, 2016, the Divisional Bench of Honorable Sindh
High Court has decided the case in favour of the Company vide judgment dated February 03, 2025. SSGC has
filed the appeal in Supreme Court against the judgment. Simultaneously, the Divisional Bench of Sindh High Court
vide Judgment dated March 10, 2025, ordered that the Nazir of Sindh High Court returns the cheques of Rs.
388.57 million which was deposited with Nazir, which have been received back by the Company. SSGC has filed
the appeal in Supreme Court against the judgment.

OGRA issued another notification dated October 04, 2018 revising the tariff effective September 27, 2018, and
subsequent to this notification, the Company paid the bills accordingly at the specified rates.

The Company along with other Companies, have challenged the vires of the Off the Grid (Captive Power Plants)
Levy Ordinance, 2025 promulgated on January 30, 2025 and the notifications dated March 7, 2025 issued by the
Ministry of Energy in purported exercise of the powers conferred by section 3(1) of the Impugned Ordinance,
which imposes a levy, to be notified by Ministry of Energy, on the consumption of natural gas or RLNG by captive
power plants over and above the sale price of such natural gas or RLNG. The above case is still pending before
the Honourable Islamabad High Court. The Company, along with others, filed petition in the Honourable Sindh
High Court against the notification challenging with its retrospective implication from February 1, 2025. The
Honourable Sindh High Court has passed the interim orders for not charging the relevant amount for the month of
February 2025. The Bank Guarantee of Rs. 138.59 million (June 30, 2024 Rs. Nil) as a security was given , while
awaiting the decision for above case.

24.13
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Guarantees and others24.14

Guarantees of Rs. 5,464 million (June 30, 2024: Rs. 2,542 million) have been issued by banks on behalf of
the Company which are secured by pari passu hypothecation charge over stores and spares, stock-in-trade,
trade debts and other receivables. These guarantees include guarantees issued by related parties amounting
to Rs. 2,980 million (June 30, 2024: Rs. 1,154 million).

(a)

Post dated cheques of Rs. 30,298 million (June 30, 2024: Rs. 25,580 million) are issued to Custom Authorities
in respect of duties on imported items availed on the basis of consumption and export plans.

(b)

Bills discounted of Rs. 11,220 million (June 30, 2024: Rs. 13,451 million), including bills discounted from
related parties amounting to Rs. 3,643 million (June 30, 2024: Rs. 4,470 million).

(c)

Corporate guarantees of Rs. 264 million (June 30, 2024: Rs. 237 million), Rs. 1,129 million (June 30, 2024:
1,106 million) and Rs. 256 million (June 30, 2024: Rs. 251 million) have been issued to various banks in favor
of subsidiary companies - GTM (Europe) Limited - UK, Gul Ahmed International FZC - UAE and Sky Home
Corp- USA respectively.

(d)

20242025

--------- (Rupees in '000) ---------Note

Commitments24.15

761,3823,892,512Capital expenditure for plant and machineries

14,543,12222,222,45724.15.1Other than capital expenditure

21,344,805 9,183,71824.15.2Forward foreign exchange contracts

Other than capital expenditure includes commitments for purchase of raw materials and stores and spares.24.15.1

This includes forward foreign exchange contracts amounting to USD 30 million (2024: USD 33 million), equivalent
to Rs. 8,646 million (June 30, 2024: Rs. 9,543 million) obtained under pre-shipment exports. The Company is
obligated to provide export documents against such amount. The above liability has been appropriately recorded
under Export Facilitation Scheme and is disclosed in note 21 of these unconsolidated financial statements.

24.15.2

20242025

------- (Rupees in '000) ---------Note

REVENUE FROM CONTRACTS WITH CUSTOMERS25

Export sales
102,286,261 109,264,983 Direct

35,374,474 43,991,770 Indirect

137,660,735 153,256,753 

573,777 -Export rebate
(801,259)(1,121,015)Trade and other discount

(2,655,325)(2,329,273)Commission
(3,343,155)(6,712,615)Sales tax

131,434,773 143,093,850 

14,299,504 17,996,290 25.1Local sales
(407,153)(435,758)Brokerage 

(2,181,280)(2,749,663)Sales tax

11,711,071 14,810,869 

143,145,844 157,904,719 
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Local sales include revenue from in-house manufacturing services on behalf of third party of Rs. 1,178 million (2024:
Rs. 772 million).

25.1

Information with respect to disaggregration of revenue by internal segment and geographical location is disclosed in
note 35 and 36 respectively.

25.2

All revenue earned is from shariah permissible business.25.3

20242025

-------- (Rupees in '000) -------Note

COST OF SALES26

6,883,952 7,688,200 Opening stock of finished goods
126,759,070 141,829,329 26.1 & 26.3Cost of goods manufactured

133,643,022 149,517,529 

(7,688,200)(10,591,231)9Closing stock of finished goods

125,954,822 138,926,298 

Cost of goods manufactured26.1

86,694,918 95,926,405 26.2Raw materials consumed
8,515,916 9,768,021 Other material and conversion cost

384,074 143,443 Stores and spares consumed
15,676,029 17,421,083 28.1Salaries, wages and benefits
12,009,865 13,536,651 Fuel, power and water

212,099 265,317 Insurance
2,277,364 2,037,827 Repairs and maintenance
4,267,549 4,342,145 4.1.1 & 5.1Depreciation and amortisation
(151,739)(60,103)8.1Reversal of provision for slow moving - stores and spares

(78,792)(112,009)9.1Reversal of provison for slow moving - stock-in trade
433,392 770,263 Other manufacturing expenses

130,240,675 144,039,043 
Work-in-process (WIP)

5,485,583 8,967,188 Opening stock - WIP
(8,967,188)(11,176,902)9Closing stock - WIP

(3,481,605)(2,209,714)

126,759,070 141,829,329 

Raw materials consumed26.2

25,979,360 30,975,136 Opening stock - raw material
91,690,694 103,468,191 Purchases during the year

(30,975,136)(38,516,922)9Closing stock - raw material

86,694,918 95,926,405 

26.3 The Company carries out certain manufacturing, administrative and other activities for Ideas (Private) Limited, a
subsidiary of the Company, which is reimbursed to the Company. During the year, manufacturing activity
amounting to Rs. 61.01 million (2024: Rs. 57.96 million) was carrried out by the Company.
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ADMINISTRATIVE COST28

1,588,148 1,730,278 28.1Salaries, wages and benefits

123,114 139,190 28.2Rent and ancillary charges

28,296 14,767 Repairs and maintenance

587,009 561,232 Vehicle up keep and maintenance

3,992 4,154 Utilities

413,072 647,031 Traveling and conveyance 

86,438 78,647 Printing and stationery

251,264 247,361 Communication 

96,327 87,165 Legal and consultancy fees

204,270 233,776 4.1.1 & 5.1Depreciation and amortisation

22,641 17,578 28.4Auditor's remuneration

62,095 119,047 28.5 & 28.6Donations

60,721 70,540 Insurance 

(229,760)(33,058)10.4Expected credit loss

173,840 187,401 Other expenses

3,471,467 4,105,109 

28.1 Salaries, wages and benefits

2025 2024 2025 2024 2025 2024 2025 2024

16,703,102  15,035,100 855,708    780,098    1,674,299  1,536,326   19,233,109   17,351,524   

Retirement benefits

264,743       238,199      -            -            -             -              264,743        238,199        

346,978       306,483      37,633      33,840      55,854       51,722        440,465        392,045        

611,721       544,682      37,633      33,840      55,854       51,722        705,208        630,244        

106,260       96,247        39             17             125            100             106,424        96,364          

17,421,083  15,676,029 893,380    813,955    1,730,278  1,588,148   20,044,741   18,078,132   

------------------------------------------------------(Rupees in '000) ------------------------------------------------------

Salaries, wages and 
benefits

Staff compensated 
absences

Provident fund

Gratuity (note 18.2)

Cost of 
sales

Selling and 
distribution costs

Administrative 
costs

Total

This represents rent expense which comprises of variable rents, rent of certain short term and low value leases,
ancillary and maintenance charges incurred in respect of lease premises.

28.2

The Company carries out certain manufacturing, administrative and other activities for Ideas (Private) Limited, a
subsidiary of the Company, which is reimbursed to the Company. During the year, administrative activity
amounting of Rs. 11.53 million (2024: Rs. 65.63 million) was carried out by the Company

28.3

20242025

-------- (Rupees in '000) ---------Note

SELLING AND DISTRIBUTION COST27
813,955 893,380 28.1Salaries, wages and benefits

1,730,054 2,138,940 Freight and shipment expenses
319,255 419,272 Advertisement and publicity

100 87 4.1.1Depreciation
283,219 282,183 Export development surcharge
100,882 71,854 Other expenses

3,247,465 3,805,716 
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2025 2024

28.4 Auditor's remuneration

Audit fee 10,800      10,800      

Fee for review of condensed interim financial statements 2,160        2,160        

Fee for audit of consolidated financial statements 1,560        1,560        

Fee for review fee of statement of compliance with code of corporate governance 200          480          

Other certification fee 400          2,200        

Out of pocket expenses 2,458        5,441        

17,578      22,641      

-------------------------- (Rupees in '000) --------------------------

Donations include donations to the following organizations in which a director is a trustee:28.5

20242025Name of  DirectorInterest in DoneeName of Donee
----- (Rupees in '000) -----

8,785 4,002 Mr. Mohomed BashirCommon DirectorshipHabib University Foundation

250 400 Mr. Ziad BashirPatron in ChiefLandhi Association of 
Trade and Industry

During the year, the Company made donations amounting to Rs. 100 million to Indus Hospital & Health Network
(2024: Rs. 43 million to Saylani Welfare International Trust).

28.6

20242025
-------- (Rupees in '000) ---------Note

OTHER EXPENSE29

345,459 295,120 19.3Workers' profit participation fund (WPPF)
117,148 121,537 19.4Workers' welfare fund (WWF)
28,533 35,609 4.1.2Loss on sale of operating fixed assets

491,140 452,266 

OTHER INCOME30

Income from non-financial assets and others
-3,004 Scrap sales

32,088 28,251 17Government grant 
-1,008 Others

32,088 32,263 
Income from financial assets

16,481 11,819 30.1Mark-up income on TFC
1,462 -Dividend income

72,909 122,538 30.2Other markup income
1,217,615 848,806 Exchange gain from currency realisation

642,378 105,037 30.3Exchange gain from derivative financial instruments
1,950,845 1,088,200 

1,982,933 1,120,463 
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This includes profit earned on Shariah Compliant investment on TFCs.30.1

This includes markup income earned on interest bearing loan to employees (note 7.1) and Term Deposit Receipts
(note 11.1).

30.2

This includes unrealised exchange gain earned on coventional derivative instruments during the year amounting to
Rs. 64.9 million. (June 30, 2024: Rs. 332.31 million).

30.3

20242025
------- (Rupees in '000) --------Note

FINANCE COSTS31

Markup / profit on: 
3,497,277 3,898,992 31.1 & 31.2- Short term borrowings
1,013,013 710,319 - Long term financing

3,954 22,867 19.3- Workers' profit participation fund
912,212 1,443,451 Bank and other charges 

5,426,456 6,075,629 

Finance cost includes Rs. 790 million and 1,468 million (2024: Rs. 241.8 million and Rs. 1,183 million) in long term
financing and short term borrowing respectively under Shariah Compliant mode of financing.

31.1

The finance cost is exclusive of amount of Rs. 520.91 million (2024: Rs. 1,296.18 million) attributed to Ideas
(Private) Limited, a subsidiary company.

31.2

20242025
------ (Rupees in '000) --------

2,043,969 1,688,647 LEVIES32

This represents minimum tax paid (2024: Final tax) under sections 154 and 113 of ITO, representing levy in terms
of requirements of IFRIC 21/ IAS 37.

32.1

20242025
-------- (Rupees in '000) ---------Note

TAXATION33

27,890 438,490 Current tax
-(489,747)24.7Prior tax

27,890 (51,257)

(262,234)-33.3Deferred tax income

(234,344)(51,257)33.1

The Company is subject to Minimum Tax Regime under section 113 and section 154 of the Income Tax Ordinance,
2001, (2024: Final tax under section 154) for local and export sales. Accordingly, the relationship between tax
expense and accounting profit has not been presented in these unconsolidated financial statements.

33.1

The aggregate of minimum tax and income tax, amounting to Rs. 2,127.137 million (2024: Rs. 2,071.859 million)
represents tax liability of the Company calculated under the relevant provisions of the ITO, 2001.

33.2
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20242025Note
EARNINGS PER SHARE - basic and diluted34

4,727,802 4,022,774 Profit after taxation (Rupees in 000)
740,059,458 740,059,458 14.2Weighted average outstanding shares (Number)

6.39 5.44 Earnings per share - basic and diluted (Rupees)

There is no dilutive effect on the earnings per share of the Company, as the Company has no potential ordinary
shares.

34.1

SEGMENT INFORMATION35

The Company's operations has been divided into three segments are given below based on the nature of process
and internal reporting. Following are the reportable business segments:

Production of different qualities of yarn using both natural and artificial fibres.Spinning:a)

Production of different types and qualities of products falling under the definition of
home textile.

Home Textile:b)

Weaving, Fiber Bleaching, Knitting, Apparel, Yarn dyeing and Dyed yarn fabric etc.Others:c)

Transactions among the business segments are recorded at cost.

As per the guidelines issued by Institute of Chartered Accountants of Pakistan on application of IAS 12 'Application
Guidance on Accounting for Minimum Taxes and Final Taxes', no deferred tax is required to be booked as the
Company, based on the projections of taxable income, is expected to be taxed under Minimum Tax u/s 113 of the
Income Tax Ordinance, 2001 for the foreseeable future. Hence the Company has not recorded any deferred tax
liability as at June 30, 2025 and June 30, 2024.

33.3
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Non-current assetsRevenue
2024202520242025

------------------------ (Rupees in '000) -------------------------
INFORMATION BY GEOGRAPHICAL AREA36

53,765,582 54,650,566 44,149,543 52,525,782 Pakistan

--30,637,887 32,265,194 Germany

--13,903,167 13,090,843 United States

--11,462,356 11,888,340 United Kingdom

--9,268,684 8,872,670 Italy

--7,146,621 7,571,900 France

--4,802,197 7,021,034 Netherlands

--5,228,578 6,020,894 Denmark

--5,058,486 5,469,602 Poland

--2,125,559 3,654,145 Sweden

--2,944,500 3,009,965 Spain

58,450 58,450 9,708,226 10,400,396 Other countries

53,824,032 54,709,016 146,435,804 161,790,765 

20242025

------ (Rupees in '000) ------Note
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS37

375,876 166,429 13Cash and bank balances
(5,142,246)(2,478,795)21Running finance
(4,766,370)(2,312,366)

CHANGES ARISING FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES37.1

2025
Non-cash 
changes

Financing cash 
outflows

Financing cash 
inflows, net

2024

--------------------- (Rupees in '000) ---------------------Note

19,345,310 -(3,283,119)4,700,000 17,928,429 16 & 17
Long-term finance and 
deferred government 
grant

49,678,909 --12,815,653 36,863,256 21 
Short term borrowings 
– net

2024
Non-cash 
changes

Financing cash 
outflows

Financing cash 
inflows, net

2023

----------------- (Rupees in '000) -----------------Note

17,928,429 -(5,777,758)358,000 23,348,187 16 & 17
Long-term finance and 
deferred government 
grant

36,863,256 --8,403,987 28,459,269 21 
Short term borrowings 
- net
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38 REMUNERATION OF CHIEF EXECUTIVE, DIRECTORS AND EXECUTIVES

Managerial remuneration 16,000  12,000  1,496,804 1,524,804 16,000    12,000 1,285,743   1,313,743    

Performance bonus 1,333    1,000    124,734    127,067    1,333     1,000   84,436       86,769        

House rent allowance 6,400    4,800    598,722    609,922    6,400     4,800   514,297      525,497       

Other allowances 1,600    1,200    408,045    410,845    1,600     1,200   407,250      410,050       

1,333    1,000    119,402    121,735    1,333     1,000   102,592      104,925       

26,666  20,000  2,747,707 2,794,373 26,666    20,000 2,394,318   2,440,984    

Persons 1 1          598 600          1 1 483 485             

--------------------------------------------------------------------------------- (Rupees in '000) ---------------------------------------------------------------------------------

 2025  2024
Chief 

Executive
Director Executives Total

Chief 
Executive

Director Executives Total

Contribution to provident 
fund

--------------------------------------------------------------------------------- (Number) ---------------------------------------------------------------------------------

The Chief Executive and Directors are provided with Company maintained vehicles and are also covered under
Company's Health Insurance Plan along with their dependents. The Chief Executive is also provided with free
residential telephones.

38.1

Aggregate amount charged during the year in respect of meeting fee to Four Non-Executive Directors and the
Chairman was Rs. 8.6 million (2024: Four Non Executive Directors and Chairman amounting to Rs. 7.7 million).

38.2

Executive means an employee, other than the chief executive and directors, whose basic salary exceeds Rs.1.2
million in a financial year.

38.3

TRANSACTIONS WITH RELATED PARTIES39

Related parties comprise of subsidiaries, associated companies, companies where directors also hold directorship,
directors of the Company and key management personnel. The Company in the normal course of business carries out
transactions with various related parties as per agreed rates. Details of related party transactions other than those
disclosed elsewhere in these unconsolidated financial statements are as follows:
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2025 2024

Sale of goods and services 1,781,679      1,403,220         

Sale of goods -                7,603               

Sale of goods 4,273,298      3,029,350         

5,285,156      3,234,764         

Commission 191,888         92,968             

169,910         127,431           

GTM USA Corporation Sale of goods 762,588         792,209           

Sky Home Corp.  - USA Sale of goods 659,905         497,444           

Commission 380,082         377,096           

Associated company Rent expense 600               2,648               

Purchase of goods 106,868         196,859           

Services rendered -                15,000             

Win Star (Private) Limited Associated company Purchase of goods 31,893           31,169             

Haji Ali Mohammad Foundation Associated company Rent paid 960               960                  

Associated company Fees paid 2,500            2,500               

2025 2024

Habib Metropolitan Bank Limited Associated company Bills discounted 17,804,583    23,026,343       

Finance cost 203,159         252,719           

Askari Bank Limited Associated company Bills discounted 4,554,017      2,361,162         

Finance cost 269,052         414,904           

Samba Bank Limited Associated company Bills discounted 420,155         169,874           

Finance cost 58,251           81,167             

Associated company Bills discounted 3,915,018      1,696,905         

Finance cost 432,123         468,738           

Associated company 440,465         392,046           

International Cotton Association Associated company Fees paid 693               643                  

Pakistan Textile Council Associated company Membership fees 2,500            1,250               

Associated company Fees paid 2,172            2,222               

Associated company Fees paid 60                 60                    

Subsidiary company

Subsidiary company

International Textile Manufacturers 
Federation

Vantona Home Limited Subsidiary company

Subsidiary company

Standard Chartered 
Pakistan Limited

Subsidiary company

Landhi Association of Trade and 
Industry

(Rupees in '000)

Name of the related party Relationship with 
related party

Transactions during the year
---------------- (Rupees in '000) ---------------

GTM (Europe) Limited - UK

Name of the related party
Relationship with 
related party

Transactions during the year

Company's contribution to provident 
fund

Gul Ahmed Textile Mills Limited 
Employees Provident Fund

The Pakistan Business Council

Grand Industries (Pvt) Limited

Associated companySwisstex Chemicals (Private) Limited

Sales through subsidiaries acting 
as agents

Sales through subsidiaries acting 
as agents

Subsidiary companyGul Ahmed International Limited 
(FZC) - UAE

Ideas (Private) Limited

39.1 There were no transactions with the directors of the Company and the key management personnel other than
under the terms of employment. Loans and remuneration of the directors, key management personnel and
executives are disclosed in notes 7 and 38 respectively.
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39.2

Company name Basis of relationship shareholding
(%) 

Gul Ahmed Holdings (Private) Limited Parent company 55.86%
Ideas (Private) Limited Wholly owned subsidiary 100%
Gul Ahmed Ecotex (Private) Limited Wholly owned subsidiary 100%
Gul Ahmed Ecofab (Private) Limited Wholly owned subsidiary 100%
Gul Ahmed Circular FabrIcs (Private) Limited Wholly owned subsidiary 100%
Habib Metropolitan Bank Limited (HMBL) Common directorship -

Askari Bank Limited (ABL) Common directorship -
Samba Bank Limited (SBL) Common directorship -
Standard Chartered Pakistan Limited (SCPL) Common directorship -
Swisstex Chemicals (Private) Limited Common directorship 2.99%
Arwen Tech. (Private) Limited Common directorship -
Win Star (Private) Limited Common directorship -
Hub Liquid Terminal (Private) Limited Subsidiary of Parent company -
TPL Properties Limited Common directorship -
Habib University Foundation Common directorship -
The Pakistan Business Council Common directorship -
Pakistan Textile Council Common directorship -
Ghafooria Industries (Private) Limited 2.17%

Pakistan
Pakistan
Pakistan

Pakistan
Pakistan
Pakistan
Pakistan

Following are the related parties with whom the Company had entered into transactions or have arrangements / agreements in place.

Group company and common Pakistan

Pakistan
Pakistan

Pakistan
Pakistan

Pakistan
Pakistan
Pakistan
Pakistan
Pakistan
Pakistan

Country of 
Incorporation

Company name Basis of relationship shareholding
(%) 

LITE Development and 
  Management Company

Common directorship -

Grand Industries (Private) Limited 7.86%

Haji Ali Mohammad Foundation Member of Foundation -

Gul Ahmed Holdings (Private) Limited Holding company -

Gul Ahmed Textile Mills 
  Limited Employees 

Parent company -

Provident Fund Trust Employees fund 0.42%

Gul Ahmed International 
  Limited (FZC) - UAE

Wholly owned subsidiary 100%

GTM (Europe) Limited Wholly owned ultimate subsidiary 100%

GTM USA Corp. Wholly owned ultimate subsidiary 100%

Sky Home Corp. Wholly owned ultimate subsidiary 100%

Vantona Home Limited Wholly owned ultimate subsidiary 100%

JCCO 406 Limited Wholly owned ultimate subsidiary 100%

International Cotton Association Common directorship -

Mohomed Bashir Director 0.07%

Mohammed Zaki Bashir Director 0.34%

Zain Bashir Director 0.34%

Ziad Bashir Director 0.00%

Ehsan A. Malik Director 0.00%

Zeeba Ansar Director 0.00%

Kamran Y. Mirza Director 0.00%

Pakistan

United Kingdom

UK

UK

UAE

USA

USA

UK

Group company and major 
shareholders

Pakistan

Pakistan

Pakistan

Pakistan

Pakistan

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

Country of 
Incorporation
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40 CAPACITY AND PRODUCTION

Capacity Production Capacity Production

Spinning             Kgs. 98,277      92,433      3 shifts 98,277   93,227           3 shifts
(20 Counts converted)

Weaving        Sq. meters 239,649    219,048    3 shifts 234,987 213,103         3 shifts
(50 Picks converted)

Working

 2025  2024
            Unit

-------------------------------------------- (Rupees in '000) --------------------------------------------

Working

Production is lower as compared to capacity due to variation in production mix and various technical and market
factors.

The production capacity and its comparison with actual production of Processing, Home Textile and Apparel segments
is impracticable to determine due to varying manufacturing processes, run length of order lots and various other
factors.

20242025

--------- (Numbers) ---------

NUMBER OF PERSONS EMPLOYED41

16,082 15,496 As at

15,907 15,802 Average during the year

PROVIDENT FUND RELATED DISCLOSURES42

The investment out of provident fund have been made in accordance with the provisions of section 218 of the Act, and
the conditions specified thereunder.
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FINANCIAL ASSETS AND LIABILITIES43

Financial assets and liabilities of the Company as at June 30, 2025 are as follows:

2025

Total
Non interest/mark-up/profit bearing Interest/mark-up/profit bearing

Sub total 
Maturity after 

one year 
Maturity up to 

one year 
Sub total

Maturity after 
one year

Maturity up to 
one year

--------------------------------------------------------------- (Rupees in '000) ---------------------------------------------------------------Note
Financial assets

At amortised cost
70,000 ---70,000 70,000 -6Long term investments

137,842 118,557 10,289 108,268 19,285 11,198 8,087 7Long term loans
1,352,101 332,637 -332,637 1,019,464 -1,019,464 11Other receivables

146,240 146,240 146,240 ----Long term deposits
22,155,562 21,132,670 -21,132,670 1,022,892 -1,022,892 10Trade debts

166,429 166,429 -166,429 ---13Cash and bank balances

At Fair value through profit or loss
-------Short term investments
-------Forward contracts

24,028,174 21,896,533 156,529 21,740,004 2,131,641 81,198 2,050,443 

Financial liabilities

At amortised cost
19,270,655 ---19,270,655 16,142,475 3,128,180 16Long term financing

Trade and other payables (other than fair value
22,683,712 22,683,712 -22,683,712 ---19of forward contracts)

788,421 788,421 -788,421 ---Accrued mark-up / profit
52,157,704 ---52,157,704 -52,157,704 21Short term borrowings

9,365 9,365 -9,365 ---Unclaimed dividend

23,505 23,505 -23,505 ---23Unpaid dividend 

At Fair value through profit or loss
64,902 64,902 -64,902 ---19Fair value of forward contracts

94,998,264 23,569,905 -23,569,905 71,428,359 16,142,475 55,285,884 

Financial assets and liabilities of the Company as at June 30, 2024 are as follows:

2024

Total
Non interest/mark-up/profit bearing Interest/mark-up/profit bearing

Sub total 
Maturity after 

one year 
Maturity up to 

one year 
Sub total

Maturity after 
one year

Maturity up to 
one year

--------------------------------------------------------------- (Rupees in '000) ---------------------------------------------------------------Note
Financial assets

At amortised cost
70,000 ---70,000 70,000 -6Long term investments
91,084 51,525 1,814 49,711 39,559 16,125 23,434 7Long term loans

Other receivables (other than forward
797,974 176,322 -176,322 621,652 -621,652 11contracts)

145,595 145,595 145,595 ----Long term deposits
24,567,107 18,890,152 -18,890,152 5,676,955 -5,676,955 10Trade debts

375,876 375,876 -375,876 ---13Cash and bank balances

At Fair value through profit or loss
1,243 1,243 -1,243 ---Short term investments

332,315 332,315 -332,315 ---Forward contracts
26,381,194 19,973,028 147,409 19,825,619 6,408,166 86,125 6,322,041 

Financial liabilities

At amortised cost
17,825,523 ---17,825,523 14,591,587 3,233,936 16Long term financing
23,662,828 23,662,828 -23,662,828 ---19Trade and other payables
1,391,643 1,391,643 -1,391,643 ---Accrued mark-up / profit

42,005,502 ---42,005,502 -42,005,502 21Short term borrowings
9,840 9,840 -9,840 ---Unclaimed dividend
23,505 23,505 -23,505 ---23Unpaid dividend 

At Fair value through profit or loss
-------19Fair value of forward contracts

84,918,841 25,087,816 -25,087,816 59,831,025 14,591,587 45,239,438 
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FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS AND RELATED DISCLOSURES44

Financial risk management objectives

The Company's activities expose it to a variety of financial risks: market risk (including foreign exchange risk,
markup risk and price risk), credit risk and liquidity risk. The Company's overall risk management program focuses
on the unpredictability of financial markets and seeks to minimise potential adverse effects on the Company's
financial performance.

Risk Management is carried out under policies and principles approved by the Board. All treasury related
transactions are carried out within the parameters of these policies and principles.

The information about the Company's exposure to each of the above risk, the Company's objectives, policies and
procedures for measuring and managing risk and the Company's management of capital are as follows:

Market risks44.1

Market risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of the financial instrument may fluctuate as a result of
changes in market interest / markups rates or the market price due to change in credit rating of the issuer or the
instrument, change in market sentiments, speculative activities, supply and demand of securities, and liquidity in the
market. Market risk comprises of three types of risks: currency risk, markup risk and other price risk. The Company
is exposed to currency risk and markup risk only.

Currency riska)

Foreign currency risk represents the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will
fluctuate because of changes in foreign exchange rates. Foreign currency risk arises mainly from future
economic transactions or receivables and payables that exist due to transactions in foreign exchange.

Exposure to foreign currency risk

The Company is exposed to foreign currency risk arising from foreign exchange fluctuations due to the following
financial assets and liabilities:

20242025

--- (Equivalent USD 000s) ---

30,19428,461Trade debts
1781Cash and bank balances

(43,564)(83,529)Short term borrowing
(429)(627)Trade and other payables

(13,782)(55,614)Net exposure

The Company manages foreign currency risk through close monitoring of the exchange rates, adjusting net
exposure and obtaining forward covers where necessary.

20242025

------ (Rupees in '000) ------
Foreign currency commitments and guarantees outstanding 
at year end are as follows:

96,879124,871USD-
500500EURO-

14,60014,600AED-
250250GBP-
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20242025

------- (Rupees in '000) -------
The following significant exchange rates were applied during the year:

Rupee per USD
283.4 / 283.0279.6 / 279.1Average rate (Selling / Buying)
278.6 / 278.1283.9 / 283.5Reporting date rate (Selling / Buying)

Rupee per EURO
306.7 / 306.2304.1 / 303.7Average rate (Selling / Buying)
297.8 / 297.4333.1 / 332.6Reporting date rate (Selling / Buying)

Rupee per GBP
356.5 / 357.2361.7 / 361.1Average rate (Selling / Buying)
356.9 / 356.4389.7 / 389.1Reporting date rate (Selling / Buying)

Rupee per AED
75.8 / 75.776.1 / 76.0Average rate (Selling / Buying)
77.2 / 77.177.3 / 77.2Reporting date rate (Selling / Buying)

Foreign currency sensitivity analysis

A five percent strengthening / weakening of the PKR against the USD at June 30, 2025 would have
increased / decreased the equity and profit / loss after tax by Rs. 778 million ( 2024: Rs. 195 million). This
analysis assumes that all other variables, in particular markups, remain constant. The analysis is performed
on the same basis for June 30, 2024.
The sensitivity analysis prepared is not necessarily indicative of the effects on profit for the year.

Interest rate riskb)

Interest rate risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of financial instruments will fluctuate due to
change in the interest rates. The Company has long term finance and short term borrowings at fixed and
variable rates.

The Company is mainly exposed to interest rate risk on short term financing under variable rate
arrangements and these are covered by holding "Prepayment option" and "Rollover option", which can be
exercised upon any adverse movement in the underlying interest rates.

Financial assets include balances of Rs. 2,132 million (June 30, 2024: Rs. 6,408 million) which are subject to
interest rate risk. Financial liabilities include balances of Rs. 71,428 million (June 30, 2024: Rs. 59,831
million) which are subject to interest rate risk. Applicable interest rates for financial assets and liabilities are
given in respective notes.

Cash flow sensitivity analysis for variable rate instruments

At June 30, 2025, if markups on interest bearing financial instruments would have been 1% higher / lower
with all other variables held constant, post tax profit for the year would have been Rs. 693 million (2024: Rs.
534 million) lower / higher, mainly as a result of higher / lower interest expense on floating rate borrowings.

Fair value sensitivity analysis for fixed rate instruments

The Company does not account for any fixed rate financial assets and liabilities at fair value through profit or
loss. Therefore, a change in markup at the reporting date would not effect unconsolidated statement of profit
or loss of the Company.
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Other price riskc)
Price risk represents the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate
because of the changes in market prices (other than those arising from interest or currency rate risk) whether
those changes are caused by factors specified to the individual financial instrument or its issuer or factors
affecting all similar financial instruments traded in the market. As at June 30, 2025, the Company is not
exposed to other price risk.

Credit risk44.2
Credit risk is the risk that one party to a financial instrument will cause a financial loss for the other party by failing to
discharge an obligation without considering the fair value of the collateral available there against. Concentration of
credit risk arises when a number of counter parties are engaged in similar business activities or have similar
economic features that would cause their ability to meet contractual obligations to be similarly affected by changes
in economic, political or other conditions.

Exposure to credit risk
Company's operating activities exposes it to credit risks arising mainly in respect of long term investments, loans
and other receivables, trade debts, long term deposits and bank balances. The maximum exposure to credit risk at
the reporting date is as follows:

20242025
------- (Rupees in '000) -------Note

70,000 70,000 6Long term investments
1,130,289 1,352,101 Other receivables

91,084 137,842 Long term loans
145,595 146,240 Long term deposits

24,567,107 22,155,562 10Trade debts
364,489 155,550 13Bank balances

26,368,564 24,017,295 
The Company manages credit risk as follows:

Loans and other receivables
These are due from employees and are recovered in monthly installments deductible from their salaries. Retirement
balances are also available for these employees against which balance can be adjusted incase of default. The
Company actively pursues for the recovery of these loans and the Company does not expect that these employees
will fail to meet their obligations, hence the management believes no impairment allowance is required there
against.

Other receivables include bank guarantee margin Letter of Credit and miscellaneous receivables which are neither
past due nor impaired. The Company believes that based on past relationship, credit rating and financial soundness
of the counter parties chances of default are remote and also there is no material impact of changes in credit risks of
such receivables so no impairment allowance is necessary in respect of these advances and receivables.

Long term deposits
These are mainly held for rental premises and utilities with the counter parties which have long association with the
Company and have a good credit history. The management does not expect to incur credit loss there against.

Trade debts
Trade debts are due from local and foreign customers. The Company manages credit risk inter alia by setting out
credit limit in relation to individual customers, by obtaining advance against sales and / or through letter of credits
and / or by providing impairment allowance for life time expected credit loss on trade debts.

Trade debts under irrevocable letter of credit, document acceptance and other acceptable banking instruments are
considered secured. Further the majority of the customers have been transacting with the Company for several
years. The Company actively pursues for the recovery of the trade debt and based on past experience and business
relationship and credit worthiness of these customers, the Company does not expect these customers will fail to
meet their obligations except for some past due trade debts against which adequate allowance for impairment has
been made.
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The Company has established an allowance for expected credit losses against trade debts that represent its
estimate of expected losses based on actual credit loss experience in respect of trade debts based on the last 3
years. The allowance determined is then multiplied by the weighted average macroeconomic factors for the three
developed scenarios namely "Base", "Best" and "Worst" to incorporate the forward-looking information in expected
credit loss model. The macroeconomic factors used include GDP Forecast, Unemployment Forecast, Inflation Rate
Forecast and Exchange Rate Forecast. The Company has aging of the trade debts of the Company outstanding as
at year end is as follows:

20242025

Impairment loss 
allowance 

Gross carrying
amount 

Impairment loss 
allowance 

Gross carrying
amount 

-------- (Rupees in '000) --------------- (Rupees in '000) -------

-9,892,638-7,221,370Secured

Unsecured
1711,471,25949,942,688Current

6242,194,2404064,320,0281-30 Days

9,973700,8405,909628,49931-60 Days

57,760376,50424841,00161-90 Days

113,985113,985142,734151,277More than 90 Days

182,35914,856,828149,30115,083,493

182,35924,749,466149,30122,304,863

Management believes that the unimpaired balances that are past due are still collectable in full, based on historical
payment behavior and review of financial strength of respective customers. Further, certain trade debtors, which have
been derecognised as a result of bills discounting, are secured by way of Export Letter of Credit and Inland Letter of
Credit, which can be called upon if the counter party is in default under the terms of the agreement.

Long term investment and bank balances
The Company limits its exposure to credit risk by maintaining bank accounts and investing only with counter-parties that
have stable credit rating.
The long term investment and bank balances along with credit ratings are tabulated below:

20242025
--------- (Rupees in '000) -----------Note

Long term investment
70,000 70,0006.4AAA

Bank balances
41,77374,783 AAA
5,70061,844 AA+

76514,197 AA
75,7112,492 AA-

180,254 1,834 A+
184 -A1

60,102 400 BBB-

364,489 155,550 

434,489225,550 

Given these high credit ratings, management does not expect that any counter party will fail to meet their obligations.
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Concentration of credit risk

Credit risk is the risk that one party to a financial instrument will fail to discharge an obligation and cause the other
party to incur a financial loss, without taking into account the fair value of any collateral. Concentration of credit risk
arises when a number of counter parties are engaged in similar business activities or have similar economic
features that would cause their ability to meet contractual obligations to be similarly affected by changes in
economic, political or other conditions. Concentrations of credit risk indicate the relative sensitivity of the
Company's performance to developments affecting a particular industry. The Company's exposure to a single
customer exceeding 10% of the total exposure amounts to Rs. 2,436 million (2024: 2,790 million).

Credit risk of the Company arises principally from long term investments, loans and other receivables, trade debts,
long term deposits and bank balances.

Liquidity risk44.3

Liquidity risk represent the risk where the Company will encounter difficulty in meeting obligations associated with
financial liabilities when they fall due. The exposure to liquidity risk along with their maturities is disclosed in
respective notes and note 43.

The Company manages liquidity risk by maintaining sufficient cash in hand and at banks and ensuring the fund
availability through adequate credit facilities. At June 30, 2025, the Company has Rs. 67,325 million (June 30,
2024: Rs. 44,880 million) available borrowing limit from financial institutions. Unutilised borrowing facilities of Rs.
15,167 million (June 30, 2024: Rs. 2,874 million) and also has Rs. 166 million (June 30, 2024: Rs. 376 million)
being cash in hand and balances at banks. Based on the above, management believes the liquidity risk is
insignificant.

Total carrying 
amount

More than one 
year

Less than one 
year

--------------- (Rupees in '000) --------------Note

As at June 30, 2025
19,270,655 16,142,475 3,128,180 16 Long term financing
22,748,614 -22,748,614 19 Trade and other payables

788,421 -788,421 Accrued markup
52,157,704 -52,157,704 21 Short term borrowings

9,365 -9,365 Unclaimed dividend
23,505 -23,505 23 Unpaid dividend 

94,998,264 16,142,475 78,855,789 

84,918,841 14,591,587 70,327,254 Total as at June 30, 2024

Capital risk management44.4

The primary objectives of the Company when managing capital are to safeguard the Company's ability to continue
as a going concern in order to provide returns for shareholders, benefits for other stakeholders and to maintain an
optimal capital structure.

The Company manages its capital structure and makes adjustment to it, in light of the changes in economic
conditions. To maintain or adjust the capital structure, the Company may adjust the dividend payment to
shareholders or issue new shares.

The Company's strategy is to maintain leveraged gearing. The gearing ratios as at June 30, 2025 and June 30,
2024 were as follows;
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20242025
------- (Rupees in '000) -------Note

59,831,025 71,428,359 16 & 21Total borrowings
(375,876)(166,429)13Cash and bank

59,455,149 71,261,930 Net debt

44,753,223 48,852,937 14 & 15Total equity
104,208,372 120,114,867 Total equity and debt

---------- ( % ) ----------

57 59 Gearing ratio

The Company finances its operations through equity, borrowings and management of working capital with a view to
maintain an appropriate mix amongst various sources of finance to minimise risk and borrowing cost.

FAIR VALUES45

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction in
the principal (or most advantageous) market at the measurement date under current market conditions (i.e. an exit
price) regardless of whether that price is directly observable or estimated using another valuation technique.

The Company while assessing fair values uses valuation techniques that are appropriate in the circumstances
using relevant observable data as far as possible and minimising the use of unobservable inputs. Fair values are
categorised into following three levels based on the input used in the valuation techniques;

Quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities that can be assessed at
measurement.

- Level 1 

Inputs other than quoted prices included within level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability,
either directly (that is, as prices) or indirectly (that is, derived from prices).

- Level 2

Inputs are unobservable inputs for the asset or liability Inputs for the asset or liability that are not
based on observable market data (that is, unobservable inputs).

- Level 3

If inputs used to measure the fair values of an asset or a liability fall into different levels then the fair value
measurement is categorised in its entirety in the same level of the fair value hierarchy as the lowest level input that
is significant to the entire measurement.

Transfers, if any, between levels of the fair value hierarchy is recognised at the end of the reporting period during
which the transfer has occurred. The Company’s policy for determining when transfers between levels in the
hierarchy have occurred includes monitoring of changes in market and trading activity and changes in inputs used
in valuation techniques.

As at year end, the fair value of all the financial assets and liabilities approximates to their carrying values. The
operating fixed assets is carried at cost less accumulated depreciation and impairment if any, except there is no
free-hold land and lease-hold land which are stated at cost. Long term investments in subsidiaries represent the
investment in unquoted shares of companies carried at cost. The Company does not expect that unobservable
inputs may have significant effect on fair values. The fair values of forward exchange contracts is determined
based on the forward exchange rates at the reporting date included in the level 2 of the fair value hierarchy.
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GENERAL46

Events occurring after reporting date46.1

On September 29, 2025, Board of Directors, approved the closure of the Company’s Export Apparel operations as
part of its strategic review of operations. The closure will be implemented in the forthcoming financial year, with
financial and operational impacts to be recognised in the financial statements of the ensuing year.

Corresponding figures46.2

Corresponding figures have been rearranged or reclassified, where necessary, for the purpose of better
presentation. No significant rearrangement or reclassification was made in these un-consolidated financial
statements during the current year.

DATE OF AUTHORISATION47

These unconsolidated financial statements were authorised for issue by the Board of Directors of the Company in
their meeting held on September 29, 2025.

____________________ ____________________________
MOHOMED BASHIR MUHAMMAD KASHIF RIAZ

Chairman Chief Financial Officer

____________________________
MOHAMMED ZAKI BASHIR

Chief Executive Officer
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GROUP DIRECTOR’S REPORT

The directors are pleased to present their report together with the audited Consolidated Financial Statements of
the Group for the year ended June 30, 2025.

The Group

The Group comprises of;

Ideas (Private) Limited (Pvt) limited, Pakistan;
Gul Ahmed International Limited (FZC)-UAE;
GTM (Europe) Limited-UK;
GTM USA Corp.-USA;
Sky Home Corp.-USA;
JCCO 406 Limited-UK;
Vantona Home Limited-UK;

All these subsidiaries are engaged in trading/retail sales of textile and related products.

Rupees ‘000The Consolidated financial results of the group are given below:

6,556,367Profit before tax
(2,101,948)Taxation

4,454,419 Profit for the year
39,927,105 Total Reserves brought forward

(3,248)Transferred to Capital Reserves 
44,378,276Amount available for appropriation 

Appropriation
76,940 Amount carried to other comprehensive income

(18,861)Exchange difference on transactions of foreign subsidiaries
3,248Transferred to Capital Reserves 

44,439,603Amount available for appropriation 
44,439,603Total Reserves carried forward

6.02Earnings Per Share (Rs.)

Group Results

Gul Ahmed Ecotex (Pvt) Limited, Pakistan;
Gul Ahmed Ecofab (Pvt) Limited, Pakistan;
Gul Ahmed Circular Fabrics (Pvt) Limited, Pakistan;
Elegant Fashion (Pvt) Limited, Pakistan;
Fragrance Fusion (Pvt) Limited, Pakistan; and
Omnify (Pvt) Limited, Pakistan

Pattern of Shareholding

Ideas (Private) Limited, Gul Ahmed International Limited (FZC) – UAE, Gul Ahmed Ecotex (Private) Limited, Gul
Ahmed Ecofab (Private) Limited and Gul Ahmed Circular Fabrics (Private) Limited are wholly owned subsidiary of
Gul Ahmed Textile Mills Limited (Parent Company). GTM (Europe) Limited is a wholly owned subsidiary of Gul
Ahmed International Limited (FZC)- UAE whereas GTM USA Corp.-USA, Sky Home Corp.-USA, and JCCO 406
Limited-UK are wholly owned subsidiaries of GTM (Europe) Limited and Vantona Home Limited is wholly owned
subsidiary of JCCO 406 Limited-UK. Elegant Fashion (Private) Limited, Fragrance Fusion (Private) Limited and
Omnify (Private) Limited are wholly owned subsidiaries of Ideas (Private) Limited. Shareholding in each company
is in the name of respective holding companies.

Mohomed Bashir Mohammed Zaki Bashir
Chairman Chief Executive Officer

Karachi
September 29, 2025
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
TO THE MEMBERS OF GUL AHMED TEXTILE MILLS LIMITED

Report on the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements

Opinion

We have audited the annexed consolidated financial statements of Gul Ahmed Textile Mills Limited and its
subsidiaries (the Group), which comprise the consolidated statement of financial position as at June 30, 2025 ,
and the consolidated statement of profit or loss, the consolidated statement of comprehensive income, the
consolidated statement of changes in equity and the consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then
ended, and notes to the consolidated financial statements, including a summary of material accounting policy
information and other explanatory information.

In our opinion, consolidated financial statements give a true and fair view of the consolidated financial position of
the Group as at June 30, 2025 and of its consolidated financial performance and its consolidated cash flows for
the year then ended in accordance with the accounting and reporting standards as applicable in Pakistan.

Basis for opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (ISAs) as applicable in Pakistan.
Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor's responsibilities for the audit of
the Consolidated Financial Statements section of our report. We are independent of the Group in accordance
with the International Ethics Standards Board for Accountants' Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants as
adopted by the Institute of the Chartered Accountants of Pakistan (the Code), and we have fulfilled our other
ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is
sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Key Audit Matters

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment, were of most significance in our audit of
the consolidated financial statements of the current period. These matters were addressed in the context of our
audit of the consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not
provide a separate opinion on these matters.

Following are the key audit matters:

How the matter was addressed in our audit Key audit matters
1. Revenue recognition

Our audit procedures in this area, amongst others,
included the following:

• Obtained an understanding of the accounting
policy and Group’s accounting process for revenue
recognition and tested the design and
implementation of relevant controls;

• Performed verification of sample of revenue
transactions recorded during the year with
underlying documentation including sales invoices
and other dispatch documents;

Refer notes 3.19 and 28 to the consolidated financial
statements.

The Group’s net revenue for the year ended June 30,
2025 was Rs. 185,541 million. The Group’s revenue is
principally generated from the sale of textile goods
and related processing services and consists of local
and export sales.

We identified revenue as key audit matter because;

• revenue is one of the key performance indicators of 
the Group;
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How the matter was addressed in our audit Key audit matters

• Performed cut-off procedures on sample basis on
revenue transactions recorded just before and
after the year end with the underlying goods
delivery notes, bill of lading, invoices and other
relevant documents to assess whether the revenue
has been recognised in the appropriate accounting
period; and

• Evaluated the appropriateness of disclosures in
the consolidated financial statements in
accordance with the requirements of the
accounting and reporting standards applicable in
Pakistan.

• there are large number of revenue transactions;
and

• there is inherent risk that revenue could be
recorded in an incorrect accounting period in order
to achieve the financial targets and expectations.

2. Valuation of stock-in-trade

Our audit procedures in this area, amongst others,
included the following:

• Obtained an understanding of the Group’s policies
and procedures with respect to valuation of stock-
in-trade;

• Assessed appropriateness of the Group’s
accounting policies for valuation of stock-in-trade
and compliance of those policies with accounting
and reporting standards applicable in Pakistan;

• Assessed the adequacy of the allowance for
obsolescence, by taking into consideration the
status of ageing conditions of the stock-in-trade
and historical usage pattern;

• Compared the net realizable value, on a sample
basis, to the carrying value of stock-in-trade to
assess whether any adjustments are required to
value of stock-in-trade in accordance with the
applicable accounting framework; and

• Assessed the adequacy of the related disclosures
in the notes to the consolidated financial
statements, in accordance with the requirements
of the accounting and reporting standards as
applicable in Pakistan.

Refer notes 3.7 and 11 to the consolidated financial
statements.

As at June 30, 2025, the Group held stock-in-trade of
Rs. 72,901 million. Several estimates and judgments
are involved in the valuation of stock-in-trade, in
determining the net realizable values, and in
assessing the appropriate level of provisioning
required for the stock-in-trade. This includes the
assessment of available facts and circumstances, the
physical condition of the stock-in-trade, utilization,
market selling prices, and the estimated selling cost
of the stock-in-trade.

We have considered this matter as key audit matter
because of the significance of the balance and due to
the estimates and judgments involved in the
valuation.

Information Other than the Consolidated and Unconsolidated Financial Statements and Auditors' Report
Thereon

Management is responsible for the other information. The other information comprises the information
included in annual report, but does not include the consolidated and unconsolidated financial statements and
our auditors' reports thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the other information and we do not 
express any form of assurance conclusion thereon.
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In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other
information and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the
consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be materially
misstated. If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this
other information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

Responsibilities of Management and Board of Directors for the Consolidated Financial Statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the consolidated financial statements in
accordance with accounting and reporting standards as applicable in Pakistan and Companies Act, 2017 and for
such internal control as management determines is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated
financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the Group's ability
to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going
concern basis of accounting unless management either intends to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or
has no realistic alternative but to do so.

The Board of Directors is responsible for overseeing the Group's financial reporting process.

Auditors' Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements as a
whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor's report that
includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit
conducted in accordance with ISAs as applicable in Pakistan will always detect a material misstatement when it
exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the
aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of
these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with ISAs as applicable in Pakistan, we exercise professional judgment and
maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit. We also:

• Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether
due to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit
evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a
material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve
collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

• Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that are
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of
the Group's internal control.

• Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates
and related disclosures made by management.

• Conclude on the appropriateness of management's use of the going concern basis of accounting and,
based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions
that may cast significant doubt on the Group's ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a
material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor's report to the related
disclosures in the consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our
opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor's report.
However, future events or conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as a going concern.
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We communicate with the Board of Directors regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing of
the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify
during our audit.

We also provide the Board of Directors with a statement that we have complied with relevant ethical
requirements regarding independence, and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that
may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable, related safeguards.

From the matters communicated with the Board of Directors, we determine those matters that were of most
significance in the audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current period and are therefore the key
audit matters. We describe these matters in our auditor's report unless law or regulation precludes public
disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should not
be communicated in our report because the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected
to outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication.

Other Matter

The consolidated financial statements of the Company for the year ended June 30, 2024 were audited by
another firm of Chartered Accountants who had expressed an unmodified opinion thereon vide their report
dated October 4, 2024.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent auditor’s report is Nadeem Yousuf Adil.

Yousif Adil
Chartered Accountants

Place: Karachi
Date: October 3, 2025
UDIN: AR202510091hlop8RqVb
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
AS AT JUNE 30, 2025

20242025
-----------(Rupees in '000)---------NoteASSETS

NON-CURRENT ASSETS
54,341,947 55,384,267 4 Property, plant and equipment
2,818,151 4,247,834 5 Right of use assets

182,858 181,206 6 Intangible assets
70,000 70,000 7 Long term investment
17,939 21,487 8 Long term loans

518,467 512,483 Long term deposits
1,115,326 1,004,141 9 Deferred taxation - net
59,064,688 61,421,418 Total non-current assets

CURRENT ASSETS
2,727,361 2,856,321 10 Store, spares and loose tools
57,358,906 72,901,493 11 Stock-in-trade
20,719,045 21,520,605 12 Trade debts
4,347,029 5,664,884 13 Loans, advances and other receivables

145,872 184,658 Short term prepayments
3,493,969 5,729,576 14 Receivables from government

1,243 -Short term investment
1,081,768 559,457 15 Cash and bank balances
89,875,193 109,416,994 Total current assets

148,939,881 170,838,412 Total assets

EQUITY AND LIABILITIES

SHARE CAPITAL AND RESERVES
7,400,594 7,400,594 16 Share capital
39,927,105 44,439,603 17 Reserves
47,327,699 51,840,197 Total share capital and reserves

NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES
14,591,587 18,392,475 18 Long term financing
3,189,839 4,383,400 19 Lease liability against right of use assets

74,655 50,620 20 Deferred income - government grant
528,898 475,267 21 Defined benefit plan - staff gratuity
19,769 22,269 Long term deposits

18,404,748 23,324,031 Total non-current liabilities

CURRENT LIABILITIES 
34,321,875 31,843,262 22 Trade and other payables
1,403,751 886,790 23 Accrued mark-up / profit
42,494,328 56,082,057 24 Short term borrowings
3,810,360 4,996,906 25 Current portion of non-current liabilities 

9,840 9,365 Unclaimed dividend
23,505 23,505 26 Unpaid dividend

1,143,775 1,832,299 Taxation-net
83,207,434 95,674,184 Total current liabilities

148,939,881 170,838,412 Total equity and liabilities

27 CONTINGENCIES AND COMMITMENTS

The annexed notes from 1 to 50 form an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.

MUHAMMAD KASHIF RIAZ
Chief Financial OfficerChairman

MOHAMMED ZAKI BASHIR

Chief Executive Officer

___________________
MOHOMED BASHIR

_________________________ ___________________________
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MUHAMMAD KASHIF RIAZ
Chief Financial OfficerChairman

MOHAMMED ZAKI BASHIR
Chief Executive Officer

___________________
MOHOMED BASHIR

_________________________ ___________________________

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2025

2025 2024
Note

Revenue from contracts with customers 28 185,541,432     172,479,728     
Cost of sales 29 (153,463,906)    (143,735,509)    

Gross profit 32,077,526       28,744,219       

Selling and distribution cost 30 (11,321,307)     (10,000,783)     
Administrative cost 31 (6,835,488)       (5,946,963)       
Other expense 32 (573,947)          (572,192)          

(18,730,742)     (16,519,938)     

Operating profit 13,346,784       12,224,281       

Other income 33 1,170,239        2,155,433        

Finance costs 34 (7,960,656)       (7,664,182)       

Profit before levies and taxation 6,556,367        6,715,532        

Levies 35 (1,692,863)       (2,235,322)       

Profit before taxation 4,863,504        4,480,210        

Taxation 36 (409,085)          371,753           

Profit for the year 4,454,419        4,851,963        

Earnings per share - basic and diluted 37 6.02                 6.56                 

The annexed notes from 1 to 50 form an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.

-------------------------- (Rupees) --------------------------

--------------(Rupees in '000)-------------
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MUHAMMAD KASHIF RIAZ
Chief Financial OfficerChairman

MOHAMMED ZAKI BASHIR
Chief Executive Officer

___________________
MOHOMED BASHIR

_________________________ ___________________________

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2025

2025 2024

Note

Profit for the year 4,454,419       4,851,963       

Other comprehensive income / (loss)

Items that will not be reclassified to consolidated statement of
profit or loss subsequently

Remeasurement gain / (loss) on defined benefit plan 21.3 76,940           (41,421)          

Reversal of deferred tax -                (4,535)            

Exchange loss on translation (18,861)          (43,899)          

58,079           (89,855)          

Items that may be reclassified to consolidated statement of
profit or loss subsequently -                -                

Total comprehensive income for the year 4,512,498       4,762,108       

The annexed notes from 1 to 50 form an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.

--------------(Rupees in '000)-------------
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MUHAMMAD KASHIF RIAZ
Chief Financial OfficerChairman

MOHAMMED ZAKI BASHIR
Chief Executive Officer

___________________
MOHOMED BASHIR

_________________________ ___________________________

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2025

Balance as at July 01, 2023 7,400,594    -                    20,845              8,252,059       (258,307)         27,150,400      35,164,997    42,565,591 

Reclassification of reserves - (note 17.3) -              23,000,000        -                   -                 -                 (23,000,000)    -                -             

Profit for the year -              -                    -                   -                 -                 4,851,963       4,851,963      4,851,963   

Other comprehensive loss -              -                    -                   -                 (43,899)           (45,956)           (89,855)         (89,855)      

Total comprehensive income for the year -              -                    -                   -                 (43,899)           4,806,007       4,762,108      4,762,108   

Balance as at June 30, 2024 7,400,594    23,000,000        20,845              8,252,059       (302,206)         8,956,407       39,927,105    47,327,699 

Reclassification of reserves - (note 17.2) -              -                    3,248                -                 -                 (3,248)             -                -             

Profit for the year -              -                    -                   -                 -                 4,454,419       4,454,419      4,454,419   

Other comprehensive income -              -                    -                   -                 (18,861)           76,940            58,079           58,079       

-              -                    -                   -                 (18,861)           4,531,359       4,512,498      4,512,498   

Balance as at June 30, 2025 7,400,594    23,000,000        24,093              8,252,059       (321,067)         13,484,518      44,439,603    51,840,197 

The annexed notes from 1 to 50 form an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.

 ---------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------- (Rupees in '000) ---------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------

Total comprehensive income for the year

Share 
Capital

Total
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Foreign 

Subsidiary

Total 
Reserves

Capital Reserve - 
Against Long term 

Investments, 
Capacity 

Expansion and 
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOW
FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2025

2025 2024
Note

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES

Profit before taxation 4,863,504            4,480,210         

Adjustments for non-cash items:
Depreciation of operating fixed assets 4.1.1 5,114,568            4,967,334         
Depreciation of right of use assets 5 993,728               706,250           
Amortisation of intangible assets 6.1 32,478                 38,514             
Expense recognised for defined benefit plan 21.2 268,770               236,932           
Finance costs 34 7,960,656            7,664,182         
Reversal of provision for slow moving - stores and spares 10.1 (51,249)               (148,345)          
Reversal of provison for slow moving -  stock-in-trade 11.1 (174,464)              (12,028)            
Levies 35 1,692,863            2,235,322         
Unclaimed liabilities written back 33 (13,794)               (3,910)              
Dividend income 33 -                      (1,462)              
Government grant recognised in income (28,251)               (32,088)            
Loss on reassessment of right of use asset and corresponding lease liability 32 46,930                 9,902               
Loss on disposal of operating fixed assets 32 52,272                 57,358             
Expected credit loss on trade debts 12.1 (58,900)               (226,929)          

15,835,607          15,491,032       

Changes in working capital:
Store, spares and loose tools (77,711)               (665,956)          
Stock-in-trade (15,368,123)         (9,763,874)       
Trade debts (742,660)              (3,870,569)       
Loans, advances and other receivables (1,317,855)           (912,675)          
Short term prepayments (38,786)               126,662           
Receivables from government (246,549)              187,888           
Trade and other payables (2,478,613)           4,339,813         

Net decrease in working capital (20,270,297)         (10,558,711)      

Cash generated from operating activities 428,814               9,412,531         

Payment made to defined benefit plan 21.1 (245,621)              (83,420)            
Finance costs paid (7,824,746)           (8,274,854)       
Levies and taxes paid (3,292,766)           (1,812,551)       

(11,363,133)         (10,170,825)      
Net cash used in operating activities (10,934,319)         (758,294)          

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES  

Payments for acquisition of property, plant and equipment (6,118,696)           (4,175,596)       
Payments for acquisition of intangible assets (18,477)               (28,535)            
Proceeds from disposal of operating fixed assets 35,463                 37,515             
Short term investment made -                      (601,243)          
Short term investment redeemed 1,243                  600,000           
Dividend income received 33 -                      1,462               
Long term loans (3,548)                 49,962             
Long term deposits 8,484                  (38,684)            
Net cash used in investing activities (6,095,531)           (4,155,119)       

--------------(Rupees in '000)-------------

33
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2025 2024
CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES Note
                         
Proceeds from long term financing 40.1 7,700,000            358,000           
Repayment of long term financing 40.1 (3,283,119)           (5,777,758)       
Payments against lease liabilities 19 (1,477,737)           (1,044,823)       
Increase in short term borrowings, net 12,893,950          8,499,688         
Dividend paid (475)                    (91)                  
Net cash generated from financing activities 15,832,621          2,035,016         

Exchange loss on translation (18,861)               (43,899)            

Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents (1,216,090)           (2,922,296)       

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the year (4,453,603)           (1,531,307)       

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year 40 (5,669,693)           (4,453,603)       

The annexed notes from 1 to 50 form an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.

--------------(Rupees in '000)-------------

MUHAMMAD KASHIF RIAZ
Chief Financial OfficerChairman

MOHAMMED ZAKI BASHIR
Chief Executive Officer

___________________
MOHOMED BASHIR

_________________________ ___________________________
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2025

THE GROUP AND ITS OPERATIONS1

As at June 30, 2025 'the Group' comprise of the Gul Ahmed Textile Mills Limited (the Holding Company) and the
following subsidiaries that have been consolidated in these consolidated financial statements.

Shareholding 
20242025

--------- (%) ----------

100100Ideas (Private) Limited(1) 
100100Gul Ahmed International Limited FZC - UAE(2) 
100100Gul Ahmed Ecofab (Private) Limited(3) 
100100Gul Ahmed Ecotex (Private) Limited(4) 
100100Gul Ahmed Circular Fabrics (Private) Limited(5) 

The following companies also fall in the definition of subsidiary as per the criteria given in IFRS 10 - 'Consolidated
Financial Statements' and Section 2(68) of the Companies Act, 2017 (the Act) and are therefore, consolidated in these
consolidated financial statements.

Shareholding 
20242025

--------- (%) ----------

100100GTM (Europe) Limited(6) 
100100GTM USA Corporation(7) 
100100Sky Home Corporation - USA(8) 
100100JCCO 406 Limited(9) 
100100Vantona Home Limited (10) 
100100Fragrance Fusion (Private) Limited(11) 
100100Elegant Fashion (Private) Limited(12) 
100100Omnify (Private) Limited(13) 

Holding Company 1.1

Gul Ahmed Textile Mills Limited (the Holding Company) was incorporated in Pakistan on April 01, 1953 as a private
limited company and subsequently converted into a public limited company on January 07, 1955. The Holding
Company is a subsidiary of Gul Ahmed Holdings (Private) Limited (the Parent Company) and is listed on Pakistan
Stock Exchange Limited (PSX). The Holding Company is principally engaged in the manufacturing and sale of textile
products. The registered office is situated at Plot No. H-7, Landhi Industrial Area, Karachi.

The Holding Company has following wholly owned subsidiaries which are engaged in distribution / trading of textile
related products while Ideas (Private) Limited also carries out production of finished goods.
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Principle place of businessNature of business
Date of 

incorporation
Details of subsidiaries

Direct subsidiaries

Sharjah Airport International Free 
Zone, Government of Sharjah, 
United Arab Emirates.

Trade of textile, garments and 
related products

December 11, 
2002

Gul Ahmed International Limited 
FZC – UAE

Plot No. 65/I, Sector-30, Korangi 
Industrial Area, Karachi, Pakistan.

Manufacturing and sale of textile 
good and other products

December 27, 2004 
(Subsidiary since 
January 01, 2021)

Ideas (Private) limited

Plot No. H-7, Landhi Industrial 
Area, Karachi, Pakistan.

Manufacturing and distribution of 
textile 
related products

March 26, 2025Gul Ahmed Ecotex (Private) Limited

Plot No. H-7, Landhi Industrial 
Area, Karachi, Pakistan.

Manufacturing and distribution of 
textile related products

March 26, 2025Gul Ahmed Ecofab (Private) Limited

Plot No. H-7, Landhi Industrial 
Area, Karachi, Pakistan.

Recycling of textile waste for 
production of yarns and fabrics 

March 26, 2025Gul Ahmed Circular Fabrics 
(Private) Limited

Principle place of businessNature of business
Date of 

incorporation
Details of subsidiaries

Indirect subsidiaries

106 LangTree Village Dr, Suite 
301 Mooresville, NC 28117, 
United States of America.

Commission agent service and 
trading of textile related products

March 19, 2012GTM USA Corporation

106 LangTree Village Dr, Suite 
301 Mooresville, NC 28117, 
United States of America.

Import and wholesale of home 
textile products

February 28, 2017Sky Home Corporation - USA

Grane Road Mill, Grane Road 
Haslingden, Rossendale 
Lancashire BB4 5ET, United 
Kingdom.

Trading and distribution of textile 
related products

April 22, 2013Vantona Home Limited 

Grane Road Mill, Grane Road 
Haslingden, Rossendale 
Lancashire BB4 5ET, United 
Kingdom.

Trading and distribution of textile 
related products

September 29, 2017JCCO 406 Limited

Grane Road Mill, Grane Road 
Haslingden, Rossendale 
Lancashire BB4 5ET, United 
Kingdom.

Trading and distribution of textile 
related products

April 17, 2003GTM (Europe) Limited

Plot No. 65/1, Korangi Industrial 
Area, Karachi, Pakistan.

Technology related services and 
e-commerce business solutions

March 12, 2025Omnify (Private) Limited

Plot No. 65/1, Korangi Industrial 
Area, Karachi, Pakistan.

Industrial undertaking for 
manufacturing and stitching 
garmants and textile related 
products

March 19, 2025Elegant Fashion (Private) Limited

Plot No. 65/1, Korangi Industrial 
Area, Karachi, Pakistan.

Trading of fragrance and 
cosmetic related products

March 12, 2025Fragrance Fusion (Private) Limited
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Geographical locations and addresses of all premises obtained on rented basis by the Holding Company are as
follows;

1.2

Address
Plot ST-17/1 and ST-17/3, Federal 'B' Area, Azizabad, Karachi;
Plot No. H-17 / A, Landhi Industrial Area, Karachi;
Plot # HT/2 Landhi Industrial Area, Karachi;
Plot # HT/8, KDA Scheme 3, Landhi Industrial Area, Karachi;
Plot W2/1-14, Western Industrial Zone, Port Qasim, Karachi;
Plot # H19/2-B Bin Qasim, Landhi Industrial Area Karachi;
Survey # 613, Deh Jorejee, Bin Qasim Town, Karachi;
Survey # 614, Deh Jorejee, Bin Qasim Town, Karachi;
Survey # 615, Deh Jorejee, Bin Qasim Town, Karachi; and
22nd Floor, Ocean Mall, Khayaban-e-Iqbal, Block-9, Clifton, Karachi.

The above rented premises are used to carry out warehousing and administrative tasks.

Basis of consolidation1.3
These consolidated financial statements include the financial statements of the Holding Company and its
subsidiaries, here-in-after collectively referred to as the Group.

Subsidiaries
Subsidiaries are entities controlled by the Holding Company. The Holding Company controls an investee when it is
exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the investee and has the ability to affect those
returns through its power over the investee.

The assets, liabilities, income and expenses of subsidiary companies are consolidated on a line by line basis and
carrying value of investments held by the Holding Company is eliminated against the subsidiary companies’
shareholders’ equity in these consolidated financial statements.

The financial statements of the subsidiaries are prepared for the same reporting year as the Holding Company, using
consistent accounting policies.

All intra-group balances, transactions and unrealised gains and losses resulting from intra-group transactions and
dividends are eliminated in full.

Subsidiaries are consolidated from the date of acquisition or incorporation, being the date on which the Group
obtains control, and continue to be consolidated until the date when such control ceases.

The acquisition method of accounting is used to account for the acquisition of subsidiaries by the Group. Identifiable
assets acquired and liabilities assumed in a business combination are measured initially at their fair values at the
acquisition date. Acquisition-related costs are recognised as expenses in the periods in which the costs are incurred
and the services are received. Any contingent consideration to be transferred by the acquirer will be recognised at
fair value at the acquisition date. Subsequent changes to the fair value of the contingent consideration which is an
asset or liability are recognised in profit or loss.

Non-controlling interest in the acquiree, which represents ownership interests and entitle their holders to a
proportionate share of net assets of the acquiree are recognised on the acquisition date at either fair value or the
non-controlling interest’s proportionate share of the acquiree’s identifiable net assets.

Any excess of the sum of the fair value of the consideration transferred in the business combination, the amount of
non-controlling interest in the acquiree (if any), and the fair value of the Group’s previously held equity interest in the
acquiree (if any), over the net fair value of the acquiree’s identifiable assets and liabilities is recorded as goodwill. In
instances where the latter amount exceeds the former, the excess is recognised as gain on bargain purchase in
profit or loss on the acquisition date.
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Transactions with non-controlling interests
The Group treats transactions with non-controlling interest that do not result in loss of control as transactions with
equity owners of the Group. For purchase of interest from non-controlling interests, the difference between fair value
of any consideration paid and the relevant share acquired of the carrying value of net assets of the subsidiary is
recorded in equity. Gains or losses on disposals to non-controlling interests are also recorded in equity.

When the Group ceases to have control or significant influence, any retained interest in the equity is remeasured to
its fair value, with the change in carrying amount recognised in the profit or loss. The fair value is the initial carrying
amount for the purposes of subsequent accounting for the retained interest as an associate, joint venture or financial
assets. In addition, any amount previously recognised in other comprehensive income in respect to that entity is
accounted for as if the Group had directly disposed off the related assets and liabilities.

BASIS OF PREPARATION2

Basis of measurement2.1
These consolidated financial statements have been prepared under the historical cost convention except as
otherwise stated in respective policy notes.

Statement of compliance2.2
These consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the accounting and reporting
standards as applicable in Pakistan. The accounting and reporting standards applicable in Pakistan comprise of:

International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS Accounting Standards) issued by the International
Accounting Standards Board (IASB) as notified under the Companies Act, 2017 (the Act); and

-

Provisions of and directives issued under the Act.-

Where provisions of and directives issued under the Act differ from the IFRS Accounting Standards, the provisions of
and directives issued under the Act have been followed.

Functional and presentation currency2.3
Items included in the consolidated financial statements are measured using the currency of the primary economic
environment in which the Group operates. These consolidated financial statements are presented in Pakistani
Rupees, which is the functional and presentation currency of the Group. The amounts have been rounded off to the
nearest thousand rupees unless stated otherwise.

Critical accounting estimates and judgments2.4
The preparation of these consolidated financial statements in conformity with the accounting and reporting
standards, as applicable in Pakistan, requires management to make judgments, estimates and assumptions that
affects the application of the Group's accounting policies and reported amounts of assets, liabilities, income and
expenses. The estimates and associated assumptions are based on historical experience and other factors that are
believed to be reasonable under the circumstances, the results of which form the basis of making judgment about
carrying amounts of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources. Actual results may differ
from these estimates.

Estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revision to accounting estimates are
recognised in the period in which estimates are revised if the revision affects only that period, or in the period of
revision and future periods if the revision affects both current and future periods.

Information about estimates and judgements made in applying accounting policies that have the most significant
effects on the amounts recognised in the consolidated financial statements are as follows:

Operating fixed assets, Right of use assets and Intangible assets (notes 3.2, 3.3, 3.4, 3.8, 4, 5 and 6)a)

The Group reviews appropriateness of the method of depreciation / amortisation and useful lives used in the
calculation of depreciation / amortisation of operating fixed assets, right of use assets and intangible assets
respectively on an annual basis. Further, where applicable, an estimate of recoverable amount of assets is
made for possible impairment at each reporting date.
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Provision for obsolescence and slow moving stores and spares (notes 3.6 and 10)b)
Provision for obsolescence and slow moving stores and spares is based on parameters set out by the
management of the Group, which includes ageing, expected use and realisable values.

Stock-in-trade (notes 3.7 and 11)c)
The Group reviews the net realisable value of stock-in-trade to assess any diminution in the respective carrying
values at each reporting date. Net realisable value is determined with reference to estimated selling price less
estimated expenditure to make the sales.

Impairment of financial assets (notes 3.9.4, 12 and 47.2)d)
The Group uses a provision matrix to calculate expected credit loss (ECL) for trade debts. The provision matrix is
initially based on the Group’s historically observed rates. The Group calibrates the matrix to adjust the historical
credit loss experience with forward-looking information. At every quarter, the historically observed default rates
are updated, and changes in the forward-looking estimates are analysed.

The amount of ECL is sensitive to changes in circumstances and of forecast economic conditions. The Group's
historical credit loss experience and forecast of economic conditions may also not be representative of
customers’ actual default in the future.

Defined benefit plan (notes 3.14.2 and 21)e)
The present value of defined benefit plan depends upon number of factors and is being calculated on actuarial
basis using a number of assumptions. Any changes in these assumptions will impact the carrying amount of
defined benefit plan.

Taxation (notes 3.21, 27 and 36)f)
The Group takes into account the current income tax law and decisions taken by the taxation authorities.
Instances where the Group's views differ from the views taken by the income tax department at the assessment
stage and where the Group considers that its view on items of material nature is in accordance with law, the
amounts are shown as contingencies.

Levies (notes 3.22 and 35)g)
The Group takes into account the current income tax law, legislations and decisions taken by the taxation
authorities for determination of levies. These include determining the specific obligating event that triggers levy
recognition based on the relevant legislation, estimating the amount payable by considering applicable rates, and
deciding the appropriate timing for recognising the levy liability. These estimates and judgements are periodically
reviewed and updated as necessary.

Contingencies (notes 3.18 and 27)h)
The assessment of the contingencies and provisions inherently involves the exercise of judgment as the outcome
of the future events cannot be predicted with certainty. The Group, based on the availability of the latest
information, estimates the value of contingent liabilities which may differ on the occurrence / non-occurrence of
the uncertain future event(s).

Leases (notes 3.16 and 19)i)
The Group uses judgements and estimates in measurement of right of use assets and corresponding lease
liabilities with respect to discount rates, lease terms including exercise of renewal and termination options etc, in
accordance with IFRS 16.`

Change in accounting standards, interpretations and amendments to published approved accounting
and reporting standards

2.5

New standards, amendments and interpretations that are effective for the year ended June 30, 2025
are as follows:

(a)

The following amendments are effective for the year ended June 30, 2025. These amendments are either not
relevant to the Group's operations or are not expected to have significant impact on the Group's financial
statements other than certain additional disclosures.
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Effective date 
(annual periods beginning on 

or after)
January 01, 2024Amendments to IFRS 16 ' Leases' - Clarification on how seller-lessee

subsequently measures sale and leaseback transactions.
-

January 01, 2024Amendments to IAS 1 'Presentation of Financial Statements' - Classification
of liabilities as current or non-current along with Non-current liabilities with
Covenants.

-

January 01, 2024Amendments to IAS 7 'Statement of Cash Flows' and 'IFRS 7 'Financial
instruments disclosures' - Supplier Finance Arrangements.

-

Standards, Interpretations and Amendments to published approved accounting standards not yet 
effective

(b)

The following standards and amendments are effective for accounting periods, beginning on or after the date
mentioned against each of them. These amendments are either not relevant to the Group's operations or are
not expected to have significant impact on the Group's consolidated financial statements other than certain
additional disclosures.

Effective date 
(annual periods beginning 

on or after)

January 01, 2025Amendments to IAS 21 'The Effects of Changes in Foreign Exchange Rates' -
Clarification on how entity accounts when there is long term lack of 
Exchangeability

-

January 01, 2026IFRS 17 - Insurance Contracts (including the June 2020 and December 2021 
Amendments to IFRS 17)

-

July 01, 2025IFRS 7 - Financial Instruments: Disclosures-

January 01, 2026Amendments to IFRS 9 'Financial Instruments' and IFRS 7 'Financial instruments  
disclosures' - Classification and measurement of financial instruments

-

January 01, 2026Annual Improvements to IFRS Accounting Standards (related to IFRS 1, IFRS 7, 
IFRS 9, IFRS 10 and IAS 7)

-

January 01, 2026Amendments to IFRS 9 'Financial Instruments' and IFRS 7 'Financial instruments  
disclosures' - Contracts Referencing Nature-dependent Electricity

-

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES3

The material accounting policies set out below have been consistently applied to all periods presented in these
consolidated financial statements.

Foreign currency transactions and translation3.1
Transactions in foreign currencies are translated into the respective functional currency of the Group at the
exchange rates at the dates of transactions.

Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are translated into functional currency at the
exchange rate at the reporting date. Non-monetary assets and liabilities that are measured at fair value in a foreign
currency are translated into functional currency at the exchange rate when the fair value was determined. Non-
monetary items that are measured based on historical cost in a foreign currency are translated at the exchange rate
at the date of transaction. Foreign currency difference are recognised in consolidated statement of profit and loss.
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On consolidation, the assets and liabilities of foreign operations are retranslated into presentation currency i.e.
Pakistan Rupee at the rate of exchange prevailing at the reporting date and their income and expenses are
translated using the average of exchange rates for the period. The exchange differences arising on such translations
are recognised in consolidated statement of comprehensive income.

Property, plant and equipment3.2

Operating fixed assets3.2.1

Initial recognition

The cost of an item is recognised as an asset if and only if the future economic benefits associated with the item will
flow to the Group and the cost of the item can be measured reliably.

Measurement

Operating fixed assets are stated at cost less any accumulated depreciation and any accumulated impairment losses
except leasehold land which is stated at cost.

When parts of an item of operating fixed assets have different useful lives, they are accounted for as separate items
(major components) of operating fixed assets.

Subsequent cost

Expenditure incurred to replace a significant component of an item of operating fixed assets is capitalised and the
asset so replaced is retired. Other subsequent expenditure is capitalised only when it is probable that future
economic benefits associated with the item will flow to the Group and the cost of the items can be measured reliably.
All other expenditure (including normal repairs and maintenance) are recognised in the consolidated statement of
profit or loss as an expense when these are incurred.

Depreciation

Depreciation is charged using:

Reducing Balance Method on Plant and Machinery, Office Equipment (other than IT Equipment), Building on
Leasehold Land, Vehicles and Furniture and Fixtures; and

-

Straight Line Method on IT equipment, structure on lease hold land and major Component of Plant and
Machinery identifiable as a separate asset due to useful life different from the Plant and Machinery.

-

Rate of depreciation on above are specified in the note 4 of these consolidated financial statements.

Depreciation on additions to operating fixed assets is charged from the day the asset is available for use and no
depreciation is charged on the day of disposal.

Depreciation methods, useful lives and residual values of each part of operating fixed assets that is significant in
relation to the total cost of the asset are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at each reporting date.

Gains and losses on disposal

The gain or loss on disposal of an item of operating fixed assets is determined by comparing the proceeds from
disposal with the carrying amount of the operating fixed assets, and is recognised in the consolidated statement of
profit or loss.
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Capital work-in-progress3.2.2
Capital work in progress is stated at cost less impairment loss, if any and consists of expenditures incurred (including
any borrowing cost, if applicable) and advances made in the course of their construction and installation. Transfers
are made to relevant asset category as and when assets are available for intended use.

Right of use assets3.3
Right of use assets are initially measured at cost being the present value of lease payments, initial direct costs, any
lease payments made at or before the commencement of the lease as reduced by any incentives received. These
are subsequently measured at cost less accumulated depreciation and accumulated impairment losses, if any.

Depreciation is charged on straight line basis over the lease term unless the ownership of the asset transfers to the
Group at the end of the lease term or the cost of the asset reflects that the Group will exercise the purchase option,
depreciation is charged over the useful life of asset.

Intangible assets3.4
These are stated at cost less accumulated amortisation and any provision for impairment loss. Amortisation of
intangible assets is charged to consolidated statement of profit or loss applying the straight line method at the rates
specified in note 6 of these consolidated financial statements after taking into account residual value, if any.
Amortisation on additions to intangibles is charged from the day the asset is available for use and no depreciation is
charged on the day of disposal.
The carrying values of intangible assets are reviewed for impairment when events or changes in circumstances
indicate that this carrying value may not be recoverable, if any such indication exists and where the carrying values
exceed the estimated recoverable amounts, the assets are written down to their recoverable amount.

Borrowing cost3.5
Borrowing cost is recognised as an expense in the consolidated statement of profit or loss in the period in which
these are incurred except where such cost is directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or production of a
qualifying asset in which case such cost is capitalised as part of the cost of that asset.

Store, spares and loose tools3.6
Stores, spares and loose tools are stated at lower of moving average cost and net realisable value, less provision for
impairment, if any. Stores-in-transit is stated at cost comprising invoice value plus other incremental charges
incurred thereon.

Provision is made for obsolete and slow moving stores, spares and loose tools based on management's best
estimate regarding their future usability and is recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or loss.

Stock-in-trade3.7
Stock of raw materials and finished goods are valued at lower of weighted average cost and net realisable value.
Cost of raw materials and trading stock comprises of the invoice value plus other incremental charges incurred
thereon. Work-in-process is measured at weighted average cost. Cost of work-in-process and finished goods
includes cost of direct materials, labour and appropriate portion of manufacturing overheads. Waste products are
valued at net realisable value. Stock in transit are stated at cost comprising invoice value and other incidental
charges paid thereon up to reporting date.

Net realisable value signifies the estimated selling prices in the ordinary course of business less costs necessarily to
be incurred in order to make the sale.

Impairment of non-financial assets3.8
The carrying amounts of non-financial assets are assessed at each reporting date to ascertain whether there is any
indication of impairment. If such an indication exists, the asset’s recoverable amount is estimated to determine the
extent of impairment loss, if any. An impairment loss is recognised as an expense in the consolidated statement of
profit or loss.
The recoverable amount is the higher of an asset’s fair value less cost of disposal and value-in-use. Value-in-use is
ascertained through discounting of the estimated future cash flows using a discount rate that reflects current market
assessments of the time value of money and the risk specific to the assets. For the purpose of assessing
impairment, assets are grouped at the lowest levels for which there are separately identifiable cash flows (cash
generating units).
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An impairment loss is reversed if there is a change in the estimates used to determine the recoverable amount. An
impairment loss is reversed only to the extent that the asset’s carrying amount does not exceed the carrying amount
that would have been determined, net of depreciation or amortisation, if no impairment loss had been recognised.

Financial instruments3.9
A financial instrument is any contract that gives rise to a financial asset of one entity and a financial liability or equity
instrument of another entity. Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised in the Group’s consolidated
statement of financial position when the Group becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the instrument.
Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially measured at fair value. Transaction costs that are directly
attributable to the acquisition or issue of financial assets and financial liabilities (other than financial assets and
financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss) are added to or deducted from the fair value of the financial
assets or financial liabilities, as appropriate, on initial recognition. Transaction costs directly attributable to the
acquisition of financial assets or financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss are recognised immediately in
the consolidated statement of profit or loss.

Financial assets3.9.1
All regular way purchases or sales of financial assets are recognised and derecognised on a trade date basis.
Regular way purchases or sales are purchases or sales of financial assets that require delivery of assets within the
time frame established by regulation or convention in the marketplace.

All recognised financial assets are measured subsequently in their entirety at either amortised cost or fair value,
depending on the classification of the financial assets.

Classification and measurement of financial assets
Debt instruments that meet the following conditions are measured subsequently at amortised cost:

the financial asset is held within a business model whose objective is to hold financial assets in order to collect
contractual cash flows; and

-

the contractual terms of the financial asset give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are solely payments
of principal and interest on the principal amount outstanding.

-

Financial assets ‘at amortised cost’ are carried at amortised cost using the effective interest method if the time value
of money is significant. Gains and losses are recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or loss when the
assets are derecognised or impaired and when interest is recognised using the effective interest method.

Debt instruments that meet the following conditions are measured subsequently at fair value through other
comprehensive income (FVTOCI):

the financial asset is held within a business model whose objective is achieved by both collecting contractual
cash flows and selling the financial assets; and

-

the contractual terms of the financial asset give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are solely payments
of principal and interest on the principal amount outstanding.

-

Financial assets at FVTOCI are carried on the consolidated statement of financial position at fair value with gains or
losses recognised in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income.

By default, all other financial assets are measured subsequently at fair value through profit or loss (FVTPL). 
Financial assets at FVTPL are carried on the consolidated statement of financial position at fair value with gains or 
losses recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or loss.
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Derecognition of financial assets
The Group derecognises a financial asset only when the contractual rights to the cash flows from the asset expire, or
when it transfers the financial asset and substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of the asset to another
entity. If the Group neither transfers nor retains substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership and continues to
control the transferred asset, the Group recognises its retained interest in the asset and an associated liability for
amounts it may have to pay. If the Group retains substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of a transferred
financial asset, the Group continues to recognise the financial asset and also recognises a collateralised borrowing
for the proceeds received.

On derecognition of a financial asset measured at amortised cost, the difference between the asset’s carrying
amount and the sum of the consideration received and receivable is recognised in the consolidated statement of
profit or loss.

Financial liabilities3.9.2
All financial liabilities are measured subsequently at amortised cost using the effective interest method or at FVTPL.
The effective interest method is a method of calculating the amortised cost of a financial liability and of allocating
interest expense over the relevant period. The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated
future cash payments (including all fees and points paid or received that form an integral part of the effective interest
rate, transaction costs and other premiums or discounts) through the expected life of the financial liability, or (where
appropriate) a shorter period, to the amortised cost of a financial liability.

Derecognition of financial liabilities
A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation under the liability is discharged, cancelled or expired. When
an existing financial liability is replaced by another from the same lender on substantially different terms, or the terms
of an existing liability are substantially modified, such an exchange or modification is treated as the derecognition of
the original liability and the recognition of a new liability. The difference in the respective carrying amounts is
recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or loss.

Offsetting of financial assets and liabilities3.9.3
Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the net amount is reported in the consolidated statement of
financial position if there is a currently enforceable legal right to set-off the recognised amounts and there is an
intention to settle on a net basis or to realise the assets and settle the liabilities simultaneously.

Impairment of financial assets 3.9.4
The Group assesses on a forward looking basis the expected credit losses (ECL) associated with its debt
instruments carried at amortised cost. The impairment methodology applied depends on whether there has been a
significant increase in credit risk. For trade and other receivables, the Group applies the simplified approach
permitted by IFRS 9, which requires expected lifetime losses to be recognised from initial recognition of the
receivables.

The Group measures ECL of a financial instrument in a way that reflects (a) an unbiased and probability-weighted
amount that is determined by evaluating a range of possible outcomes; (b) the time value of money; and (c)
reasonable and supportable information that is available without undue cost or effort at the reporting date about past
events, current conditions and forecasts of future economic conditions.

The measurement of ECL is a function of the probability of default, loss given default (i.e. the magnitude of the loss if
there is a default) and the exposure at default. The assessment of the probability of default and loss given default is
based on historical data adjusted by forward-looking information as described above. As for the exposure at default
for financial assets, this is represented by the assets’ gross carrying amount at the reporting date.

A default on a financial asset is considered when the counterparty fails to make contractual payments within 90 days
of when they fall due.

Financial assets are written off when there are no reasonable expectation of recovery. Where loans or receivables
have been written off, the Group continues to engage in enforcement activity to attempt to recover the balance due.
Where recoveries are made, these are recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or loss.
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Derivative3.10
Derivative instruments are initially recognised at fair value and subsequent to initial measurement, each derivative
instrument is remeasured to its fair value and the resultant gain or loss is recognised in the consolidated statement
of profit or loss. Derivatives with positive fair values (unrealised gains) are included in other assets and derivatives
with negative fair values (unrealised losses) are included in trade and other payables in consolidated statement of
financial position.

Cash and cash equivalents3.11
Cash and cash equivalents include cash in hand, with banks in current accounts, demand draft and running finance.

Share capital3.12
Ordinary shares are classified as share capital. Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of new shares are
shown in equity as a deduction, net of tax.

Government grant3.13
Government grants are transfers of resources to the Group by a government entity in return for compliance with
certain past or future conditions related to the Group’s operating activities - e.g. a government subsidy. The definition
of “government” refers to governments, government agencies and similar bodies, whether local, national or
international.

The Group recognises government grants when there is reasonable assurance that grants will be received and the
Group will be able to comply with conditions associated with grants. Government grants are recognised at fair value,
as deferred income, when there is reasonable assurance that the grants will be received and the Group will be able
to comply with the conditions associated with the grants.

Grants that compensate the Group for expenses incurred, are recognised on a systematic basis in the income for the
year in which the related expenses are recognised. Grants that compensate for the cost of an asset are recognised
in income on a systematic basis over the expected useful life of the related asset.

Loan is initially recognised at its fair value in accordance with IFRS 9. The fair value of the loan would be the present
value of loan proceeds received, discounted using prevailing market rate of mark-up for a similar instrument. The
benefit of below-market mark-up (i.e. differential between the loan proceeds and fair value of the loan) is accounted
for as deferred grant in accordance with IAS 20. In subsequent periods, the loan amount would be accreted using
the effective interest rate method. The accreditation would increase the carrying value of the loan with a
corresponding effect on the interest expense for the year in the consolidated statement of profit or loss. As per IFRS
9, the loan liability and related mark-up shall be derecognised when it is extinguished i.e., these amounts are paid-
off. While, the grant is recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or loss, in line with the recognition of
interest expense that the grant is compensating, in accordance with IAS 20.

Staff retirement benefits3.14

Defined contribution plan3.14.1
The Holding Company and its subsidiary, Ideas (Private) Limited, operate a recognised provident fund scheme for its
eligible employees to which equal monthly contribution is made by the Holding Company and the employees at the
rate of 8.33% of the basic salary. The Companys' contribution is charged to consolidated statement of profit or loss.

Defined benefit plan3.14.2
The Holding Company operates unfunded gratuity schemes for all its eligible employees. Benefits under the scheme
are vested to employees on completion of the prescribed qualifying period of service under the scheme. The
calculation of defined benefit obligations is performed annually by a qualified actuary using the projected unit credit
method.
Remeasurement of the net defined benefit liability, which comprises of actuarial gains and losses are recognised
immediately in consolidated statement of comprehensive income. The Parent Company determines the net interest
expense on the net defined liability for the period by applying the discount rate used to measure the defined benefit
obligation at the beginning of the annual period to the then-net defined liability, taking into account any changes in
the net defined benefit liability during the year as a result of benefit payments. Net interest expense and other
expenses related to defined benefit plans are recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or loss.
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When the benefits of a plan are changed or when a plan is curtailed, the resulting change in benefit that relates to
past service or the gain or loss on curtailment is recognised immediately in the consolidated statement of profit or
loss. The Parent Company recognises gains or losses on the settlement of a defined benefit plan when the
settlement occurs.

Accumulated employee compensated absences3.15
The Holding Company provides for compensated absences for all eligible employees in the period in which these are
earned. Provisions are made annually to cover the obligation for accumulating compensated absences and are
charged to the consolidated statement of profit or loss.

Lease liabilities against right of use assets3.16
Lease liabilities are initially measured at the present value of the lease payments discounted using the interest rate 
implicit in the lease. If the implicit rate cannot be readily determined, the Group's incremental borrowing rate is used. 
Subsequently these are increased by interest, reduced by lease payments and remeasured for lease modifications, if 
any.

Liabilities in respect of certain short term and low value leases are not recognised and payments against such leases 
are recognised as expense in consolidated statement of profit or loss.

Unclaimed dividend3.17
The Group recognises unclaimed dividend which was declared and remained unclaimed by the shareholder from the
date it was due and payable.

Provisions and contingencies3.18
Provisions are recognised when the Group has present obligation (legal or constructive) as a result of past event and
it is probable that an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits will be required to settle the obligation and a
reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation. Provisions are reviewed at each reporting date and
adjusted to reflect current best estimate.

A contingent liability is disclosed when the Group has a possible obligation as a result of past events, whose
existence will be confirmed only by the occurrence or non-occurrence, of one or more uncertain future events not
wholly within the control of the Group; or the Group has a present legal or constructive obligation that arises from
past events, but it is not probable that an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits will be required to settle
the obligation, or the amount of the obligation cannot be measured with sufficient reliability.

Recognition of revenue from contracts with customers3.19
Revenue from contracts with customers is recognised to the extent it is probable that the economic benefits will flow
to the Group and the revenue can be measured reliably. Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration
received or receivable and is recognised on following basis:

Revenue is recognised at amounts that reflect the consideration that the Group expects to be entitled to in
exchange for transferring goods or services to a customer.

-

The Group recognises revenue when performance obligation is fulfilled, at a point in time, when control of
goods have been transferred to a customer either on dispatch / acceptance of goods for local sales or issuance
of the bill of lading in case of export sales. Control, depending on contractual terms, is considered to be
transferred either when the product is directly uplifted by customer from the Group premises or when it is
delivered by the Group at customer premises.

-

Revenue from contracts with customers on services is recognised at the point in time when the performance
obligation is satisfied i.e. control of the serviced goods is transferred to the customer at an amount that reflects
the consideration to which the Company expects to be entitled to in exchange for those serviced goods. These
services include sanforisation and mercerisation of fabric.

-

Export rebate (if any) on export sales is recognised on an accrual basis at the time of export 
sale.

-

Processing charges are recorded when processed goods are delivered to customers.-
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Other income3.20
Other income is recognised to the extent it is probable that economic benefit will flow to the Company and the
amount can be measured reliably. Other income is measured at fair value of the consideration received or
receivable and recognised on following basis:

Profit on deposits with banks is recognised on time proportion basis taking into account the amount
outstanding and rates applicable thereon.

-

Dividend income is recognised when the Company's right to receive the payment is established.-

Interest on loans and advances to employees is recognised on the effective interest method.-

Income from sale of scrap is recorded on delivery of scrap to the customer.-

The grant is recognised in consolidated statement of profit or loss, in line with the recognition of interest
expense that the grant is compensating, in accordance with IAS 20.

-

Income from liabilities written back / provision are recorded when the chances of settlement of liability /
provision is remote.

-

Markup from Term Finance Certificates (TFCs) are accounted for as income using the effective interest
method.

-

Exchange gain from currency realisation and derivative financial instruments are described in note 3.1 and 
3.10 of these consolidated financial statements.

-

Taxation3.21

Current tax3.21.1
Current tax comprises the expected tax payable or receivable on the taxable income or loss for the year and any
adjustment to the tax payable or receivable in respect of previous years. The amount of current tax payable or
receivable is the best estimate of the tax amount expected to be paid or received that reflects uncertainty related to
income taxes, if any. It is measured using tax rates enacted or substantively enacted at the reporting date.

The Group takes into account the current income tax law and decisions taken by the taxation authorities. Instances
where the Group’s views differ from the income tax department at the assessment stage and where the Group
considers that its view on items of material nature is in accordance with law, the amounts are shown as contingent
liabilities.

Deferred tax3.21.2
Deferred tax is recognised using the liability method on all temporary differences arising at the reporting date
between tax bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts for financial reporting purposes.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for all taxable temporary differences. Deferred tax asset is recognised for all
deductible temporary differences and carried forward unused tax losses, and tax credits, if any, to the extent that it
is probable that taxable profit will be available against which such temporary differences and tax losses can be
utilised. Deferred tax asset is reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable that the related tax benefit will be
realised.
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at enacted tax rate that are expected to apply to the period when
the asset is realised or the liability is settled, based on tax rates that have been enacted or substantively enacted at
the reporting date.

Levies3.22
The tax charged under Income tax Ordinance, 2001 (ITO), which is not based on taxable income or any amount
paid / payable in excess of the calculation based on taxable income is classified as levies in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss as these levies fall under the scope of IFRIC 21 'Levies' or IAS 37 'Provisions, Contingent
Liabilities and Contingent Assets'.
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Revenue tax3.22.1
Revenue tax include levies as per IFRIC 21, minimum tax on imported goods and export sales under ITO. A levy is
an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits that is imposed by governments on entities in accordance
with legislation (i.e. laws and/or regulations), other than:

those outflows of resources that are within the scope of other standards.(a) 

fines or other penalties that are imposed for breaches of the legislation.(b) 

Final tax3.22.2
Final tax includes tax charged / withheld / paid on certain income streams under various provisions of ITO. Final tax
is charged / computed under the ITO, without reference to income chargeable to tax at the general rate of tax and
final tax computed / withheld or paid for a tax year is construed as final tax liability for the related stream of Income
under the ITO.

Earnings per share3.23
The Group presents basic and diluted earnings per share (EPS) data for its ordinary shares. Basic EPS is
calculated by dividing the profit or loss attributable to ordinary shareholders of the Group by the weighted average
number of ordinary shares outstanding during the period. Diluted EPS is determined by adjusting the profit or loss
attributable to ordinary shareholders and the weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding for the
effects of all dilutive potential ordinary shares.

Dividend and appropriation to reserves3.24
Final dividend distributions to the Group's shareholders are recognised as a liability in the consolidated financial
statements in the period in which the dividends are approved by the Group's shareholders at the Annual General
Meeting, while the interim dividend distributions are recognised in the period in which the dividends are declared by
the Board of Directors (the Board). Appropriations of profit are reflected in the consolidated statement of changes in
equity in the period in which such appropriations are approved.

Segment reporting3.25
Segment reporting is based on the operating (business) segments of the Group. An operating segment is a
component of the Group that engages in business activities from which it may earn revenues and incur expenses
including revenues and expenses that relates to transactions with any of the Group's other components. An
operating segment’s results are reviewed regularly by the Chief Operating Decision Maker(s) i.e., Chief Executive
Officer (CEO) to make decisions about resources to be allocated to the segment, assess its performance and for
which discrete financial information is available.
Segment results that are reported to the CEO include items directly attributable to a segment as well as those that
can be allocated on a reasonable basis. Unallocated items comprise mainly of finance cost, other operating cost,
other income and income tax. Segment capital expenditure is the total cost incurred during the period to acquire
property, plant and equipment and intangible assets. The detailed results of the reportable segments are disclosed
in the note 38 to these consolidated financial statements.
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20242025
------ (Rupees in '000) ------

Note PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT4

53,708,896 53,256,386 4.1Operating fixed assets
633,051 2,122,881 4.2Capital work in progress (CWIP)

-5,000 Advance against purchase of land
54,341,947 55,384,267 

Note

4.1 Operating fixed assets

As at July 01, 2023

Cost 9,543,110       18,733,368       43,844,658     572,001          1,999,350       783,041            75,475,528        

Accumulated depreciation -                  (6,581,024)        (14,986,458)    (174,463)        (876,050)         (552,282)           (23,170,277)       

Foreign currency translation -                  3,143                -                  13,863            267                 18,149              35,422               

Net book value as at July 01, 2023 9,543,110       12,155,487       28,858,200     411,401          1,123,567       248,908            52,340,673        

Movement during year ended June 30, 2024

Additions / transfers during the year 121,484          1,439,504         4,442,899       84,437            345,561          87,252              6,521,137          

Written off during the year -                  (70,069)             -                  -                 -                  -                    (70,069)              

Reclassification to CWIP -                  -                    (18,832)           -                 -                  -                    (18,832)              

Disposals during the year

Cost -                  (74,751)             (144,675)         (654)               (1,277)             (4,251)               (225,608)            

Depreciation -                  39,123              87,384            134                 649                 3,444                130,734             

Net book value -                  (35,628)             (57,291)           (520)               (628)                (807)                  (94,874)              

Depreciation charge for the year 4.1.1 -                  (1,475,532)        (3,146,312)      (51,850)          (226,335)         (67,305)             (4,967,334)         

Foreign currency translation -                  -                    (111)                (596)               (17)                  (1,081)               (1,805)                

Net book value as at June 30, 2024 9,664,594       12,013,762       30,078,553     442,872          1,242,148       266,967            53,708,896        

As at June 30, 2024

Cost 9,664,594       20,028,052       48,124,050     655,784          2,343,634       866,042            81,682,156        

Accumulated depreciation -                  (8,017,433)        (18,045,386)    (226,179)        (1,101,736)      (616,143)           (28,006,877)       

Foreign currency translation -                  3,143                (111)                13,267            250                 17,068              33,617               

Net book value as at June 30, 2024 9,664,594       12,013,762       30,078,553     442,872          1,242,148       266,967            53,708,896        

Movement during year ended June 30, 2025

Additions / transfers during the year -                  743,196            3,180,668       91,914            676,160          46,674              4,738,612          

Adjustments during the year

Cost -                  3,956                97,640            (154)               (71,154)           (30,178)             110                    

Depreciation -                  (1,964)               (15,901)           -                 25,297            578                   8,010                 

Net book value -                  1,992                81,739            (154)               (45,857)           (29,600)             8,120                 

Disposals during the year -     

Cost (52,873)             (335,998)         (207)               (3,371)             (2,914)               (395,363)            

Depreciation 32,467              271,341          8                     1,723              2,089                307,628             

Net book value -                  (20,406)             (64,657)           (199)               (1,648)             (825)                  (87,735)              

Depreciation charge for the year 4.1.1 -                  (1,446,346)        (3,274,532)      (57,706)          (280,662)         (55,322)             (5,114,568)         

Foreign currency translation -                  1,089                (6,663)             2,896              (1,473)             7,212                3,061                 

Net book value as at June 30, 2025 9,664,594       11,293,287       29,995,108     479,623          1,588,668       235,106            53,256,386        

As at June 30, 2025

Cost 9,664,594       20,722,331       51,066,360     747,337          2,945,269       879,624            86,025,515        

Accumulated depreciation -                  (9,433,276)        (21,064,478)    (283,877)        (1,355,378)      (668,798)           (32,805,807)       

Foreign currency translation -                  4,232                (6,774)             16,163            (1,223)             24,280              36,678               

Net book value as at June 30, 2025 9,664,594       11,293,287       29,995,108     479,623          1,588,668       235,106            53,256,386        

Depreciation per annum -                  10 to 33 10 to 33 10 to 12 10 to 33 20

------------------------------------------------------ ( % ) ------------------------------------------------------

 Leasehold     
land 

 Buildings and 
structures on 
leasehold land 

 Plant and 
machinery 

 Furniture 
and fixtures 

 Office 
equipment 

 Vehicles Total

------------------------------------------------------------(Rupees in '000)-----------------------------------------------------------
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Depreciation charge for the year has been allocated as follows:4.1.1
20242025-

------- (Rupees in '000) -------
Note 

4,290,564 4,394,570 29.1Cost of goods manufactured
384,733 481,684 30Selling and distribution cost
292,037 238,314 31Administrative cost

4,967,334 5,114,568 

4.1.2 Details of operating assets sold

Buildings and structures on leasehold land

Structural Costs 22,525     7,661       170          (7,491)      Bidding Third party

Structural Costs 2,940       2,201       313          (1,889)      Bidding Third party

Structural Costs 3,487       581          413          (168)         Bidding Third party

Civil, Electric and Allied 
Works 

17,084     5,106       725          (4,381)      Bidding Third party

Plant and machinery

37,809     2,454       1,139       (1,315)      Bidding

6,283       6,283       3,077       (3,206)      Bidding

2,883       1,129       1,000       (129)         Bidding

43,177     2,852       3,000       148          Bidding

191,708   49,019     14,294     (34,725)    Bidding

Items with written down 
value below Rs. 500,000

67,467     10,449     11,333     884          Bidding Various

As on June 30, 2025 395,363   87,735     35,463     (52,272)    

As on June 30, 2024 225,608   94,874     37,515     (57,359)    

Passenger Lift Awan Lift Company (Pvt) Ltd Third party
11th Floor, Rimpa Plaza, 
M.A. Jinnah Road, Karachi

Particulars of buyer
Relationship 
with buyer

-------------- (Rupees in '000) -------------

Jamaal

Salaam

Shahid

 Particulars of assets  Cost 
 Written 

down 
value 

 Sale 
proceeds 

 Gain / 
(loss) on 
disposal 

Mode of 
disposal

Salaam

Waukesha Gas Engine Ams Enterprise Third party
Plot # D-126 .Bawany Challi 
.Site Town, Karachi

Machine Paper Transfer 
Printing

Badar Processing Industries Third party
D-256, 273, Site, Karachi 
Pakistan

Waukesha Gas Engine R.A Engineering & Services Third party
2nd Floor ,plot no-18,sector-
47,korangi creek industrial 
area, Karachi

Air Jet Looms Tsudakoma Valitex (Pvt) Ltd. Third party
A/36-A, Mangopir Road, Site 
Karachi, Karachi West Site 
Town
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Geographical locations and addresses of all immoveable properties owned by the Company are as follows:4.1.3

AddressArea

Plot No. HT-4, Landhi Industrial Area, Landhi, Karachi.25.07 Acres
Survey No. 82, Deh Landhi, Karachi.14.9 Acres
Plot No. H-7, Landhi Industrial Area, Landhi, Karachi.18.56 Acres
P.U. No. 48, 49, 50, & 51, Deh Khjanto Tapo Landhi, Karachi.44.04 Acres
Plot No. H-19, Landhi Industrial Area, Landhi, Karachi.4.17 Acres
Plot No. H-19/1, Landhi Industrial Area, Landhi, Karachi.4,023.16 Sq. yards
Plot 368, 369 & 446, Deh Landhi, Karachi.6.83 Acres
Plot - HT 3/A, Landhi, Karachi.12 Acres
Plot No. H-5 and HT-6, Landhi Industrial Area, Karachi.51.1 Acres
Plot No. 65/I, Deh Dig, Sector-30, Korangi Industrial Area (Eastern), Karachi.1.997 Acres
24/A, Block C/3, Gulberg-III, Lahore.0.306 Acres
Shop No. 5 & 6, Bahadurabad, Karachi.0.082 Acres

Manufacturing facilities, warehouses, ancillary construction, administrative offices etc, are constructed on each of
the above mentioned land.

This includes borrowing cost captalised during the construction period amounting to Rs. 123 million (June 30, 2024:
Rs. 480 million). The effective rate of borrowing cost capitalised during the year was 15.98% (June 30, 2024:
18.60%) per annum.

4.2.2

2025 2024
4.2 Capital Work in progress (CWIP) Note

Plant and machinery 1,462,781     536,930        
Buildings and structures on leasehold land 532,099        81,063         
Others 128,001        15,058         

4.2.1 2,122,881     633,051        

4.2.1 The movement in CWIP is as follows:

Opening balance 633,051        2,409,507     

Capital expenditure incurred during the year
Plant and machinery 4,086,588     3,309,671     
Buildings and structures on leasehold land 1,194,232     841,594        
Others 948,412        559,475        

6,229,232     4,710,740     
Transfers to operating fixed assets during the year

Plant and machinery (3,160,737)    (4,433,375)    
Buildings and structures on leasehold land (743,196)      (1,439,504)    
Others (835,469)      (633,149)      

(4,739,402)    (6,506,028)    

Reclassification from operating fixed assets 4.1 -               18,832         

Closing balance 2,122,881     633,051        

--------------(Rupees in '000)-------------

4.2.2

20242025
------ (Rupees in '000) -----The cost of fully depreciated operating fixed assets still in use:4.3

168,880 168,880 Buildings and structures on leasehold land
133,618 156,389 Office equipment
506,814 506,814 Plant and machinery

2,919 2,919 Vehicles

812,231 835,002
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Plant and machinery, land and buildings are subject to first pari passu charge and a equitable mortgage amounting
to Rs. 43,154 million as on June 30, 2025 (June 30, 2024: Rs. 38,574 million). These charges are against different
financing facilities obtained from various banks as disclosed in note 18 of these consolidated financial statements.

4.4

5 RIGHT OF USE ASSETS

2025 2024
Note

Opening balance 2,818,151          2,860,182 

Assets recognised during the year 2,356,426             528,589 
Adjustments during the year 66,796                 135,921 
Depreciation expense

- Charged to cost of goods manufactured 29.1 (14,463)                (22,451)
- Charged to selling and distribution cost 30 (946,012)             (629,673)
- Charged to administrative cost 31 (33,253)                (54,126)

(993,728)             (706,250)

Foreign currency translation 189                           (291)

Net book value      4,247,834      2,818,151 

--------------(Rupees in '000)-------------

The carrying amounts of right of use assets recognised in respect of rented premises and movement there in during the
year is as follows:
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6 INTANGIBLE ASSETS

Note
At July 01, 2023
Cost 143,979        162,768        15,405         322,152        
Write-off -               -               (15,405)        (15,405)        
Accumulated amortisation (88,207)        (79,589)        -               (167,796)      
Foreign currency translation 1,233           57,708         -               58,941         
Net book value as at July 01, 2023 57,005         140,887        -               197,892        

 
Movement during the year ended June 30, 2024
Additions - cost 28,535         -               -               28,535         
Amortisation charge for the year 6.1 (26,940)        (11,574)        -               (38,514)        
Foreign currency translation (43)               (5,012)          -               (5,055)          

Net book value as at June 30, 2024 58,557         124,301        -               182,858        

At June 30, 2024
Cost 172,514        162,768        15,405         350,687        
Accumulated amortisation and write-off (115,147)      (91,163)        (15,405)        (221,715)      
Foreign currency translation 1,190           52,696         -               53,886         

Net book value as at July 01, 2024 58,557         124,301        -               182,858        

Movement during the year ended June 30, 2025
Additions - cost 18,477         -               -               18,477         
Amortisation charge for the year 6.1 (21,882)        (10,596)        -               (32,478)        
Foreign currency translation 3                  12,346         -               12,349         
Net book value as at June 30, 2025 55,155         126,051        -               181,206        

Gross carrying value
Cost 190,991        162,768        15,405         369,164        
Accumulated amortisation (137,029)      (101,759)      (15,405)        (254,193)      
Foreign currency translation 1,193           65,042         -               66,235         
Net book value as at June 30, 2025 55,155         126,051        -               181,206        

Amortisation rate per annum 20 to 50 10 to 50 20

 --------------------------------------------------------------------- (Rupees in '000) ---------------------------------------------------------------------

Goodwill Total

----------------------- (%) -------------------------

 Computer
Software 

 Trade
Marks 

6.1
2025 2024

Note

Cost of goods manufactured 29.1 3,241           1,793           

Selling and distribution cost 30 2,082           1,727           

Administrative cost 31 27,155         34,994         

32,478         38,514         

6.2 The cost of fully amortised intangible assets still in use are as follows:

Software 181,274        101,562        

The amortisation charge on intangible assets has been allocated as follows:

----------(Rupees in '000)--------
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2025 2024
7 LONG TERM INVESTMENT Note

Investment in Term Finance Certificate (TFC) - at amortised cost 7.1 70,000         70,000         

------- (Rupees in '000) ------

This represents Rs. 70 million (June 30, 2024: Rs. 70 million) invested in perpetual TFC issued by Habib Bank
Limited, which carries profit at the rate of 3Month KIBOR + 1.6% receivable on quarterly basis.

7.1

2025 2024
Note

8 LONG TERM LOANS

Considered good
 - Due from executives 134,508        87,256         

 - Due from non-executives 9,227           3,828           

8.2 143,735        91,084         

Current portion
 - Due from executives (113,894)      (69,871)        

 - Due from non-executives (8,354)          (3,274)          

13 (122,248)      (73,145)        

21,487         17,939         

----------(Rupees in '000)--------

Loans and advances have been given for the purchase of cars and housing assistance in accordance with the terms
of employment and are repayable in monthly installments. These loans are secured to the extent of outstanding
balance of retirement benefit or guarantee by two employees. The loan tenor extends maximum upto 24 months.

8.1

Included in these are loans of Rs. 110.63 million (June 30, 2024: Rs. 48 million) to executives and Rs. 7.9 million
(June 30, 2024 : Rs. 3 million) to non-executive which carry no mark-up. The loans amounting to Rs. 17.98 million
(June 30, 2024: 39.2 million) to executives and Rs. 1.3 million to non-executives (June 30, 2024: Rs. 0.8 million)
carry mark-up at rates ranging from 12.08% to 20.14% ( 2024: 6.5% to 22.9%) per annum.

The maximum aggregate amount due from executives at the end of any month during the year was Rs. 129 million
(June 30, 2024: Rs. 87.2 million).

8.2

2025 2024
Note

9 DEFERRED TAXATION - NET

Deferred tax asset of direct and indirect subsidiaries 9.1 1,004,141     1,115,326     

9.1 Deferred tax asset of direct and indirect subsidiary companies
 The breakup of the balance is as follows:

Deductible temporary differences in respect of;
Accelerated tax depreciation allowance         158,481         364,490 
Provisions           50,427           32,978 
Excess of lease liabilities over carrying value of right of use assets         479,867         358,940 
Minimum tax carried forward         315,366         358,918 

     1,004,141      1,115,326 

----------(Rupees in '000)--------

Deferred tax has been computed using effective rate of 39% consequent to levy of super tax at 10% on the taxable
income.

9.1.1
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30 June 30 June

2025 2024
Note

10 STORE, SPARES AND LOOSE TOOLS

Stores and spares 2,953,496     2,866,890     

Stores-in-transit 5,535           13,296         

2,959,031     2,880,186     

Provision for slow moving / obsolete items 10.1 (102,710)      (152,825)      

2,856,321     2,727,361     

10.1 Movement in provision for slow moving / obsolete items

Opening balance 152,825        302,702        

Reversal of provision for the year - Cost of goods manufactured 29.1 (51,249)        (148,345)      

Foreign currency translation 1,134           (1,532)          

Closing balance 102,710        152,825        

11 STOCK-IN-TRADE

Raw material
- In hand 29.1 40,054,692   31,297,840   

- In transit 682,520        1,495,563     

Work-in-process 29.2 12,166,591   9,921,938     

Finished goods 29 20,046,894   14,867,005   

72,950,697   57,582,346   

Provision for slow moving - stock-in-trade / obsolete items 11.1 (49,204)        (223,440)      

72,901,493   57,358,906   

11.1 Movement in provision for slow moving

Opening balance 223,440        236,395        
Reversal of provision for the year 29.1 (174,464)      (12,028)        
Foreign currency translation 228              (927)             
Closing balance 49,204         223,440        

----------(Rupees in '000)--------

11.2 The stock includes inventory held with third party amounting to Rs. 6,168 million (June 30, 2024: Rs. 8,126 million).

2025 2024
Note

12 TRADE DEBTS

Secured
Export debtors 4,912,822     4,378,812     
Local debtors 1,279,820     1,216,345     

12.2 6,192,642     5,595,157     
Unsecured
Export debtors 3,231,152     5,743,154     
Local debtors 12,267,506   9,610,205     

15,498,658   15,353,359   
21,691,300   20,948,516   

Expected credit loss 12.1 (170,695)      (229,471)      
21,520,605   20,719,045   

----------(Rupees in '000)--------



Annual Report 2025 145

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2025 2024
12.1 Movement in expected credit loss against doubtful trade debts Note

Opening balance 229,471        457,152        
Reversal for the year 31 (58,900)        (226,929)      
Foreign currency translation 124              (752)             
Closing balance 170,695        229,471        

----------(Rupees in '000)--------

Trade debts under irrevocable letter of credit, document acceptance, and other acceptable banking instruments are
considered secured.

12.2

This includes receivables provided to bank under bill discounting arrangement with full recourse amounting to Rs.
1,639 million (June 30, 2024: Rs. 4,598 million).

12.3

2025 2024
13 LOANS, ADVANCES AND OTHER RECEIVABLES Note

Loans and advances
Advances to suppliers 3,535,776       1,656,835       

Current portion of loans to employees 8 122,248         73,145           

Others 13.1 451,726         1,134,981       

4,109,750       2,864,961       

Other Receivables
Letter of Credit and Bank Guarantee Margin 13.2 1,322,051       650,183         

Deposits 49,183           28,082           

Forward Contracts -                332,315         

Accrued markup on Term Deposit Receipts (TDRs) 24,299           -                

Others 13.3 & 13.4 159,601         471,488         

1,555,134       1,482,068       

5,664,884       4,347,029       

----------(Rupees in '000)--------

This include an interest bearing unsecured loan amounting to Rs. 438 million (June 30, 2024: Nil) to a business
associate with a interest rate of 10% per annum, and repayable within the next 12 months. During the year, the
Group has recorded an ECL provision amounting to Rs. 38.79 million (June 30, 2025: Nil) on above loan.

13.1

These include Term Deposit Receipts (TDRs) of Soneri Bank Limited amounting to Rs. 979 million. (June 30, 2024:
Rs. 550 million) placed against bank guarantee margin. The guarantee margin carries mark up at the rate of 10% to
11% (June 30, 2024: 14.35% to 19.75%) per annum.

13.2

This includes balance receivable from Hub Liquid Terminal (Private) Limited, a related party amounting to Rs. 9.13
million (June 30, 2024: Nil).

13.3

Sky Home Corp has factoring agreement with CIT group Inc. and by virtue of this agreement the Company assigns
all of its trade receivables to factoring agent. At the year end, the balance outstanding with the factoring agent
amounts to Rs. 113 million (2024: Rs. 32 million).

13.4

All its assigned receivables for which the credit limit is approved by the factoring agent, either on credit limit basis or
order to order basis, are without recourse.

However, receivables which are either not assigned or credit limit is not approved and; receivables from related
parties are not covered under the factoring agreement and the; credit risk lies with the company itself.
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2025 2024
14 RECEIVABLES FROM GOVERNMENT Note

Sales tax refund 1,440,638       766,289         

Income tax refund 2,417,771       428,713         

Duty drawback and rebate 1,871,167       2,298,967       

5,729,576       3,493,969       

15 CASH AND BANK BALANCES

Cash in hand
- Local currency 93,291           186,919         

- Foreign currency 5,376             1,270             

98,667           188,189         
Balances with banks in current accounts

- Local currency 216,594         424,685         

- Foreign currency 244,196         468,894         

15.1 & 15.2 460,790         893,579         

559,457         1,081,768       

----------(Rupees in '000)--------

This includes an amount of Rs. 17.93 million (June 30, 2024: Rs. 205.26 million) held by Shariah compliant banks.15.1

This includes balances held with related parties (associated banks due to common directorships) amounting to Rs.
72.66 million (June 30, 2024: Rs. 5.70 million).

15.2

16 SHARE CAPITAL

2025 2024 2025 2024
16.1

Authorized capital

5,000,000,000 5,000,000,000 50,000,000   50,000,000   

2025 2024 2025 2024
16.2 Issued, subscribed and paid-up capital

192,161,738    192,161,738    1,921,617     1,921,617     

108,809,985    108,809,985    1,088,100     1,088,100     

439,087,735    439,087,735    4,390,877     4,390,877     

740,059,458    740,059,458    7,400,594     7,400,594     

Ordinary shares of Rs.10 each allotted for 
consideration paid in cash

Ordinary shares of Rs.10 each allotted as fully paid 
shares under scheme of arrangement for 
amalgamation (note 17.1)

Ordinary shares of Rs.10 each allotted as fully paid 
bonus shares

(Number of shares) -------------------------- (Rupees in '000) --------------------------

----------(Rupees in '000)--------(Number of shares)

Ordinary shares of Rs.10 each

16.2.1 As at June 30, 2025, Gul Ahmed Holdings (Private) Limited, the ultimate holding company of the Group, held
413,383,760 (June 30, 2024: 413,383,760) ordinary shares of Rs. 10 each, constituting 55.86% (June 30, 2024:
55.86%) of total paid-up capital of the holding company. Number of shares held by the associated companies
and undertakings, other than holding company, aggregated to 99,476,824 (June 30, 2024: 99,476,824) ordinary
shares of Rs. 10 each.
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As per the Honourable Sindh High Court's order, the Group has held 3,471,541 (June 30, 2024: 3,471,541) out of
the total bonus shares issued for the year 2015, 2019 and 2021 to Gul Ahmed Holdings (Private) Limited, an
associated company and other parties respectively, as these shareholders are part of the suit filed against the tax
on bonus shares imposed through Finance Act, 2014.

16.2.2

All these fully paid ordinary shares carry one vote per share and equal right to dividend.16.2.3

2025 2024
17 RESERVES Note

Capital reserves

Amalgamation reserve 17.1 8,252,059     8,252,059     
Statutory reserve 17.2 24,093         20,845         
Against long term investments, capacity expansion and BMR 17.3 23,000,000   23,000,000   
Foreign currency translation reserve 17.4 (321,067)      (302,206)      

30,955,085   30,970,698   

Revenue reserve

Unappropriated profit 13,484,518   8,956,407     

44,439,603   39,927,105   

-------------------------- (Rupees in '000) --------------------------

This represents reserves created under the Scheme of Arrangement dated May 05, 2021 involving the holding
company, Ideas (Private) Limited, Worldwide Developers (Private) Limited, Grand Industries (Private) Limited and
Ghafooria Industries (Private) Limited which has been sanctioned by honourable High Court of Sindh through order
dated October 29, 2021.

17.1 

As required by Emiri decree No. 2 of 1995, issued by the Ruler of Sharjah, and the Article of Association of Gul
Ahmed International (FZC), 10% of the profit for the year has to be transferred to legal reserve until it is equivalent
to 50% of paid-up capital. This reserve is not available for distribution.

17.2 

The Board of the Holding Company, in its meeting held on September 25, 2023, approved the creation of a
reserve, for the purpose of long term investments, Business Modernisation and capacity expansion, by transferring
an amount of Rs. 23 billion from unappropriated profit to this reserve. Based on this decision, the reserves against
long-term investments, capacity expansions and BMR amounting to Rs. 23 billion have been separately disclosed
as capital reserve not available for distribution in these consolidated financial statements.

17.3 

The foreign currency translation reserve comprises all foreign currency differences arising from the translation of
the consolidated financial statements of foreign operations.

17.4 

20242025
----------(Rupees in '000)--------Note LONG TERM FINANCING18

Secured

10,983,212 16,662,456 18.1From Banking Companies

3,562,997 2,826,322 18.2From Non-Banking Financial Institutions

3,279,314 2,781,877 18.3
Financing under Temporary Economic Refinance 

Scheme Facility - net of Government Grant

17,825,523 22,270,655 

(3,233,936)(3,878,180)25Current portion shown under current liabilities

14,591,587 18,392,475 18.10
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Particulars Note
 Number of 
installments 

 Maximum 
Maturity Date 

 Aggregate
Installment

amount 

 Mark-up/profit rate 
per annum 

2025 2024

- (Rupees in '000) -

18.1 Banking Companies - Secured

Islamic
Holding company

Dubai Islamic Bank 173,079               Three months 4,700,000     -               
Under LTL scheme KIBOR ask rate + 0.3%

payable quarterly

Faysal Bank Limited 32 quarterly 28,128                 2.75% - 3.9% p.a. 485,178        645,711        
Under ILTFF scheme 
 - Diminishing Musharaka

payable quarterly

Meezan Bank Limited 32 quarterly 91,054                 3.5% - 5.5% p.a. 2,174,863     2,529,595     
Under LTL and ILTFF scheme 
   - Diminishing Musharaka

payable quarterly

Subsidiary company
Meezan Bank Limited 125,000               One month 1,500,000     -               
Under Diminishing Musharaka KIBOR ask rate + 0.05%

payable monthly

Bank Al-Falah Limited April 30, 2027 375,000               Three months 1,500,000     -               
Under Diminishing Musharaka KIBOR ask rate + 0.25%

payable quarterly
Conventional

Askari Bank Limited August 12, 2027 25,163                 2.75% - 3.5% p.a. 453,209        553,368        
Under LTFF scheme payable quarterly

Bank Al-Habib Limited 18.7 16 half yearly 13,519                 2.75% p.a. 81,109         108,147        
Under LTFF scheme payable half yearly

Bank Al-Falah Limited 18.4 & 18.8 16 half yearly 58,964                 3% - 5.5% p.a. 550,482        668,409        
Under LTFF and LTL scheme payable half yearly

The Bank of Khyber 18.4 32 quarterly August 17, 2032 15,625                 5.5% - 8.5% p.a. 437,500        500,000        
Under LTL scheme payable quarterly

The Bank of Punjab 18.4 & 18.8 28 quarterly 71,429                 3% p.a. 682,394        967,990        
Under LTFF scheme payable quarterly

Habib Bank Limited 18.6 & 18.7 50,655                 2.80% - 3.25% p.a. payable 966,207        1,163,250     
Under LTL and LTFF scheme half yearly and quarterly

MCB Bank Limited 18.6 & 18.8 32 quarterly 9,596                   4.00% p.a. payable half yearly 201,637        240,179        
Under LTL scheme and quarterly

National Bank of Pakistan May 26, 2030 85,313                 2.75% - 2.80% p.a. 1,358,119     1,674,467     
Under LTFF scheme payable half yearly and

quarterly

Soneri Bank Limited 18.4 & 18.8 April 14, 2032 40,395                 3.50% - 5.0% p.a. 743,684        876,346        
Under LTFF scheme payable half yearly and

quarterly

United Bank Limited 18.5 & 18.8  16 half yearly March 21, 2032 64,452                 2.75% - 6.25% p.a. 754,021        912,670        
Under LTFF scheme payable half yearly and

quarterly

Samba Bank Limited 35,501                 3% p.a. payable 74,053         143,080        
Under LTFF scheme half yearly

16,662,456   10,983,212   

18.2 Non-Banking Financial Institutions - Secured

Pair Investment Company Limited 65,392                 3.0%- 3.5% p.a. 311,699        419,341        
Under LTFF scheme payable half yearly

Pak Kuwait Investment Pvt.  Limited 32 quarterly 62,189                 3.0%- 8.5% p.a. 960,562        1,211,540     
Under LTFF scheme  payable quarterly

Pak China Investment Pvt. Limited 32 quarterly 44,763                 3.35% - 5.35% p.a. 1,079,118     1,261,065     
Under LTFF scheme  payable quarterly

Pak Brunei Investment Company Limited 16 half yearly July 28, 2027 36,524                  2.5% p.a. 159,472        232,684        
Under LTFF scheme payable quarterly

Pak Oman Investment Company Limited 18.5 & 18.8 32 quarterly 30,724                  2.75% p.a. 315,471        438,367        
Under LTFF scheme payable quarterly

2,826,322     3,562,997     

October 15, 
2029

September 25, 
2032

November 22, 
2031

September 13, 
2027

18.4 ,18.6 & 18.8 12 and 16 
half yearly

18.4 ,18.5 & 18.8

18.4 ,18.5 & 18.8

18.4 ,18.5 & 18.8

4 quarterly18.11

18.4 ,18.5 ,18.6 & 
18.8

16 half yearly 
and 32 
quarterly 

10 and 16 
half yearly 

18.4, 18.8 & 18.12

20 and 32 
quarterly

20 and 32 
quarterly

18.5, 18.7 & 18.9

18.6, 18.8 & 18.9

32, 36 and 39 
quarterly

18.5, 18.8 & 18.12

18.5, 18.8 & 18.9

18.11

24 and 36 
quarterly

12 monthly 
(after 1 year 
grace period)

August 09, 2032

February 23, 
2031

December 27, 
2028

----------(Rupees in '000)--------

May 06, 2032

November 01, 
2030

September 13, 
2032

December 31, 
2026

October 22, 
2027

December 26, 
2032

December 2, 
2030
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18.3 Financing under Temporary Economic Refinance Scheme Facility - net of Government Grant

Habib Bank Limited 18.5 & 18.8 16 half yearly September 23, 2030 59,375                 2.25 % p.a. payable half yearly 637,854        750,163        

MCB Bank Limited 18.6 & 18.8 32 quarterly February 23, 2031 13,841                 3.00% p.a. payable quarterly 296,868        349,236        

MCB Islamic Bank Limited 18.6 & 18.8 32 quarterly January 19, 2031 9,375                   2.50% p.a. payable quarterly 201,416        236,889        
 

Bank of Punjab 32 quarterly December 02, 2030 31,250                 2.0 % p.a. payable quarterly 727,587        863,939        

Pak Kuwait Investment (Private) Limited 32 quarterly September 25, 2032 9,464                   2.5% p.a. payable quarterly 187,579        223,491        

Pak China Investment (Private) Limited 32 quarterly November 22, 2031 17,738                 2.50% p.a. payable quarterly 386,414        453,453        

18.4 ,18.5 & 18.8 32 quarterly April 27, 2031 15,357                 2.50% p.a. payable quarterly 344,159        402,143        

2,781,877     3,279,314     

Saudi Pak Industrial And Agricultural 
Investment Company Limited

18.4 ,18.5 & 18.8

18.4 ,18.5 & 18.8

18.4 ,18.5 & 18.8

These loans are secured by first pari passu charge over present and future operating fixed assets of the Holding
Company.

18.4

These loans are secured by charge over specified machinery.18.5

These loans are secured by first pari passu charge over present and future operating fixed assets of the Holding
Company and equitable mortgage over land and building.

18.6

These loans are secured by charge over specified machinery of the Group and equitable mortgage over land and
building.

18.7

The financing availed under the facility is repayable within a maximum period of ten years including maximum
grace period of two years from the date when financing was availed.

18.8

These loans are obtained under Shariah compliant arrangements.18.9

Loans are subject to compliance of certain covenants including Debt Service Coverage ratio, Current ratio, Debt to
Equity ratio, Interest Cover, Maximum Gearing, Debt to EBITDA, Debt to Sales and are secured against the charge
over assets of the Group.

18.10

Loans are secured by first equitable mortgage charge over the subsidiary company's property.18.11

These represent financing obtained from related parties (associated banks due to common directorships) of the
Group.

18.12

2025 2024
19 LEASE LIABILITY AGAINST RIGHT OF USE ASSETS Note

Opening balance 3,738,012       3,601,520       

Additions during the year 2,356,426       528,589         

Interest expense 34 747,487         507,171         

Adjustment during the year 113,726         145,823         

Payments during the year (1,477,737)     (1,044,823)     

Foreign currency translation 177                (268)               

Closing balance 5,478,091       3,738,012       

Current portion shown under current liabilities 25 1,094,691       548,173         

Non-current portion 4,383,400       3,189,839       

Closing balance 5,478,091       3,738,012       

----------(Rupees in '000)-----------
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2025
Present value 
of minimum 

lease 
payments

Interest
Minimum 

lease 
payments

--------------------- (Rupees in '000) ---------------------Maturity profile of minimum lease payments19.1

1,094,691 (732,172)1,826,863 Less than one year
4,209,857 (581,176)4,791,033 Between one and five years

173,543 (1,033,971)1,207,514 More than five years

5,478,091 (2,347,319)7,825,410 

2024
Present value 
of minimum 

lease 
payments

Interest
Minimum 

lease 
payments

--------------------- (Rupees in '000) ---------------------

548,173 (456,443)1,004,616 Less than one year
2,629,934 (1,222,390)3,852,324 Between one and five years

559,905 (384,227)944,132 More than five years

3,738,012 (2,063,060)5,801,072 

20242025
--------- (Rupees in '000) ---------NoteDEFERRED INCOME - GOVERNMENT GRANT20

134,994 102,906 Opening balance
(32,088)(28,251)33Amortised during the year
102,906 74,655 

(28,251)(24,035)25Current portion shown under current liabilities
74,655 50,620 Closing balance

20.1 This represent government grant recognised on the concessionary refinance facility introduced by State Bank of
Pakistan under a Temporary Economic Refinance Facility (TERF) for setting up of new industrial units and for
undertaking Balancing, Modernisation and Replacement and / or expansion of projects / businesses. These have
been accounted for as per the guidance issued by the Institute of Chartered Accountant of Pakistan (ICAP) in
respect of these loans.
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2025 2024

21 DEFINED BENEFIT PLAN - STAFF GRATUITY Note

21.1 Reconciliation of the present value of defined benefit  
obligation and movement in net defined benefit liability

Opening balance 528,898         337,549         

Charge 21.2 268,770         236,932         

Remeasurement (gain) / loss 21.3 (76,940)          41,421           

Benefits paid (245,621)        (83,420)          

Benefits due but not paid -                (3,406)            

Foreign currency translation 160                (178)               

Closing balance 475,267         528,898         

21.2 Charge for the year recognised in consolidated statement of profit or loss 

Current service cost 205,666         191,611         

Mark-up cost 59,077           46,588           

264,743         238,199         
Charge / (reversal) in respect of obligation of the subsidiary company 4,027             (1,267)            

268,770         236,932         

21.3 Remeasurement gain charged in consolidated statement of comprehensive 
income

Actuarial (gain) / losses from changes in financial assumptions (1,683)            20,441           

Experience adjustments (75,257)          20,980           

(76,940)          41,421           

----------(Rupees in '000)-----------

Significant actuarial assumptions used21.4

Following significant actuarial assumptions were used for the valuation by an independent valuer that is "Nauman
Associates":

20242025

14.75%11.75%Discount rate used for year end obligation

16.25%14.75%Rate used for markup cost

20.00%10.00%Expected increase in salary

SLIC 2001-2005SLIC 2001-2005Mortality rates

Set back 1 YearSet back 1 Year
Age-BasedAge-BasedWithdrawal rates

Age 60Age 60Retirement assumption

The discount rate used in the last actuarial valuation as on June 30, 2024 was 14.75% per annum. However, in
the current investment environment, where there is an downward trend in the interest rate structure, the discount
rate has been decreased to 11.75% per annum, in line with the specifications of the IAS-19.

Correspondingly, due to decrease in inflationary expectations, the rate of increase in eligible salary has been
decreased to 10.75% from 13.75% per annum.
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Associated risks21.5

Final Salary risk (Linked to inflation risk)(a)
The risk that the final salary at the time of cessation of service is greater than what has been assumed. Since
the benefit is calculated on the final salary (which will closely reflect inflation and other macroeconomic factors),
the benefit amount increases as salary increases.

Demographic risk(b)
Mortality risk - The risk that the actual mortality experience is different than the assumed mortality. This effect is
more pronounced in schemes where the age and service distribution is on the higher side.

Withdrawal risk - The risk of actual withdrawals experience is different from assumed withdrawal probability.
The significance of the withdrawal risk varies with the age, service and the entitled benefits of the beneficiaries.

General description21.6

The scheme provides retirement benefits to all its eligible employees of the Holding Company who are not part of
the provident fund scheme and who have completed the minimum qualifying period of service. Actuarial valuation
of the scheme is carried out periodically and latest actuarial valuation was carried out at June 30, 2025. The
disclosure is based on information included in that actuarial report. The gratuity is measured on last drawn salary
multiplied by number of years of service.

Sensitivity analysis21.7
Reasonable possible changes at the reporting date to one of the relevant actuarial assumptions, holding other
assumptions constant ( ± 100 bps ), would have affected the defined benefit obligation:

20242025
----------(Rupees in '000)-----------

7,098 6,502 Discount Rate + 100 bps

(7,366)(6,754)Discount Rate - 100 bps

(7,185)(6,503)Salary increase + 100 bps

7,044 6,371 Salary increase - 100 bps

Although the analysis does not take account of the full distribution of cash flows expected under the plan, it does
provide approximation of the sensitivity of the assumptions shown.

Maturity profile21.8
Maturity profile on defined benefit obligation as presented by actuary in the report;

20242025
----------(Rupees in '000)-----------

321,496 N/A FY 2025
258,322 278,916 FY 2026
178,930 215,999 FY 2027
123,968 146,144 FY 2028
86,754 98,818 FY 2029
61,650 67,340 FY 2030
45,036 47,396 FY 2031
31,222 32,144 FY 2032
23,818 23,215 FY 2033
17,535 16,462 FY 2034
50,061 11,642 FY 2035

N/A 30,986 FY 2036 onwards

The average duration of the defined benefit obligation is 1 year.
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Estimated expenses to be charged to consolidated statement of profit or loss in financial year 2026:21.9

191,624 Current service cost
38,390 Mark up on defined benefit obligation

230,014 

20242025
----------(Rupees in '000)--------Note

TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES22

14,773,722 16,511,384 Creditors
6,809,442 7,812,355 Accrued expenses

3,686,367 3,686,367 22.1Gas infrastructure development cess payable
7,149,819 2,111,194 Payable to bank under bill discounting arrangement

831,454 691,091 Advance from customers
391,652 331,048 22.2Workers' profit participation fund
129,235 143,045 22.3Workers' welfare fund
151,588 164,939 Taxes withheld

69,600 47,732 Payable to employees' provident fund trust
-64,902 Liability under forward cover

95,157 53,086 22.4Due to related parties
233,839 226,119 22.5 & 22.6Others

34,321,875 31,843,262 

This represents Gas Infrastructure Development Cess (GIDC) that was levied through GIDC Act, 2015 (refer note
27.4).

22.1

20242025

----------(Rupees in '000)--------Note

Workers' profit participation fund22.2

Movement of balance during the year:
342,711 391,652 Opening balance
361,927 331,048 32Allocation

8,908 22,867 Markup

713,546 745,567 
(321,894)(414,519)Payments 
391,652 331,048 Closing balance

Workers' welfare fund22.3

Movement of balance during the year:
122,667 129,235Opening balance

129,236143,04532Allocation

251,903272,280

(122,668)(129,235)Payments

129,235143,045Closing balance
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20242025
------- (Rupees in '000) -------NoteDue to related parties22.4

19,211 26,022 Win Star (Private) Limited
49,508 398 Swisstex Chemicals (Private) Limited
4,389 4,617 Grand Industries (Private) Limited
22,049 22,049 TPL Properties Limited
95,157 53,086 

This includes withheld taxes payable of Rs. 65.217 million (2024: Rs. 95,186 million) and Rs 54.266 million (2024:
Rs. 39.286 million) in respect of unutilised gift cards.

22.5

This includes amount of Rs. 84.055 million on account of credits errorneously made by payment gateway.22.6

20242025
----------(Rupees in '000)--------NoteACCRUED MARK-UP / PROFIT23

192,003 192,314 Long term financing
1,211,748 694,476 Short term borrowings

1,403,751 886,790 23.1 & 23.2

This includes accrued markup / profit of Rs. 132.8 million and Rs. 161.0 million (June 30, 2024: Rs. 81.1 million and
Rs. 358.7 million) accrued in long term financing and short term borrowings respectively under Shariah Compliant
arrangements.

23.1

This includes accrued markup pertaining to related parties (associated banks due to common directorships)
amounting to Rs. 4 million and Rs. 82 million in respect of long term financing and short term borrowings respectively
(June 30, 2024: Rs. 5 million and Rs. 257 million).

23.2

20242025
----------(Rupees in '000)--------NoteSHORT TERM BORROWINGS24

Local currency
5,286,695 5,593,672 Running finance

20,761,400 22,161,400 Export refinance scheme

3,868,906 4,204,545 Other short term finances

29,917,001 31,959,617 

Foreign currency
9,542,784 8,819,749 Export facilitation scheme
2,785,867 13,884,170 Foreign currency export finance

-783,043 Foreign currency import finance
248,676 635,478 Running finance

12,577,327 24,122,440 

42,494,328 56,082,057 24.1 to 24.5

This includes Istisna Financing (Shariah Compliant) amounting to Rs. 14,844 million (June 30, 2024: Rs. 9,949
million) in local currency. This also includes Running Musharika (Shariah Compliant) amounting to Rs. 1,750 million
(June 30, 2024: Nil).

24.1
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Short term borrowings are secured by pari passu hypothecation charge over stores and spares, stock-in-trade,
trade debts and other receivables. Unavailed facility at the year end was Rs. 16,753 million (June 30, 2024: Rs.
4,734 million).

24.2

This includes revolving short term borrowing amounting to Rs. 203 million @ 9.5% (June 30, 2024: Rs. 73 million
@ 9.5%) obtained by Sky Home Corp from Habib American Bank. This is secured against corporate guarantee of
the Holding Company, personal guarantee of a director, promissory note of USD 900,000 in favour of the bank and
charge over current assets of respective subsidiary. Revolving loans against factored receivables of Sky Home
Corporation use for payment of import bills, purchases and to meet other operating expenses. Payment of principal
and interest on realisation of receivables.

24.3

Local currency borrowings markup ranges from 8% to 12.5% (June 30, 2024: 18% to 25%) per annum payable
quarterly, whereas, foreign currency borrowings markup range from 2.5% to 5% (June 30, 2024: 2.5% to 6%) per
annum.

24.4

These include balances pertaining to related parties (associated banks due to common directorships) amounting to
Rs. 8,796 million (June 30, 2024: Rs. 14,579 million).

24.5

20242025
----------(Rupees in '000)--------Note

CURRENT PORTION OF NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES 25

Current portion of:
3,233,936 3,878,180 18Long term financing - secured

548,173 1,094,691 19Lease liability against right of use asset
28,251 24,035 20Deferred income - government grant

3,810,360 4,996,906 

20242025
----------(Rupees in '000)--------Note

23,505 23,505 26.1UNPAID DIVIDEND26

This represents amount held by the Group pertaining to the Petitioners of the suit filed in the Honourable High Court
of Sindh against the tax on bonus shares imposed through Finance Act 2014. The amount includes Rs. 18 million
and Rs. 0.8 million (June 30, 2024: Rs. 18 million and Rs. 0.8 million) of Gul Ahmed Holdings (Private) Limited and
an associated company respectively.

26.1

CONTINGENCIES AND COMMITMENTS27

Gul Ahmed Textile Mills Limited - Holding Company

The Holding Company owns and possesses a plot of land measuring 44.04 acres in Deh Khanto which is duly
registered in its name and appearing in the books at a cost of Rs. 83.86 million (June 30, 2024: Rs. 83.86 million).
Ownership of the land has been challenged in the Honourable Sindh High Court by Messrs. Karim Bux, Iqbal
Rasheed and Mansoor Munawar who claim to be the owners, as this land was previously sold to them and
subsequently resold to the Holding Company. The legal consultant of the Holding Company is of the view that the
Holding Company has a reasonable case and is expecting favourable outcome, therefore no provision has been
made there against. In respect of the same land, the Holding Company has filed a suit in January 2021 for
declaration and permanent injunction in the Honourable High Court of Sindh, seeking the declaration that the
Holding Company is lawful owner of the said property and that the undated notice issued by the Pakistan Railways
for sealing and taking over the possession of the said property is of no legal effect. The matter is at hearing stage
and the legal consultant of the Holding Company is of the view that the title of the Holding Company stands clear
and there is no likelihood of unfavourable outcome.

27.1
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The Holding Company has filed a Petition in the Honourable Sindh High Court, dated March 30, 2008, against order
passed by the Board of Trustees, Employees' Old-Age Benefits Institution (EOBI) for upholding the unjustified
additional demand of payment raised by EOBI for accounting years 2000-2001 and 2001-2002 amounting to Rs.
50.83 million (June 30, 2024: Rs. 50.83 million). This demand was raised after lapse of more than two years
although the records and books of the Holding Company were verified by the EOBI to their entire satisfaction and
finalisation of all matters by EOBI. The Honourable Sindh High Court has restrained EOBI from taking any action or
proceedings against the Holding Company. The legal consultant of the Holding Company is of the view that the
Holding Company has a reasonable case and is expecting favourable outcome therefore, no provision has been
made there against.

27.2

The Federal Board of Revenue (FBR) vide SRO 491(I)/2016 dated June 30, 2016 made amendments in SRO
1125(I)/2011 dated December 31, 2011 for disallowance of input tax adjustment on packing material. The Holding
Company has challenged the disallowance of input tax adjustments on packing material in the Sindh High Court
through suit No. 2381 / 2016 dated November 10, 2016 against Federation of Pakistan and others. The matter is
pending before the Honourable Court for final outcome and the legal consultant of the Holding Company do not
foresee any liability that is likely to arise, however provision has been made amounting to Rs. 431.88 million (June
30, 2024: Rs. 431.88 million) in these consolidated financial statements.

27.3

The Holding Company's review petition challenging the decision of High Court against the GIDC Act, 2015 had
been dismissed by the Supreme Court of Pakistan while also suspending the billing of levy from August 2020. The
court had ordered to pay the GIDC dues under the GIDC Act, 2015 with retrospective effect from December 15,
2011, in 48 monthly installments starting from August 2020. Total amount of the cess works out to Rs. 3.69 billion
on the basis that the Holding Company has both Industrial and Captive connections having different GIDC rates.
However, Oil and Gas Development Authority has ruled out that the consumers having supply of natural gas for
industrial use and having in-house electricity generation facility for self-consumption do not fall under the definition
of Captive as well as the Honourable Sindh High Court has also decided in favor of the Company on the issue of
Captive connections for self consumption. Therefore, management, based on the legal advice believes that
maximum liability of the Company in respect of GIDC will be Rs. 2.3 billion. The Company in September 2020 filed
a suit in Honourable Sindh High Court challenging the chargeability of GIDC. The Honourable Sindh High Court
granted stay order and restrained Sui Southern Gas Company (SSGC) from taking any coercive action against non-
payment of installments of GIDC. However, the management on prudent basis has maintained a liability of Rs. 3.69
billion (June 30, 2024: Rs. 3.69 billion) in these consolidated financial statements (refer note 22.1).

27.4

The Holding Company has filed appeal before Commissioner Appeals Inland Revenue against the Order-In-Original
vide No. 04/176 of 2023 dated August 24, 2023 whereby demand of Rs. 30.5 million along with penalty and default
surcharge on the issue of dual adjustment of input tax claimed during the tax periods from September 2017 to May
2022. The Holding Company has claimed the said invoices but FBR has already deferred the input tax amount
against the said service invoices during the process of sales tax refund and the Holding Company has not received
any input tax amount against said service invoices. Department also validates the same deferred invoices with FBR
system. The matter is at hearing stage and the legal consultant of the Holding Company is of the view that the title
of the Holding Company stands clear and there is no likelihood of unfavourable outcome.

27.5

For the tax year 2016, FBR issued income tax amended order under section 122(1) of the ITO, 2001 on August 21,
2019, wherein certain provisions and expenses aggregating to Rs. 338.2 million (having tax impact of Rs. 108.2
million) were added back to the income and super tax of Rs. 42.8 million was also levied. The Holding Company
contested the matter in appeal and Commissioner Income Tax (Appeal) passed an order in favor of the Holding
Company allowing the expenses aggregating to Rs. 290 million, However, Department had filed an appeal in
Appellate Tribunal on September 17, 2019 against the order which is still pending. The legal consultant believes
that the aforementioned matter will be ultimately decided in favor of the Holding Company. Based on the advice of
legal advisor, no provision is required to be made in the provision for taxation in these consolidated financial
statements, in excess of the adjustment of Rs. 8 million recorded in these consolidated financial statements.

27.6

The Federal Government, through the Finance Act, 2019, amended Section 65B of the ITO, 2001, reducing the rate
of tax credit from 10% to 5% on investments made in the extension, expansion, balancing, modernization, and
replacement (BMR) of plant and machinery for Tax year 2019. Further, the availability of such tax credit was
curtailed to June 30, 2019, whereas under the un-amended law, it was available up to June 30, 2021.

27.7
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The Holding Company, along with other petitioners, challenged the aforesaid amendment before the Honourable
Sindh High Court through constitutional petitions filed for Tax years 2019, 2020, and 2021. The Honourable Court
granted interim relief, allowing the petitioners to file their income tax returns in accordance with the un-amended
provisions of Section 65B. Consequently, the Holding Company claimed tax credit at the rate of 10% in its income
tax returns for the above-mentioned tax years.

On February 07, 2023, the Honourable Sindh High Court decided the matter, holding that tax credit under Section
65B at the rate of 10% was allowable, subject to the condition that the letter of credit for import of plant and
machinery was established on or before June 30, 2019 and the installation was completed on or before June 30,
2021.
The (FBR) preferred an appeal before the Honourable Supreme Court, contending that the applicable rate of tax
credit should be restricted to 5% instead of 10%. Vide judgment dated September 18, 2024, the Honourable
Supreme Court upheld the allowance of 10% tax credit only in respect of plant and machinery imported and
installed up to June 30, 2019, while disallowing the tax credit for Tax Year 2020. Since the Holding Company had
derecognised the investment tax credit in previous years, now as a result of the aforementioned judgement of the
Supreme Court, the Holding Company has recorded adjustment of Rs. 470.177 million, for the said judgement in
these consolidated financial statements (refer note 36).

The Holding Company, along with other petitioners, has challenged the retrospective increase of the rates of super
tax for tax year 2023 in the Honourable Islamabad High Court through Constitutional Petition. The Honourable High
Court has passed an interim order dated October 03, 2023 allowing the petitioners not to pay Super Tax in excess
of the rate prescribed in the amendment under challenge and has restrained tax authorities, from taking any
coercive action against the Holding Company. On March 15, 2024, the Honourable Islamabad High Court decided
the case in favour of the Holding Company. The FBR has filed an appeal before Divisional Bench of Islamabad High
Court against the above judgment which is pending for hearing. The amount of super tax involved is Rs. 946 million
(June 30, 2024: Rs. 421 million).

27.8

The Supreme court, vide Order dated March 23, 2025 directed that all the petitioners and appeal pending at
different High court of the Country regarding Super Tax should be transferred to the Supreme Court of Pakistan.
Accordingly, the above mentioned case has also been, transferred to the Supreme Court of Pakistan.

The Holding Company along with several other petitioners had filed a Constitution Petition on January 16, 2020
against Karachi Water & Sewerage Board (KWSB) and others in the Honourable Sindh High Court against
notification dated October 30, 2019 issued by the KWSB whereby water charges were increased from Rs. 242 to
Rs. 313 per 1000 gallons. The Honourable Sindh High Court has restrained KWSB from taking any coercive action
against the Holding Company and allowed the Holding Company to pay the bills as per old rates. As required under
the Order, the Holding Company provides banker's verified Cheques each month aggregating to Rs. 337.89 (June
30, 2024: Rs. 211.72 million) being the difference between Rs. 313 and Rs. 242 per 1000 gallons and based on the
advice of the legal consultant, as a matter of prudence, maintained full provision in these consolidated financial
statements.

27.9

The Holding Company along with other petitioners have challenged the imposition of Infrastructure Cess by the
relevant Excise and Taxation Officer, Karachi through petition dated May 28, 2011. Furthermore, the Holding
Company has also filed petition against Sindh Infrastructure Cess levied through the Sindh Finance Act, 1994.
During the year ended June 30, 2018 the Sindh Development and Maintenance of Infrastructure Cess Act, 2017
(the Act) was also enacted by the Province of Sindh against which the Holding Company also had filed
constitutional petition dated October 14, 2017 and Honourable High Court of Sindh had allowed interim relief to the
Holding Company till final judgment has been allowed in other similar petitions. However, based on the advice of
legal consultant, full amount has been provided in these consolidated financial statements. During the year, no
progress was made in court proceedings. The Bank Guarantee of Rs. 2,107 million as a security was given (June
30, 2024: Rs. 1,477 million).

27.10

The Holding Company along with several other companies filed a suit in the Honourable Sindh High Court
challenging the notification via SRO No. (I) / 2015 dated August 31, 2015 regarding increase in the gas tariff, on
November 16, 2015, which was decided by the Honourable Sindh High Court in favor of the Holding Company and
thereafter, the Government filed an appeal in the Divisional Bench of the Honourable Sindh High Court against the
decision, which has also been decided in favor of the Holding Company. As a matter of prudence, the Holding
Company has maintained a full provision of the said notification amounting to Rs. 159.9 million (June 30, 2024: Rs.
159.9 million) in the consolidated financial statements.

27.11
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OGRA issued further notifications on December 30, 2016, September 17, 2018, October 23, 2020 enhancing the
rates. The Holding Company, along with others, has filed petition in the Honourable Sindh High Court against the
said notifications.

For notification dated December 30, 2016, Honourable Sindh High Court granted interim relief and instructed Sui
Southern Gas Company (SSGC) to revise the bills at previous rate and instructed the Holding Company to deposit
the differential amount cheques with Nazir Sindh High Court as security. During the year, the Divisional Bench of
Honorable Sindh High Court has decided the case in favour of the Holding Company vide judgment dated February
03, 2025. Simultaneously, the Divisional Bench of Sindh High Court vide Judgment dated March 10, 2025, ordered
that the Nazir of Sindh High Court returns the cheques of Rs. 250.67 million which was deposited with Nazir, which
have been received back by the Holding Company. SSGC has filed the appeal in Supreme Court against the
judgment.
For notification dated October 23, 2020, on February 18, 2024, the Honourable Sindh High Court decided the case
against the Holding Company. The Holding Company filed an appeal in the Divisional Bench of the Honourable
Sindh High Court against the decision, which has also been decided against the Holding Company dated March 28
2024. Now, the Company has filed appeal in the Supreme Court against the judgment passed by the Divisional
Bench of Honourable Sindh High Court and the case is currently pending for hearing.

On February 15, 2023, OGRA issued another notification revising the gas tariff with retrospective effect from
January 01, 2023. The Holding Company, along with several other companies, has filed a suit in the Honourable
Sindh High Court challenging the increase in the gas tariff with retrospective effect. The Honourable Sindh High
Court has restrained SSGC from taking any coercive action against the Holding Company. As a matter of prudence,
the Holding Company has maintained a full provision of the said notification amounting to Rs. 174.4 million (June
30, 2024: Rs. 174.4 million) in the consolidated financial statements.

On November 08, 2023, OGRA issued notification and increased the gas rate retrospectively from November 01,
2023. The Holding Company along with others filed petition in the Honourable Sindh High Court against the
notification challenging the increase of gas tariff and its retrospective application from November 01, 2023. While
the case is currently pending for hearing before the Honourable Sindh High Court, however, the Holding Company
has paid increased amount to SSGC with the understanding that incase the decision comes in favour of the Holding
Company, the SSGC will either refund the excess amount or it will adjust in future bills post favourable decision.

While awaiting the decision for above case, on February 15, 2024, SSGC issued another notification to further
increase the gas tariff with retrospective application from February 1, 2024, where the Holding Company again
challenged its retrospective charge from February 01, 2024. Subsequently, the Honourable Sindh High Court
decided the case of retrospective application under above notification in favour of the Holding Company, which has
been challenged by SSGC in the Supreme Court of Pakistan and is currently, pending for hearing.

The Holding Company along with several other companies filed a suit in the Honourable Sindh High Court
challenging the notification via SRO No. (I) / 2015 dated August 31, 2015 for charging of captive power tariff instead
of Industry tariff rate to the Holding Company, as the Holding Company is producing electricity entirely for its own
consumption, on November 16, 2015, which was decided by the Honourable Sindh High Court in favor of the
Holding Company and thereafter, the Government filed an appeal in the Divisional Bench of the Honourable Sindh
High Court against the decision, which has also been decided in favor of the Holding Company. SSGC has filed the
appeal in Supreme Court against the judgement. As a matter of prudence, the Holding Company has maintained a
full provision of the said notification amounting to Rs. 237.6 million (June 30, 2024: Rs. 237.6 million) in the
consolidated financial statements.

27.12

The Holding Company along with several other companies has filed a suit in the Honourable Sindh High Court
challenging the notifications dated December 30, 2016, September 17, 2018 and October 23, 2020 for charging of
captive power tariff instead of Industry tariff rate to the Holding Company, as the Holding Company is producing
electricity entirely for its own consumption. The Honourable Sindh High Court has passed the interim orders for not
charging the Captive power tariff rates and consequently restrained SSGC from taking any coercive action against
the Holding Company.

During the year, for OGRA Notification dated on December 30, 2016, the Divisional Bench of Honorable Sindh High
Court has decided the case in favour of the Holding Company vide judgment dated February 03, 2025. SSGC has
filed the appeal in Supreme Court against the judgment. Simultaneously, the Divisional Bench of Sindh High Court
vide Judgment dated March 10, 2025, ordered that the Nazir of Sindh High Court returns the cheques of Rs. 388.57
million which was deposited with Nazir, which have been received back by the Holding Company. SSGC has filed
the appeal in Supreme Court against the judgment.
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OGRA issued another notification dated October 04, 2018 revising the tariff effective September 27, 2018, and
subsequent to this notification, the Holding Company paid the bills accordingly at the specified rates.

The Holding Company along with other Companies, have challenged the vires of the Off the Grid (Captive Power
Plants) Levy Ordinance, 2025 promulgated on January 30, 2025 and the notifications dated March 07, 2025 issued
by the Ministry of Energy in purported exercise of the powers conferred by section 3(1) of the Impugned Ordinance,
which imposes a levy, to be notified by Ministry of Energy, on the consumption of natural gas or RLNG by captive
power plants over and above the sale price of such natural gas or RLNG. The above case is still pending before the
Honourable Islamabad High Court. The Holding Company, along with others, filed petition in the Honourable Sindh
High Court against the notification challenging with its retrospective implication from February 01, 2025. The
Honourable Sindh High Court has passed the interim orders for not charging the relevant amount for the month of
February 2025. The Bank Guarantee of Rs. 138.59 million (June 30, 2024 Rs. Nil) as a security was given, while
awaiting the decision for above case.

27.13

Guarantees and others27.14

Guarantees of Rs. 5,464 million (June 30, 2024: Rs. 2,542 million) have been issued by banks on behalf of
the Group which are secured by pari passu hypothecation charge over stores and spares, stock-in-trade,
trade debts and other receivables. These guarantees includes guarantees issued by related parties
amounting to Rs. 2,980 million (June 30, 2024: Rs. 1,154 million).

(a)

Post dated cheques of Rs. 30,298 million (June 30, 2024: Rs. 25,580 million) are issued to Custom
Authorities in respect of duties on imported items availed on the basis of consumption and export plans.

(b)

Bills discounted Rs. 11,220 million (June 30, 2024: Rs. 13,451 million), including bills discounted from related
parties amounting to Rs. 3,643 million (June 30, 2024: Rs. 4,470 million).

(c)

Corporate guarantee of Rs. 264 million (June 30, 2024: Rs. 237 million), Rs. 1,129 million (June 30, 2024:
1,106 million) and Rs. 256 million (June 30, 2024: Rs. 251 million) have been issued to various banks in favor
of subsidiary companies - GTM (Europe) Limited, Gul Ahmed International FZC and Sky Home Corp.
respectively.

(d)

20242025
-------- (Rupees in '000) -------NoteCommitments27.15

761,3823,892,512Capital expenditure for plant and machineries

15,429,52822,897,74927.15.1Other than capital expenditure

21,344,8059,183,71827.15.2Forward foreign exchange contracts

Other than capital expenditure includes commitments for purchase of raw materials and stores and spares.27.15.1

This includes forward foreign exchange contracts amounting to USD 30 million (2024: USD 33 million), equivalent to
Rs. 8,646 million (June 30, 2024: Rs. 9,543 million) obtained under pre-shipment exports.The Group is obligated to
provide export documents against such amount. The above liability has been appropriately recorded under Export
Facilitation Scheme and is disclosed in note 24 of these consolidated financial statements.

27.15.2

Pension Commitments
GTM (Europe) Ltd. operates a defined contributions pension scheme. The assets of the scheme are held separately
from those of GTM (Europe) Ltd. in an independently administered fund. The pension cost charge represents
contributions payable by GTM (Europe) Ltd. to the fund and amounted to Rs. 2.0 million (June 30, 2024: Rs. 1.8
million).
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20242025
------------(Rupees in '000)-----------NoteREVENUE FROM CONTRACTS WITH CUSTOMERS28

Export sales
104,134,670 111,903,310 Direct
35,374,474 43,991,771 Indirect

139,509,144 155,895,081 
567,346 -Export rebate
(856,537)(1,190,366)Trade and other discount

(2,277,994)(1,769,346)Commission
(3,343,155)(6,712,615)Sales tax

133,598,804 146,222,754 

45,760,881 47,196,733 28.1Local sales
(407,153)(435,757)Brokerage 

(6,472,804)(7,442,298)Sales tax
38,880,924 39,318,678 

172,479,728 185,541,432 

Local sales include revenue from in-house manufacturing services on behalf of third party of Rs. 1,178 million (2024:
Rs. 772 million).

28.1

Information with respect to disaggregration of revenue by internal segment and geographical location is disclosed in
note 38 and 39 respectively.

28.2

All revenue earned is from shariah permissible business.28.3

20242025
------------(Rupees in '000)-----------Note

COST OF SALES29

14,774,304 14,867,005 Opening stock of finished goods
134,595,936 149,072,268 29.1Cost of goods manufactured

9,232,274 9,571,527 Purchase of finished goods
158,602,514 173,510,800 
(14,867,005)(20,046,894)11Closing stock of finished goods
143,735,509 153,463,906 

Cost of goods manufactured29.1

91,207,219 100,360,089 29.2Raw materials consumed
10,914,792 11,691,729 Other material and conversion cost

384,074 143,443 Stores and spares consumed
16,426,653 18,022,557 31.1Salaries, wages and benefits
12,048,844 13,571,818 Fuel, power and water

226,843 279,643 Insurance
2,305,168 2,062,373 Repair and maintenance
4,292,357 4,397,811 4.1.1 & 6.1Depreciation and amortisation

22,451 14,463 5Depreciation on right of use assets
(148,345)(51,249)10.1Reversal of provision for slow moving - stores and spares
(12,028)(174,464)11.1Reversal of provision for slow moving - stock-in-trade

599,852 998,708 Other manufacturing expenses

138,267,880 151,316,921 
Work-in-process (WIP)

6,249,994 9,921,938 Opening stock - WIP
(9,921,938)(12,166,591)11Closing stock - WIP
(3,671,944)(2,244,653)

134,595,936 149,072,268 
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2025 2024

Note
29.2 Raw materials consumed

Opening stock - raw material 31,297,840   26,502,764  
Purchases during the year 109,116,941 96,002,295  
Closing stock - raw material 11 (40,054,692)  (31,297,840) 

100,360,089 91,207,219  

30 SELLING AND DISTRIBUTION COST

Salaries, wages and benefits 31.1 3,374,873     2,709,337    
Freight and shipment expenses 2,394,813     1,731,190    
Advertisement and publicity 1,506,772     1,439,929    
Rent and ancillary charges 30.2 692,133       720,972       
Depreciation and amortisation 4.1.1 & 6.1 483,766       386,460       
Depreciation on right of use assets 5 946,012       629,673       
Utilities 707,074       689,375       
Communication 329,215       330,581       
Export development surcharge 282,183       316,177       
Royalty, markdown allowance and damage chargeback 30.1 & 30.3 41,830         1,652          
Other expenses 562,636       1,045,437    

11,321,307   10,000,783  

------------(Rupees in '000)-----------

Royalty charges being 6% of the net sales of Sky Home Corp pertains to Joint Trademark Holdings LLC, a Delaware
Limited Liability Company, having registered office at 1450 Broadway, 3rd Floor, New York, NY10018 and Portico
Brands, LLC, a Delaware Limited Liability Company, with a registered place of business at 156 Fifth Avenue, 10th
Floor,New York, New York 10010.

30.1

These represent variable rents, rents of short term leases and other ancillary charges related to leased premises.30.2

This includes markdown allowance, which is a rebate from manufacturer to retailer to cover losses from clearance or
promotional pricing. Further, it includes a damage chargeback, which is a fee a retailer or vendor pays to a
marketplace, for damaged goods that cannot be resold.

30.3



Annual Report 2025 162

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

31.1 Salaries, wages and benefits

2025 2024 2025 2024 2025 2024 2025 2024

Salaries, wages and 
benefits

 17,272,819  15,771,973   3,337,169  2,635,010    2,699,431    2,617,473  23,309,420  21,024,456 

Retirement benefits

      268,770       236,932               -                 -                   -                   -         268,770       236,932 

      374,708       321,501        37,665       74,310         55,854         64,932       468,227       460,743 

643,478      558,433      37,665      74,310      55,854        64,932        736,997      697,675      

      106,260         96,247               39              17              125              100       106,424         96,364 

18,022,557 16,426,653 3,374,873 2,709,337 2,755,410   2,682,505   24,152,840 21,818,495 

Cost of sales Distribution costs Administrative costs Total Total

------------------------------------------------------------------- (Rupees in '000) -------------------------------------------------------------------

Provident fund

Gratuity (note 21.2)

Staff compensated 
absences

This represents rent expense which comprises of variable rents, rent of certain short term and low value leases,
ancillary and maintenance charges incurred in respect of lease premises.

31.2

2025 2024
Note

31 ADMINISTRATIVE COST

Salaries, wages and benefits 31.1 2,755,410     2,682,505     
Rent and ancillary charges 31.2 192,179        275,299        
Repairs and maintenance 37,800          262,748        
Vehicle up keep and maintenance 942,173        600,314        
Utilities 13,127          34,609          
Traveling and conveyance 766,240        507,196        
Printing and stationery 99,212          107,530        
Communication 256,884        303,732        
Legal and consultancy fees 183,065        231,164        
Fees and subscription 260,391        94,693          
Depreciation and amortisation 4.1.1 & 6.1 265,469        327,031        
Depreciation on right of use assets 5 33,253          54,126          
Auditors' remuneration 31.3 26,095          28,636          
Donations 31.4 & 31.5 119,047        62,095          
Insurance 241,149        188,708        
Expected credit loss on trade debts 12.1 (58,900)         (226,929)       
Expected credit loss on other receivables 13.1 38,792          -               
Other expenses 664,102        413,506        

6,835,488     5,946,963     

------------(Rupees in '000)-----------
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2025 2024

31.3 Auditors' remuneration

Holding Company
Audit fee 10,800          10,800          

Fee for review of condensed interim financial statements 2,160            2,160            

Fee for audit of consolidated financial statements 1,560            1,560            

Review fee of statement of compliance with code of corporate governance 200              480              

Other certification fee 400              2,200            

Out of pocket expenses 2,458            5,441            

17,578          22,641          

Local Subsidiary 1,288            1,080            
Foreign Subsidiaries - Audit fee (multiple audit firms) 7,229            4,915            

26,095          28,636          

31.4 Donations include donations to the following organizations in which a director is a trustee:

------------(Rupees in '000)-----------

20242025
------- (Rupees in '000) -----Name of  DirectorInterest in DoneeName of Donee

8,785 4,002 Mr. Mohomed BashirCommon DirectorshipHabib University Foundation

250 400 Mr. Ziad BashirPatron in Chief
Landhi Association of Trade 
& Industry

During the year, the Group made donations amounting to Rs. 100 million to Indus Hospital and Health Network
(2024: Rs. 43 million to Saylani Welfare International Trust).

31.5

20242025

------ (Rupees in '000) -----Note
OTHER EXPENSE32

361,927 331,048 22.2Workers' profit participation fund (WPPF)
129,236 143,045 22.3Workers' welfare fund (WWF)
57,358 52,272 4.1.2Loss on sale of operating fixed assets
9,902 46,930 Loss on reassessment of right of use asset and corresponding lease liability

13,769 652 Others
572,192 573,947 
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20242025

-------- (Rupees in '000) ---------NoteOTHER INCOME33

Income from non-financial assets and others
-3,004 Scrap sales

32,088 28,251 20Government grant 
3,910 13,794 Unclaimed liabilities written back

136,477 55,488 Others
172,475 100,537 

Income from financial assets
16,481 11,819 33.1Mark-up income on TFC
1,462 -Dividend income

103,193 154,514 33.2Other markup income
1,219,444 798,332 Exchange gain from currency realisation

642,378 105,037 33.3Exchange gain from derivative financial instruments
1,982,958 1,069,702 
2,155,433 1,170,239 

This includes profit earned on Shariah Compliant investment on TFCs.33.1

This includes markup income earned on interest bearing loan to employees (note 8.1) and TDRs (note 13.2).33.2

This includes unrealised exchange gain earned on conventional derivative instruments during the year amounting to
Rs. 64.9 million. (2024: Rs. 332.31 million).

33.3

20242025

-------- (Rupees in '000) --------NoteFINANCE COSTS34

Markup / profit on: 
4,956,070 4,789,985 - Short term borrowings
1,013,013 710,319 - Long term financing

8,908 22,867 22.2- Workers' profit participation fund
1,179,020 1,689,998 Bank and other charges 

507,171 747,487 19Interest expense on lease liabilities against right of use assets 
7,664,182 7,960,656 34.1

Finance cost includes Rs. 790 million and Rs. 1,646 million (2024: Rs. 241.8 million and Rs. 1,183 million) in long
term financing and short-term borrowing respectively under Shariah Compliant mode of financing.

34.1

20242025

------- (Rupees in '000) -------Note

2,235,322 1,692,86335.1LEVIES35

This represents minimum tax paid (2024: Final tax) under sections 154 and 113 of ITO, representing levy in terms of
requirements of IFRIC 21/ IAS 37.

35.1

20242025

------- (Rupees in '000) -------TAXATION36

275,114 787,381 Current tax
(22,160)(489,991)Prior tax
252,954 297,390 

(624,707)111,695 Deferred tax income
(371,753)409,085 
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The Holding company being majority of the Group is subject to Minimum Tax Regime under section 113 and
section 154 of the ITO, (2024: Final tax under section 154) for local and export sales. Accordingly, the relationship
between tax expense and accounting profit has not been presented in these consolidated financial statements.

36.1

The aggregate of minimum tax and income tax, amounting to Rs. 2,480 million (2024: Rs. 2,510 million) represents
tax liability of the Group calculated under the relevant provisions of the ITO.

36.2

For the Holding Company as per the guidelines issued by Institute of Chartered Accountants of Pakistan on
application of IAS 12 'Application Guidance on Accounting for Minimum Taxes and Final Taxes', no deferred tax is
required to be booked as the Holding Company, based on the projections of taxable income, is expected to be
taxed under Minimum Tax u/s 113 of the ITO for the foreseeable future. Hence the Holding Company has not
recorded any deferred tax liability as at June 30, 2025 and June 30, 2024.

36.3

20242025Note
EARNINGS PER SHARE - basic and diluted37

4,851,963 4,454,419 Profit after taxation (Rupees in '000)
740,059,458 740,059,458 Weighted average outstanding shares (Number)

6.56 6.02 37.1Earnings per share - basic and diluted (Rupees)

There is no dilutive effect on the earnings per share of the Group, as the Group has no potential ordinary shares.37.1

SEGMENT INFORMATION38 

The Group's operations have been divided in four segments based on the nature of process and internal reporting
along with subsidiaries. Following are the reportable business segments:

Production of different qualities of yarn using both natural and artificial fibres.Spinning:a)

Production of different types and qualities falling under the definition of home textile.Home textile:b)

Sale of textile goods and other products through retail and online channels.Retail:c)

Weaving, Fiber Bleaching, Knitting, Yarn dyeing and Dyed yarn fabric etc.Others:d)

Transactions among the business segments are recorded at cost.
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Non-current assetsRevenue
2024202520242025

--------------- (Rupees in '000) ------------------INFORMATION BY GEOGRAPHICAL AREA39

58,870,793 61,236,422 71,319,396 77,033,592 Pakistan
--30,637,887 32,265,194 Germany

596 -14,807,071 14,693,413 United States
131,513 165,005 11,820,996 20,468,011 United Kingdom

--9,268,684 8,872,670 Italy
--7,146,621 7,571,900 France
--5,228,578 6,020,894 Denmark
--5,058,486 5,469,602 Poland
--4,802,197 7,021,034 Netherlands
--2,944,500 3,009,965 Spain
--2,125,559 3,654,145 Sweden

61,786 19,990 10,294,091 2,856,481 Other Countries

59,064,688 61,421,417 175,454,066 188,936,901 

20242025CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS40

--- (Rupees in '000) ------Note

1,081,768 559,457 15Cash and bank balances
(5,535,371)(6,229,150)24Running finance
(4,453,603)(5,669,693)

CHANGES ARISING FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES40.1

2025
Non-cash 
changes

Financing 
cash 

outflows

Financing 
cash inflows, 

net
2024

------------------ (Rupees in '000) ------------------Note

22,345,310 -(3,283,119)7,700,000 17,928,429 18 & 20
Long-term finance and 
deferred government grant

49,852,907 --12,893,950 36,958,957 24 
Short term borrowings -
net

2024
Non-cash 
changes

Financing 
cash 

outflows

Financing 
cash inflows, 

net
2023

------------------ (Rupees in '000) ------------------

17,928,429 -(5,777,758)358,000 23,348,187 18 & 20
Long-term finance and 
deferred government grant

36,958,957 --8,499,688 28,459,269 24 
Short term borrowings -
net
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41 REMUNERATION OF CHIEF EXECUTIVE, DIRECTORS AND EXECUTIVES

Managerial remuneration 16,000       12,000      2,263,177    2,291,177    16,000         12,000         2,094,250    2,122,250    

Performance bonus 1,333         1,000       142,053       144,386       1,333          1,000          84,436         86,769         

House rent allowance 6,400         4,800       598,722       609,922       6,400          4,800          514,297       525,497       

Other allowances 1,600         1,200       408,045       410,845       1,600          1,200          407,250       410,050       

Contribution to provident fund 1,333         1,000       154,788       157,121       1,333          1,000          143,157       145,490       

26,666       20,000      3,566,785    3,613,451    26,666         20,000         3,243,390    3,290,056    

Persons 1 1              776 778             1 1 661 663             

Chief 
Executive

Director Executives Total TotalDirector Executives
Chief 

Executive

2025 2024

--------------------------------------------------------------------------------- (Rupees in '000) ---------------------------------------------------------------------------------

--------------------------------------------------------------------------------- (Numbers) ---------------------------------------------------------------------------------

The Chief Executive and Directors are provided with Holding Company maintained cars and are also covered under
Holding Company's Health Insurance Plan along with their dependents. The Chief Executive is also provided with
free residential telephones.

41.1

Aggregate amount charged during the year in respect of meeting fee to Four Non-Executive Directors and the
Chairman was Rs. 8.6 million (2024: Four Non Executive Directors and Chairman amounting to Rs. 7.7 million).

41.2

Executive means an employee, other than the chief executive and directors, whose basic salary exceeds Rs. 1.2
million in a financial year.

41.3

TRANSACTIONS AND BALANCES WITH RELATED PARTIES42

Related parties comprise associated companies, companies where directors also hold directorship, directors of the
Group and key management personnel. The Group in the normal course of business carries out transactions with
various related parties. Details of related party transactions and balances other than those disclosed elsewhere in
these consolidated financial statements are as follows:
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20242025Transactions during the periodName of the related party

------- (Rupees in '000) --------

Associated companies

2,648 600 Rent expenseGrand Industries (Private) Limited

196,859 106,868 Purchase of goodsSwisstex Chemicals (Private) Limited
15,000 -Services rendered

31,169 31,893 Purchase of goodsWin Star (Private) Limited

182,171 197,927 Services renderedArwen Tech. (Private) Limited

960 960Rent paidHaji Ali Mohammad Foundation

2,500 2,500 Fees paidThe Pakistan Business Council

23,026,343 17,804,583 Bills discountedHabib Metropolitan Bank
254,419 203,159 Finance costs

2,361,162 4,554,017 Bills discountedAskari Bank Limited
434,005 269,052 Finance costs

169,874 420,155 Bills discountedSamba Bank Limited
81,167 58,251 Finance costs

1,696,905 3,915,018 Bills discountedStandard Chartered (Pakistan) Limited
468,738 432,123 Finance costs

392,046 440,465 Holding Company's contribution toGul Ahmed Textile Mills Limited Employees 
provident fundProvident Fund Trust

643 693 Fees paidInternational Cotton Association

1,250 2,500Membership feesPakistan Textile Council

60 60 Fees paidLandhi Association of Trade and Industry

2,222 2,172 Fees paidInternational Textile Manufacturers Federation

68,698 74,676 Subsidiary Company's Contribution Ideas - Employees Provident Fund Trust
to Provident fund

There are no transactions with directors of the Group and key management personnel other than under the terms
of employment. Loans and remuneration of the directors, key management personnel and executives are disclosed
in notes 8 and 41 respectively of these consolidated financial statements.

42.1
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42.2

Name of related party Country of Incorporation Basis of relationship

Gul Ahmed Holdings (Private) Limited Pakistan Ultimate Holding Company 55.86%

Habib Metropolitan Bank Limited (HMBL) Pakistan Common Directorship -

Swisstex Chemicals (Private) Limited Pakistan Common Directorship 2.99%

Arwen Tech. (Private) Limited Pakistan Common Directorship -

Win Star (Private) Limited Pakistan Common Directorship -

Samba Bank Limited Pakistan Common Directorship -

Standard Chartered Bank (Pakistan) Limited Pakistan Common Directorship -

Askari Bank Limited Pakistan Common Directorship -

Hub Liquid Terminal (Private) Limited Pakistan Subsidiary of Parent company -

TPL Properties Limited Pakistan Common Directorship -

Habib University Foundation Pakistan Common Directorship -

The Pakistan Business Council Pakistan Common Directorship -

International Cotton Association United Kingdom Common Directorship -

Pakistan Textile Council Pakistan Common Directorship -

Ghafooria Industries (Private) Limited Pakistan 2.17%

LITE Development and management company Pakistan Common Directorship -

Grand Industries (Private) Limited Pakistan 7.86%

Haji Ali Mohammad Foundation Pakistan Member of Foundation -

Gul Ahmed Textile Mills Limited Employees 

Provident Fund Trust Pakistan 0.42%

Ideas (Private) Limited Employees 

Provident Fund Trust Pakistan -

Mohomed Bashir - Director 0.07%

Mohammed Zaki Bashir - Director 0.34%

Zain Bashir - Director 0.34%

Ziad Bashir - Director 0.00%

Ehsan A. Malik - Director 0.00%

Zeeba Ansar - Director 0.00%

Kamran Y. Mirza - Director 0.00%

Following are the related parties with whom the Group had entered into transactions or have arrangements / agreements in 
place.

% of shareholding 

Employees Fund

Employees Fund

Group Company & 
Common Directorship

Group Company & Major 
Shareholders

CAPACITY AND PRODUCTION43

20242025Unit
WorkingProductionCapacityWorkingProductionCapacity

--------------------------------- (Rupees in '000) ---------------------------------

3 shifts 93,227 98,277 3 shifts 92,433 98,277 Kgs.Spinning
(20 Counts converted)

3 shifts 213,103 234,987 3 shifts 219,048 239,649 Sq. metersWeaving
(50 Picks converted)
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Production is lower as compared to capacity due to variation in production mix and various technical and market 
factors.

The production capacity and its comparison with actual production of Processing, Home Textile and Apparel segments
is impracticable to determine due to varying manufacturing processes, run length of order lots and various other
factors.

20242025NUMBER OF PERSONS EMPLOYED44
-------- (Numbers) --------

18,46617,113As at
18,24217,377Average during the year

PROVIDENT FUND RELATED DISCLOSURES45

The investment out of provident fund have been made in accordance with the provisions of section 218 of the Act and
the conditions specified thereunder.
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FINANCIAL ASSETS AND LIABILITIES46

Financial assets and liabilities of the Group as at June 30, 2025 are as follows;

Financial assets and liabilities of the Group as at June 30, 2024 were as follows;

Note

Financial assets

At amortised cost
Long term investment 7 -                  70,000             70,000             -                  -                  -                  70,000             
Long term loans 8 13,980             11,198             25,178             108,268           10,289             118,557           143,735           
Other receivables 13 1,019,464        -                  1,019,464        535,670           -                  535,670           1,555,134        
Long term deposits -                  -                  -                  -                  512,483           512,483           512,483           
Trade debts 12 -                  -                  -                  21,520,605      -                  21,520,605      21,520,605      
Cash and bank balances 15 -                  -                  -                  559,457           -                  559,457           559,457           

At Fair Value Through Profit or Loss
Short term investment -                  -                  -                  -                  -                  -                  -                  
Forward contracts 13 -                  -                  -                  -                  -                  -                  -                  

1,033,444        81,198             1,114,642        22,724,000      522,772           23,246,772      24,361,414      

Financial liabilities

At amortised cost
Long term financing 18 3,878,180        18,392,475      22,270,655      -                  -                  -                  22,270,655      
Lease Liability 19 1,094,691        4,383,400        5,478,091        -                  5,478,091        

Trade and other payables (other than fair value
  of forward contracts)

22 -               -               -               26,761,870    -               26,761,870    26,761,870    

Accrued mark-up / profit 23 -                  -                  -                  886,790           -                  886,790           886,790           
Short term borrowings 24 56,082,057      56,082,057      -                  -                  56,082,057      
Unclaimed dividend -                  -                  -                  9,365              -                  9,365              9,365              
Unpaid dividend -                  -                  -                  23,505             -                  23,505             23,505             

At Fair Value Through Profit or Loss
Fair value of forward contracts 22 -                  -                  -                  64,902             -                  64,902             64,902             

61,054,928      22,775,875      83,830,803      27,746,432      -                  27,746,432      111,577,235    

 Sub total 

2025
Interest / mark-up / profit bearing Non interest / mark-up / profit bearing

TotalMaturity up to 
one year

Maturity after 
one year

Sub total
 Maturity up to 

one year 
 Maturity after 

one year 

--------------------------------------------------------------------------------- (Rupees in '000) ---------------------------------------------------------------------------------

Note

Financial assets

At amortised cost
Long term investment 7 -                  70,000             70,000             -                  -                  -                  70,000             
Long term loans 8 23,434             16,125             39,559             49,711             1,814              51,525             91,084             
Other receivables 13 621,652           -                  621,652           528,101           -                  528,101           1,149,753        
Long term deposits -                  -                  -                  -                  518,467           518,467           518,467           
Trade debts 12 -                  -                  20,719,045      -                  20,719,045      20,719,045      
Cash and bank balances 15 -                  -                  -                  1,081,768        -                  1,081,768        1,081,768        

At Fair value Through Profit or Loss
Short term investment -                  -                  -                  1,243              -                  1,243              1,243              
Forward contracts 13 -                  -                  -                  332,315           -                  332,315           332,315           

645,086           86,125             731,211           22,712,183      520,281           23,232,464      23,963,675      

Financial liabilities

At amortised cost
Long term financing 18 3,233,936        14,591,587      17,825,523      -                  -                  -                  17,825,523      
Lease Liability 19 548,173           3,189,839        3,738,012        -                  -                  -                  3,738,012        

Trade and other payables (other than fair value
  of forward contracts)

22 -               -               -               29,131,579    -               29,131,579    29,131,579    

Accrued mark-up / profit 23 -                  -                  -                  1,403,751        -                  1,403,751        1,403,751        
Short term borrowings 24 42,494,328      -                  42,494,328      -                  -                  -                  42,494,328      
Unclaimed dividend -                  -                  -                  9,840              -                  9,840              9,840              
Unpaid dividend -                  -                  -                  23,505             -                  23,505             23,505             

At Fair value through profit or loss
Fair value of forward contracts 22 -                  -                  -                  -                  -                  -                  -                  

46,276,437      17,781,426      64,057,863      30,568,675      -                  30,568,675      94,626,538      

Interest / mark-up / profit bearing Non interest / mark-up / profit bearing
Total

2024

--------------------------------------------------------------------------------- (Rupees in '000) ---------------------------------------------------------------------------------

Maturity up to 
one year

Maturity after 
one year

Sub total
 Maturity up to 

one year 
 Maturity after 

one year 
 Sub total 
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FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS AND RELATED DISCLOSURES47

Financial risk management objectives
The Group's activities expose it to a variety of financial risks: market risk (including foreign exchange risk, markup risk
and price risk), credit risk and liquidity risk. The Group's overall risk management program focuses on the
unpredictability of financial markets and seek to minimise potential adverse effects on the Group's financial
performance.

Risk Management is carried out under policies and principles approved by the Board of Directors. All treasury related
transactions are carried out within the parameters of these policies and principles.

The information about the Group's exposure to each of the above risk, the Group's objectives, policies and procedures
for measuring and managing risk and the Group's management of capital is as follows:

Market risks47.1

Market risk is the risk that the fair value of future cash flows of the financial instrument may fluctuate as a result of
changes in market interest / markup rates or the market price due to change in credit rating of the issuer or the
instrument, change in market sentiments, speculative activities, supply and demand of securities, and liquidity in the
market. Market risk comprises of three types of risks: currency risk, markup risk and other price risk. The Group is
exposed to currency risk and markup risk only.

Currency riska)
Foreign currency risk represents the risk that the fair value of future cash flows of a financial instrument will
fluctuate because of changes in foreign exchange rates. Foreign currency risk arises mainly from future
economic transactions or receivables and payables that exist due to transactions in foreign exchange.

Exposure to foreign currency risk
The Group is exposed to foreign currency risk arising from foreign exchange fluctuations due to the following
financial assets and liabilities:

20242025

(Equivalent USD 000s)

36,37129,127Trade debts
1,685893Cash and bank balances

(45,112)(86,429)Short term borrowings
(623)(1,757)Trade and other payables

(7,679)(58,166)Net exposure

The Group manages foreign currency risk through due monitoring of the exchange rates, adjusting net exposure
and obtaining forward covers where necessary.

20242025

------ (Rupees in '000) -------

Foreign currency commitments and guarantees outstanding at year end are as follows:

100,058128,191USD
500500EURO

14,60014,600AED

250250GBP
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20242025The following significant exchange rates were applied during the year:

Rupee per USD
283.4 / 283.0279.6 / 279.1Average rate (Selling / Buying)
278.6 / 278.1283.9 / 283.5Reporting date rate (Selling / Buying)

Rupee per EURO

306.7 / 306.2304.1 / 303.7Average rate (Selling / Buying)
297.8 / 297.4333.1 / 332.6Reporting date rate (Selling / Buying)

Rupee per GBP
356.5 / 357.2361.7 / 361.1Average rate (Selling / Buying)
356.9 / 356.4389.7 / 389.1Reporting date rate (Selling / Buying)

Rupee per AED
75.8 / 75.776.1 / 76.0Average rate (Selling / Buying)
77.2 / 77.177.3 / 77.2Reporting date rate (Selling / Buying)

Foreign currency sensitivity analysis
A five percent strengthening / weakening of the PKR against the USD at June 30, 2025 would have increased /
decreased the equity and profit / loss after tax by Rs. 814 million (2024: Rs. 334 million). This analysis assumes
that all other variables, in particular markups, remain constant. The analysis is performed on the same basis for
June 30, 2024.

The sensitivity analysis prepared is not necessarily indicative of the effects on profit for the year.

Interest rate riskb)
Interest rate risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of financial instruments will fluctuate due to
change in the interest rates. The Group has long term finance and short term borrowings at fixed and variable
rates.
The Group is mainly exposed to interest rate risk on short term financing under variable rate arrangements and
these are covered by holding "Prepayment option" and "Rollover option", which can be exercised upon any
adverse movement in the underlying interest rates.

Financial assets include balances of Rs. 1,115 million (June 30, 2024: Rs. 731 million) which are subject to
interest rate risk. Financial liabilities include balances of Rs. 83,835 million (June 30, 2024: Rs. 64,058 million)
which are subject to interest rate risk. Applicable interest / mark-up rates for financial assets and liabilities are
given in respective notes.

Cash flow sensitivity analysis for variable rate instruments
At June 30, 2025, if markups on interest bearing financial instruments would have been 1% higher / lower with
all other variables held constant, post tax profit for the year would have been Rs. 827 million (2024: Rs. 603
million) lower / higher, mainly as a result of higher / lower interest expense on floating rate borrowings.

Fair value sensitivity analysis for fixed rate instruments
The Group does not account for any fixed rate financial assets and liabilities at fair value through profit and loss
account. Therefore, a change in markup at the reporting date would not effect consolidated statement of profit or
loss of the Group.

Other price riskc)
Price risk represents the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate
because of the changes in market prices (other than those arising from interest or currency rate risk) whether
those changes are caused by factors specified to the individual financial instrument or its issuer or factors
affecting all similar financial instruments traded in the market. As at June 30, 2025, the Group is not exposed to
other price risk.
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Credit risk47.2
Credit risk is the risk that one party to a financial instrument will cause a financial loss for the other party by failing to
discharge an obligation without considering the fair value of the collateral available there against. Concentration of
credit risk arises when a number of counter parties are engaged in similar business activities or have similar
economic features that would cause their ability to meet contractual obligations to be similarly affected by changes in
economic, political or other conditions.

Exposure to credit risk
The Group's operating activities exposes it to credit risks arising mainly in respect of long term investment, loans and
other receivables, trade debts, long term deposits and bank balances. The maximum exposure to credit risk at the
reporting date is as follows:

20242025

------ (Rupees in '000) -------Note

70,000 70,000 Long term investment
1,149,753 1,555,134 Other receivables

91,084 143,735 Long term loans
518,467 512,483 Long term deposits

20,719,045 21,520,605 12Trade debts
893,579 460,790 15Bank balances

23,441,928 24,262,747 

The Group manages credit risk as follows:

Loans and other receivables
These loans are due from employees and are recovered in monthly installments deductible from their salaries.
Retirement balances are also available for these employees against which balance can be adjusted incase of
default. The Group actively pursues for the recovery of these loans and the Group does not expect that these
employees will fail to meet their obligations, hence the management believes no impairment allowance is required
there against.

Other receivables include bank guarantee margin Letter of Credit and miscellaneous receivables which are neither
past due nor impaired. The Group believes that based on past relationship, credit rating and financial soundness of
the counter parties chances of default are remote and also there is no material impact of changes in credit risks of
such receivables so no impairment allowance is necessary in respect of these advances and receivables.

Long term deposits
These are mainly held for rental premises and utilities with the counter parties which have long association with the
Group and have a good credit history. The management does not expect to incur credit loss there against.

Trade debts
Trade debts are due from local and foreign customers. The Group manages credit risk inter alia by setting out credit
limit in relation to individual customers, by obtaining advance against sales and / or through letter of credits and / or
by providing impairment allowance for life time expected credit loss on trade debts.

Trade debts under irrevocable letter of credit, document acceptance and other acceptable banking instruments are
considered secured. Further the majority of the customers have been transacting with the Group for several years.
The Group actively pursues for the recovery of the debt and based on past experience and business relationship and
credit worthiness of these customers, the Group does not expects these customers will fail to meet their obligations
except for some past due trade debts against which adequate allowance for impairment has been made.

The Group has established an allowance for expected credit losses against trade debts that represent its estimate of
expected losses based on actual credit loss experience in respect of trade debts based on the last 3 years. The
allowance determined is then multiplied by the weighted average macroeconomic factors for the three developed
scenarios namely "Base", "Best" and "Worst" to incorporate the forward-looking information in expected credit loss
model. The macroeconomic factors used include GDP Forecast, Unemployment Forecast, Inflation Rate Forecast
and Exchange Rate Forecast. The Group has aging of the trade debts of the Group outstanding as at year end is as
follows:
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20242025
Impairment 

Loss 
Allowance

Gross 
Carrying
Amount

Impairment 
Loss 

Allowance

Gross 
Carrying
Amount

------------------------------ (Rupees in '000) ------------------------------

2025
-5,595,157 -6,192,642 Secured

Unsecured
17 11,909,590 4 10,188,308 Current

3,101 2,207,805 406 4,320,028 1-30 Days
9,973 700,840 5,909 628,499 31-60 Days

57,760 376,504 248 41,001 61-90 Days
158,620 158,620 164,128 310,929 More than 90 Days
229,471 20,948,516 170,695 21,681,407 

Management believes that the unimpaired balances that are past due are still collectable in full, based on historical
payment behavior and review of financial strength of respective customers. Further, certain trade debtors, which
have been derecognised as a result of bills discounting, are secured by way of Export Letter of Credit and Inland
Letter of Credit, which can be called upon if the counter party is in default under the terms of the agreement.

Long term investment and bank balances
The Group limits its exposure to credit risk by maintaining bank accounts and investing only with counter-parties that
have stable credit rating.

The long term investment and bank balances along with credit ratings are tabulated below:

20242025

----- (Rupees in '000) ------Note

Long term investment
70,000 70,0007AAA

Bank balances
106,780158,027 AAA

5,70061,844 AA+
76514,197 AA

75,7112,492 AA-
180,351 1,893 A+
464,170 221,937 A1

60,102 400 BBB-
893,579 460,790 

963,579530,790 

Given these high credit ratings, management does not expect that any counter party will fail to meet their obligations.

Concentration of credit risk
Credit risk is the risk that one party to a financial instrument will fail to discharge an obligation and cause the other
party to incur a financial loss, without taking into account the fair value of any collateral. Concentration of credit risk
arises when a number of counter parties are engaged in similar business activities or have similar economic features
that would cause their ability to meet contractual obligations to be similarly affected by changes in economic, political
or other conditions. Concentrations of credit risk indicate the relative sensitivity of the Company's performance to
developments affecting a particular industry. The Group exposure to a single customer exceeding 10% of the total
exposure amounts to Rs. 2,436 million (2024: Rs. 2,790 million).

Credit risk of the Group arises principally from long term investments, long term loans and other receivables, trade
debts, long term deposits and bank balances.
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Liquidity risk47.3

Liquidity risk represent the risk where the Group will encounter difficulty in meeting obligations associated with
financial liabilities when they fall due. The exposure to liquidity risk along with their maturities is disclosed in
respective notes and note 46.

The Group manages liquidity risk by maintaining sufficient cash in hand and at banks and ensuring the fund
availability through adequate credit facilities. At June 30, 2025, the Group has Rs. 71,760 million (June 30, 2024: Rs.
45,368 million) available borrowing limit from financial institutions. Unutilised borrowing facilities of Rs. 16,753 million
(June 30, 2024: Rs. 4,734 million) and also has Rs. 558 million (June 30, 2024: Rs. 1,082 million) being cash in hand
and balances at banks. Based on the above, management believes the liquidity risk is insignificant.

Total carrying 
amount

More than one 
year

Less than one 
year

----------------- (Rupees in '000) ------------------Note

As at June 30, 2025

22,270,655 18,392,475 3,878,180 18Long term financing
7,825,410 5,998,547 1,826,863 19Lease liability against right of use assets

26,826,772 -26,826,772 22Trade and other payables
886,790 -886,790 23Accrued mark-up / profit

56,082,057 -56,082,057 24Short term borrowings
9,365 -9,365 Unclaimed dividend
23,505 -23,505 26Unpaid dividend

113,924,555 24,391,022 89,533,532 

100,896,852 19,388,043 81,508,809 Total as at June 30, 2024

Capital risk management47.4

The primary objectives of the Group when managing capital are to safeguard the Group's ability to continue as a
going concern in order to provide returns for shareholders and benefits for other stakeholders and to maintain an
optimal capital structure.

The Group manages its capital structure and makes adjustment to it, in light of changes in economic conditions. To
maintain or adjust the capital structure, the Group may adjust the dividend payment to shareholders or issue new
shares.

The Group's strategy is to maintain leveraged gearing. The gearing ratios as at June 30, 2025 and June 30, 2024
were as follows:

20242025

----- (Rupees in '000) -----

60,319,851 78,352,712 Total borrowings
(1,081,768)(559,457)Cash and bank
59,238,083 77,793,255 Net debt

47,327,699 51,840,197 Total equity
106,565,782 129,633,452 Total equity and debt

---------- ( % ) -----------
56 60 Gearing ratio

The Group finances its operations through equity, borrowings and management of working capital with a view to
maintain an appropriate mix amongst various sources of finance to minimise risk and borrowing cost.
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FAIR VALUES48

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction in
the principal (or most advantageous) market at the measurement date under current market conditions (i.e. an exit
price) regardless of whether that price is directly observable or estimated using another valuation technique.

The Group while assessing fair values uses valuation techniques that are appropriate in the circumstances using
relevant observable data as far as possible and minimising the use of unobservable inputs. Fair values are
categorised into following three levels based on the input used in the valuation techniques;

Quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities that can be assessed at measurement.- Level 1 

Inputs other than quoted prices included within level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability,
either directly (that is, as prices) or indirectly (that is, derived from prices).

- Level 2

Inputs are unobservable inputs for the asset or liability Inputs for the asset or liability that are not based
on observable market data (that is, unobservable inputs).

- Level 3

If inputs used to measure the fair values of an asset or a liability fall into different levels then the fair value
measurement is categorised in its entirety in the same level of the fair value hierarchy as the lowest level input that is
significant to the entire measurement.

Transfers, if any, between levels of the fair value hierarchy is recognised at the end of the reporting period during
which the transfer has occurred. The Group’s policy for determining when transfers between levels in the hierarchy
have occurred includes monitoring of changes in market and trading activity and changes in inputs used in valuation
techniques.
As at year end, the fair value of all the financial assets and liabilities approximates to their carrying values. The
operating fixed assets and right of use asset is carried at cost less accumulated depreciation and impairment if any,
except there is no free-hold land and lease-hold land which are stated at cost. The Group does not expect that
unobservable inputs may have significant effect on fair values. The fair values of forward exchange contracts is
determined based on the forward exchange rates at the reporting date included in the level 2 of the fair value
hierarchy.

GENERAL49

Events occurring after reporting date49.1
On September 29, 2025, Board of Directors, approved the closure of the Group’s Export Apparel operations as part 
of its strategic review of operations.  The closure will be implemented in the forthcoming financial year, with financial 
and operational impacts to be recognised in the consolidated financial statements of the ensuing year.

Corresponding figures49.2
Corresponding figures have been rearranged or reclassified, where necessary, for the purpose of better
presentation. No significant rearrangement or reclassification was made in these consolidated financial statements
during the current year.

DATE OF AUTHORISATION50

These consolidated financial statements were authorised for issue by the Board of Directors of the Group in their
meeting held on September 29, 2025.

MUHAMMAD KASHIF RIAZ
Chief Financial OfficerChairman

MOHAMMED ZAKI BASHIR
Chief Executive Officer

___________________
MOHOMED BASHIR

_________________________ ___________________________
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PATTERN OF SHAREHOLDING

Percentage
(%)

No. of 
Shares

No. of 
Shareholder

Shareholders CategoryS No.

15.88 117,555,6246,887Individuals1
61.58 455,710,68872Investment Companies & Mutual Funds2

1.36 10,031,5595Insurance Companies3
13.69101,339,50029Joint Stock Companies4
0.00 901Modaraba Companies5
7.36 54,451,7215Financial Institutions6
0.09 642,9857Charitable Institutions7
0.04 327,2914Government Departments8

100.00 740,059,4587,010

Categories of Shareholding
As at June 30, 2025
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NO. OF SHARESHOLDINGS 
TOTAL SHARESTO FROM NO OF SHAREHOLDERS 

45,905 100 1 1,452 
404,324 500 101 1,341 
820,431 1,000 501 1,023 

4,707,530 5,000 1,001 1,856 
3,936,629 10,000 5,001 517 
2,457,238 15,000 10,001 195 
2,179,354 20,000 15,001 121 
1,892,779 25,000 20,001 82 
1,872,757 30,000 25,001 67 
1,304,119 35,000 30,001 40 
1,479,938 40,000 35,001 39 
1,118,072 45,000 40,001 26 

986,671 50,000 45,001 20 
584,660 55,000 50,001 11 
885,600 60,000 55,001 15 
944,963 65,000 60,001 15 
406,067 70,000 65,001 6 
798,703 75,000 70,001 11 
861,612 80,000 75,001 11 
416,978 85,000 80,001 5 
439,287 90,000 85,001 5 
373,031 95,000 90,001 4 

1,882,380 100,000 95,001 19 
415,153 105,000 100,001 4 
324,105 110,000 105,001 3 
112,287 115,000 110,001 1 
240,000 120,000 115,001 2 
123,989 125,000 120,001 1 
127,076 130,000 125,001 1 
268,226 135,000 130,001 2 
570,891 145,000 140,001 4 
746,749 150,000 145,001 5 
150,920 155,000 150,001 1 
155,560 160,000 155,001 1 
651,593 165,000 160,001 4 
340,000 170,000 165,001 2 
863,600 175,000 170,001 5 
538,192 180,000 175,001 3 
918,426 185,000 180,001 5 
561,406 190,000 185,001 3 
191,263 195,000 190,001 1 
996,323 200,000 195,001 5 
610,414 205,000 200,001 3 
424,236 215,000 210,001 2 
225,522 230,000 225,001 1 
469,350 235,000 230,001 2 

Pattern of Shareholding
As at June 30, 2025
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PATTERN OF SHAREHOLDING

NO. OF SHARESHOLDINGS 
TOTAL SHARES TO FROM NO OF SHAREHOLDERS 

240,000 240,000 235,001 1 
243,999 245,000 240,001 1 
250,000 250,000 245,001 1 
773,551 260,000 255,001 3 
265,410 270,000 265,001 1 
272,000 275,000 270,001 1 
278,834 280,000 275,001 1 
284,000 285,000 280,001 1 
288,000 290,000 285,001 1 
290,670 295,000 290,001 1 
898,189 300,000 295,001 3 
304,096 305,000 300,001 1 
623,229 315,000 310,001 2 
346,500 350,000 345,001 1 
400,000 400,000 395,001 1 
454,940 455,000 450,001 1 
477,685 480,000 475,001 1 
481,610 485,000 480,001 1 

2,498,700 500,000 495,001 5 
500,523 505,000 500,001 1 
528,000 530,000 525,001 1 
575,000 575,000 570,001 1 
643,839 645,000 640,001 1 
650,000 650,000 645,001 1 
680,000 680,000 675,001 1 
692,880 695,000 690,001 1 
707,000 710,000 705,001 1 
738,500 740,000 735,001 1 
745,000 745,000 740,001 1 
750,000 750,000 745,001 1 
775,000 775,000 770,001 1 
786,051 790,000 785,001 1 
826,546 830,000 825,001 1 
960,510 965,000 960,001 1 

1,209,254 1,210,000 1,205,001 1 
1,268,876 1,270,000 1,265,001 1 
1,433,579 1,435,000 1,430,001 1 
1,471,686 1,475,000 1,470,001 1 
1,701,249 1,705,000 1,700,001 1 
1,845,912 1,850,000 1,845,001 1 
1,944,775 1,945,000 1,940,001 1 
2,000,000 2,000,000 1,995,001 1 
2,400,000 2,400,000 2,395,001 1 
2,842,144 2,845,000 2,840,001 1 
3,108,181 3,110,000 3,105,001 1 
3,471,541 3,475,000 3,470,001 1 
4,892,481 4,895,000 4,890,001 1 
6,115,957 6,120,000 6,115,001 1 



Annual Report 2025 182

PATTERN OF SHAREHOLDING

NO. OF SHARESHOLDINGS 
TOTAL SHARES TO FROM NO OF SHAREHOLDERS 

8,305,507 8,310,000 8,305,001 1 
9,331,314 9,335,000 9,330,001 1 

10,839,856 10,840,000 10,835,001 1 
11,050,000 11,050,000 11,045,001 1 
16,074,505 16,075,000 16,070,001 1 
41,502,460 20,755,000 20,750,001 2 
22,117,519 22,120,000 22,115,001 1 
52,516,536 52,520,000 52,515,001 1 
58,177,795 58,180,000 58,175,001 1 

413,383,760 413,385,000 413,380,001 1 
740,059,458 7,010 

Shares heldNumberCategories of Shareholders

Associated Companies, Undertaking and Related 
Parties

413,383,7601Gul Ahmed Holdings (Private) Limited
22,117,5191Swisstex Chemicals (Private) Limited
58,177,7951Grand Industries (Private) Limited
16,074,5051Ghafooria Industries (Private) Limited

3,108,1811Trustee - Gul Ahmed Textile Mills Limited Employees Provident Fund Trust

NIT and ICP
1,3901IDBP (ICP Unit)
2,1751IDBP (ICP Unit)

21,4821CDC - Trust National Investment (Unit) Trust
10,839,8561CDC - Trustee National Investment (Unit) Trust

259,2001CDC - Trustee Nit-Equity Market Opportunity Fund

Mutual Funds
11,050,0001CDC - Trustee MCB Pakistan Stock Market Fund

185,0001CDC - Trustee Pakistan Capital Market Fund
1,944,7751CDC - Trustee Alhamra Islamic Stock Fund

225,5221CDC -Trustee Alhamra Islamic Asset Allocation Fund
6,115,9571CDC - Trustee NBP Stock Fund

141,6321CDC - Trustee NBP Balanced Fund
500,5231CDC - Trustee MCB Pakistan Asset Allocation Fund
298,1891CDC - Trustee Alfalah GHP Stock Fund
259,2001CDC - Trustee Nit-Equity Market Opportunity Fund
650,0001CDC - Trustee Al Habib Stock Fund
134,0861CDC - Trustee NBP Sarmaya Izafa Fund
257,5511CDC - Trustee Golden Arrow Stock Fund

29,8911CDC - Trustee Alfalah Consumer Index Exchange Traded Fund
123,9891CDC - Trustee Alfalah GHP Dedicated Equity Fund

Pattern of Shareholding
For the year ended June 30, 2025
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PATTERN OF SHAREHOLDING

Shares heldNumberCategories of Shareholders

6,178,32951                  Banks, NBFI, DFI And Investment Companies
10,031,5595Insurance Companies

4,969,68126Joint Stock Companies
901Modaraba Companies

54,451,7215Financial Institutions
642,9857Charitable Institutions
327,2914Government Departments

Directors 
4,892,5051Mohomed Bashir (Chairman)

20,751,2301Zain Bashir (Vice Chairman)
20,751,2301Mohammed Zaki Bashir (Chief Executive) 

8,305,5071Ziad Bashir
5,1841Ehsan A. Malik
3,6001Ms. Zeeba Ansar

41,4721Kamran Y. Mirza

Directors'/CEO's Spouse 
8,3591Tania Zain Bashir

83,9131Romina Rahim Mirza

Shareholders holding 5% or more Voting Interest
413,383,760 1Gul Ahmed Holdings (Private) Limited

58,177,795 1Grand Industries (Private) Limited

Details of trading in the shares by:
The following trading were carried out by the Director during the year under review:

DIRECTORS
Shares acquired as gift from family members8,297,148Ziad Bashir

Shares given as gift to family member.4,148,574Zain Bashir
Shares given as gift to family member.4,148,574Mohammed Zaki Bashir
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NOTICE OF ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING

Notice is hereby given that the 73rd Annual General Meeting of Gul Ahmed Textile Mills Limited will be held at
Moosa D. Dessai ICAP Auditorium, Institute of Chartered Accountants of Pakistan, G-31/8, Chartered
Accountants Avenue, Clifton, Karachi and also through video-link facility on Saturday, October 25, 2025 at 3:30
p.m. to transact the following businesses:

ORDINARY BUSINESS:

1. To receive, consider and approve the Audited Financial Statements for the year ended June 30, 2025
together with the Directors’ and Auditors’ Reports thereon.

Web Link: https://gulahmed.com/investor-relations/financial-information/

2. To appoint External Auditors of the Company for the ensuing year, and to fix their remuneration. The Board of
Directors, on the recommendation of Audit Committee of the Company, has proposed re-appointment of
M/S Yousuf Adil Chartered Accountants as external auditors for the year ending June 30, 2026.

SPECIAL BUSINESS:

3. To consider, and if deemed fit, to pass the following resolutions as Special Resolution:

“RESOLVED that

a. the transactions carried out in normal course of business with related parties as disclosed in Note 
No. 39 during the year ended June 30, 2025 be and are hereby ratified and approved,

b. the Board of Directors of the Company be and are hereby authorized to approve all the transactions 
carried out and to be carried out in normal course of business with related parties during the 
ensuing year ending June 30, 2026, and

c. these transactions by the Board of Directors of the Company shall be deemed to have been 
approved by the shareholders and shall be placed before the shareholders in the next Annual 
General Meeting for their formal ratification / approval.”

4. To transact with the permission of the Chair any other business which may be transacted at an Annual 
General Meeting.

As required under Section 223(6) of the Companies Act, 2017 (the “Act”), Financial Statements of the Company 
have been uploaded on the website of the Company, which can be downloaded from the following link and/or 
QR enabled code: 

The statement under Section 134(3) of the Companies Act, 2017 pertaining to the Special Resolutions is being 
sent along with the notice to the Members.

By Order of the Board

Salim Ghaffar
Company Secretary

Karachi
September 29, 2025
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ƀȆ اƆǉع ŅƩلاŶƔ͙ اƆƚ͜سِ ŅǙم 



1. Book Closure

The Share Transfer Books of the Company will remain closed from October 17, 2025 to October 25, 2025
(both days inclusive) when no transfer of shares will be accepted for registration. Transfers received in order
at the office of our Share Registrar M/s. FAMCO Share Registration Services (Private) Limited 8-F, Near Hotel
Faran, Nursery, Block-6, P.E.C.H.S., Shahra-e-Faisal, Karachi by the close of the business on October 16,
2025 will be in time for the purpose of attending Annual General Meeting.

2. Virtual Participation in the AGM Proceedings:

Shareholders interested in attending the AGM virtually are hereby advised to get themselves registered with
the Company by providing the following information via email at salim.ghaffar@gulahmed.com

Online meeting link and login credentials shall be shared with members who have submitted request via email
containing all the required particulars by the close of business on Thursday, October 23, 2025. The login
facility shall remain open from 3:00 p.m. till the start of the Meeting on October 25, 2025.

3. Requirements for appointing Proxies
a. A member entitled to attend and vote at the meeting may appoint another member as proxy to attend,

speak and vote instead of him/her. Proxies in order to be effective must be received at the Registered
Office of the Company duly signed not later than 48 hours before the meeting, excluding holidays. A
proxy must be a member of the Company.

b. The proxy form shall be witnessed by two persons whose names, addresses and CNIC numbers shall
be mentioned on the form.

c. Copies of CNIC or the valid passport of the beneficial owners and the proxy shall be furnished along
with the proxy form.

d. The proxy shall produce his original CNIC or original valid passport at the time of the Meeting.
e. In case of a corporate entity, the Board of Directors’ resolution / Power of Attorney with specimen

signature shall be submitted (unless it has been provided earlier).

4. Updation of shareholder addresses / other particulars

Members holding shares in physical form are requested to promptly notify Shares Registrar of the Company of
any change in their addresses or any other particulars. Shareholders maintaining their shares in electronic
form should have their address updated with their participant or CDC Investor Accounts Services.
Further, to comply with requirements of section 119 of the Companies Act, 2017 and Regulation 47 of the
Companies Regulations, 2024, all CDC and physical shareholders are requested to have their email address
and cell phone numbers incorporated / updated in their physical folio or CDC account.

5. Electronic dividend mandate
a. CNIC number of the shareholders is mandatorily required for dividend distribution and in the

absence of such information, payment of dividend shall be withheld in term of SECP’s order dated
June 3, 2016. Therefore, the shareholders who have not yet provided their CNICs are once again
advised to provide the attested copies of their CNICs directly to our Shares Registrar. The
shareholders while sending CNIC must quote their respective folio number and name of the
Company.
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Email AddressCell NumberCDC Participant ID / Folio No.CNIC No. / NTC No.Name of 
Member
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b. Under the provisions of Section 242 of the Companies Act, 2017 and the Companies (Distribution of
Dividends) Regulations, 2017, it is mandatory for a listed company to pay cash dividend to its
shareholders only through electronic mode directly into bank account designated by the entitled
shareholders. Shareholders who have not yet submitted their International Bank Account Number
(IBAN) are requested to fill in Electronic Credit Mandate Form available on Company’s website and
send it duly signed along with a copy of CNIC to the Registrar of the Company.

In case shares are held in CDC then Electronic Credit Mandate Form must be submitted directly to
shareholder’s broker/participant/CDC account services.

In the absence of a member’s valid IBAN and CNIC, the Company will be constrained to withhold payment
of dividend to such member.

6. Electronic Transmission Of Annual Reports and Notices

In compliance with section 223(6) of the Companies Act, 2017, and pursuant to the S.R.O. 389(I)/2023
dated March 21, 2023 the Company has electronically transmitted the Annual Report 2025, downloadable
through weblink, QR enabled code, through email to Members whose email addresses are available with
the Company’s Share Registrar. However, in cases, where email addresses are not available with the
Company’s Share Registrar, printed copies of the notices of AGM along-with the QR enabled code/weblink
to download the Annual Report 2025 (containing the financial statements), have been dispatched.

Notwithstanding the above, the Company will provide hard copies of the Annual Report 2025, to any
Member on their request, at their registered address.

7. Conversion of Physical Shares into CDC Account

As per Section 72 of the Companies Act, 2017 all existing companies are required to convert their physical
shares into book-entry form within a period not exceeding four years from the date of commencement of the
Companies Act, 2017.

The Securities and Exchange Commission of Pakistan through its circular # CSD/ED/Misc./2016-639-640
dated March 26, 2021 has advised the listed companies to pursue their members who still hold shares in
physical form, to convert their shares into book entry form.

We hereby request all members who are holding shares in physical form to convert their shares into book-
entry form at the earliest. They are also suggested to contact the Central Depository Company of Pakistan
Limited or any active member/stock broker of the Pakistan Stock Exchange to open an account in the
Central Depository System and to facilitate conversion of physical shares into book-entry form. Members
are informed that holding shares in book-entry form has several benefits including but not limited to secure
and convenient custody of shares, conveniently tradeable and transferable, No risk of loss, damage or
theft, no stamp duty on transfer of shares in book entry form and hassle-free credit of bonus or right shares.

We once again strongly advise members of the Company, in their best interest, to convert their physical
shares into book entry form at the earliest.
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8. Unclaimed Dividend / Shares under Section 244 of the Companies Act, 2017

The Company has sent notices to shareholders under Section 244 of the Companies Act, 2017 whereby
the Company approached the shareholders to claim their unclaimed dividends and undelivered share
certificates in accordance with the law.

An updated list for unclaimed dividend/shares of the Company, which have remained unclaimed or
unpaid for a period of three years from the date these have become due and payable, is available on the
Company’s website: https://gulahmed.com/list-of-unclaimed-shares-and-unpaid-cash-dividend/

Claims can be lodged by shareholders on Claim Form as is available on the Company’s website. Claim
Forms must be submitted to the Company’s Share Registrar for receipt of dividend/ shares.

9. E-Voting

In accordance with the Companies (Postal Ballot) Regulation, 2018, as amended, the right to vote 
through electronic voting facility will be provided by the Company in respect of the Special Business. 
Details of e-voting facility will be shared through e-mail with those shareholders of the Company who 
have their valid CNIC numbers, Cell Numbers and e-mail addresses available in the register of Members 
of the Company within due course. A shareholder may alternatively opt for voting through postal ballot 
which is being published with this notice and is also available on Company’s website.

9. Postal Ballot

Shareholders will be allowed to exercise their right to a poll in accordance with the requirements of 
Sections 143 to 145 of the Companies Act, 2017 and the Companies (Postal Ballot) Regulations, 2018.

10. Non-Resident Shareholders

Non-resident individual shareholders shall submit declaration or undertaking with copy of valid passport 
under definition contained in Section 82 of the Income Tax Ordinance, 2001 for determination of 
residential status for the purposes of tax deduction on dividend to the Shares Register of the Company or 
email at info.shares@famcosrs.com.pk at the latest by October 17, 2025. The copy of declaration form 
can be downloaded from Shares Registrar website: https://famcosrs.com.pk / share-registration-
services/.

Statement Under Section 134(3) of the Companies Act, 2017
Pertaining to Special Business

This Statement sets out the material facts pertaining to the Special Business Resolution described in the
Notice of Annual General Meeting (“AGM”), intended to be transacted at the 73rd AGM of Gul Ahmed Textile
Mills Limited (“the “Company”) that is scheduled to be held on October 25, 2025.

1. The Company carries out transactions with its associated companies and related parties in
accordance with its policies and applicable laws and regulations. Certain related party transactions
require Shareholder approval under Section 207 of the Companies Act, 2017 as a majority of directors
on the Gul Ahmed Textile Mills Limited Board are interested in the transaction by virtue of being
shareholders or directors in related entities.

The details of such transactions are as under:
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Transaction NatureBasis of RelationshipCompany NameS/No.

DividendHolding CompanyGul Ahmed Holdings (Private) Limited1.

Sale of goodsWholly owned subsidiaryIdeas (Private) Limited2.

Sale of goodsWholly owned subsidiaryGul Ahmed International Limited (FZC) – UAE3.

Sale of goods & Commission 
Paid

Wholly owned ultimate 
subsidiaryGTM Europe Limited – UK4.

Sale of goods & Commission 
Paid

Wholly owned ultimate 
subsidiaryGTM USA – Crop. – USA5.

Sale of goods & Commission 
Paid

Wholly owned ultimate 
subsidiarySky Home Crop. – USA6.

Sale of goods & Commission 
Paid

Wholly owned ultimate 
subsidiaryVantona Home Limited7.

Sale of goods & Commission 
Paid

Wholly owned ultimate 
subsidiaryJCCO 406 Limited – UK8.

Sale of goods & Purchase of 
Goods

Common directorship & 
shareholdingSwisstex Chemicals (Private) Limited9.

Banking Transactions
Common directorship & 

shareholdingHabib Metropolitan Bank Limited10.

Membership feesCommon DirectorshipPakistan Textile Council11.

Rent PaidCommon DirectorshipHaji AliMohammed Foundation.12.

Donations Paid Fees PaidCommon DirectorshipLandhi Association of Trade & Industry13.

Fees PaidCommon DirectorshipPakistan Business Council14.

Company’s contributions to 
Provident Fund and Bonus 

Shares Issued.
Common DirectorshipGul Ahmed Textile Mills Limited Employees

Provident Fund Trust15.

Rent Expenses and Bonus 
Shares IssuedCommon shareholdingGrand Industries (Private) Limited16.

Rent Expenses & Bonus 
Shares Issued

Common directorship & 
shareholdingGhafooria Industries (Private) Limited17.

Purchased of goods
Common directorship & 

shareholdingWin Star (Private) Limited.18.

Banking TransactionsCommon DirectorshipAskari Bank Limited19.

Banking TransactionsCommon DirectorshipSamba Bank Limited20.

Banking TransactionsCommon DirectorshipStandard Chartered Bank Pakistan Limited21.

Fee PaidCommon DirectorshipInternational Cotton Association.22.

Equity Investment
Wholly owned ultimate 

subsidiaryGul Ahmed Ecofab (Private) Limited23.

Equity Investment
Wholly owned ultimate 

subsidiaryGul Ahmed Ecotex (Private) Limited24.

Equity Investment
Wholly owned ultimate 

subsidiaryGul Ahmed Circular Fabrics (Private) Limited25..

Fee PaidCommon DirectorshipInternational Textile Manufactures Federation26.
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All related party transactions are in accordance with Company’s policies and comply with all legal
requirements. These are primarily transactions conducted in the ordinary course of business. Under the
Company’s Policy for Related Party Transactions all related party transactions are reviewed periodically by the
Board Audit Committee which is chaired by an Independent Director. Following review by the Board Audit
Committee, the said transactions are placed before the Board of Directors for approval.

The Shareholders are requested to ratify the transactions with related parties in which the majority of the
Directors are interested as disclosed in the Financial Statements for the year ended June 30, 2025 and further to
authorize the Company to conduct certain related party transactions in which the majority of Directors are
interested for the Financial Year ending

June 30, 2026. Shareholders’ approval is also sought to authorize and grant power to the Board to periodically
review and approve such transactions based on the recommendation of the Board Audit Committee.

Based on the aforesaid the Shareholders are requested to pass the Special Business Resolution as stated in the
Notice.

The Directors who are interested in this subject matter are as follows:

• Mr. Mohomed Bashir
• Mr. Mohammed Zaki Bashir
• Mr. Zain Bashir
• Mr. Ziad Bashir 
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PROXY FORM

I/We_____________________________________________________________________________________________________

of _______________________________________________________________________________________________________

being a member of Gul Ahmed Textile Mills Limited and holder of _____________________________________________

Ordinary Shares hereby appoint____________________________________________________________________________

of _______________________________________________________________________________________________________

or failing him/her _________________________________________________________________________________________

of ______________________________________________________________another member of the Company, as

my/our proxy in my/our absence to attend and vote for me/us and on my/our behalf at the 73rd Annual General

Meeting of the Company to be held on October 25, 2025 or at any adjournment thereof.

Signed by me this _________ day of ________ 2025Witness1)

Name

SignedAddress

CNIC No.

Affix Revenue

Stamp Rs.5.00

Witness2)

Folio No./CDC Account No.Name

Address

CNIC No.

A member entitled to vote at the meeting may appoint a proxy. Proxies in order to be effective, must be
received at the Registered Office of the Company duly stamped and signed not later than 48 hours before
the meeting.

1.

Proxies granted by shareholders who have deposited their shares into Central Depository Company of
Pakistan Limited must be accompanied with attested copies of the Computerized National Identity Card
(CNIC) or the Passport of the beneficial owners. Representatives of corporate members should bring the
usual documents required for such purpose. A proxy must be a member of the Company.

2.

If member appoints more than one proxy and more than one instruments of proxy are deposited by a
member with the Company, all such instruments of proxy shall be rendered invalid.

If the member is a corporate entity its common seal should be affixed to the proxy.

3.

4.

In case of CDC Account Holders, attested copies of CNIC or the Passport of the beneficial owners and
the proxy shall be furnished with the proxy form.

5.

Notes:
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